



Swansea University E-Theses

Design and Scaling of Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET by 3-D TCAD Simulations

Adenekan, Olujide A.

How to cite:

Adenekan, Olujide A. (2019) *Design and Scaling of Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET by 3-D TCAD Simulations.* Doctoral thesis, Swansea University. http://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa50915

Use policy:

This item is brought to you by Swansea University. Any person downloading material is agreeing to abide by the terms of the repository licence: copies of full text items may be used or reproduced in any format or medium, without prior permission for personal research or study, educational or non-commercial purposes only. The copyright for any work remains with the original author unless otherwise specified. The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder. Permission for multiple reproductions should be obtained from the original author.

Authors are personally responsible for adhering to copyright and publisher restrictions when uploading content to the repository.

Please link to the metadata record in the Swansea University repository, Cronfa (link given in the citation reference above.)

http://www.swansea.ac.uk/library/researchsupport/ris-support/



Design and Scaling of Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET by 3-D TCAD Simulations

Olujide Adeyinka Adenekan Submitted to Swansea University in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Swansea University April 2019

Declaration of authorship

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signed (candidate) Date

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Where correction services have been used, the extent and nature of the correction is clearly marked in a footnote(s).

Other sources are acknowledged by footnotes giving explicit references. A bibliography is appended.

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed(candidate) Date

Abstract

A design, optimisation, and scaling of a complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor CMOS-compatible lateral super-junction (SJ) multi-gate (MG) MOSFET

(SJ-MGFET) based on silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology is examined as a preferred solution in mitigating the predominance of channel resistance during operation at a low voltage. In order to overcome the preponderance of the channel resistance, the SJ-MGFET uses a non-planar 3-D embedded trench gate and a folded alternating U-shaped n/p- SJ drift region pillar. The trench gate will redistribute electron current crowding near the top surface of the n- pillar reducing the channel resistance. The folded U-shaped n/p- pillar uniformly distributes the electric field in the SJ drift region.

The variations in the device architecture of a 1 μ m gate length lateral super-junction (SJ) multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) are explored using the physically based commercial 3-D TCAD device simulations by Silvaco. Investigation and analysis of different carrier transport models are carried out with different doping profiles by calibrating the drift-diffusion simulations to experimental I-V characteristics and breakdown voltage of the SJ-MGFET. The study, then aimed to improve drive current, breakdown voltage (BV), and specific on-resistance ($R_{on,sp}$). The effect of charge imbalance in the SJ pillar unit on the device breakdown voltage is studied with variations in the drift region length. It is observed that the charge imbalance in the SJ unit barely changes due to the fixed ratio between the pillar width and the pillar height.

It has been reported that the simulated and optimised SJ-MGFET device achieves 41% increase in the drive current with an on-off ratio of 5×10^6 at a drain voltage of 10 V and a gate voltage of 20 V, thereby demonstrating a big advantage of the multi-gate device design to reduce the leakage current. The results have shown that the optimised 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET device offers a specific on-resistance of 0.21 $m\Omega$.cm² and a breakdown voltage of 65 V with a trench-gate depth of 2.7 μ m, a pillar height of 3.6 μ m and a drift region length of 3.5 μ m. In addition, it achieves 68%, 52% and 15% reduction in the specific on-resistance compared to the reported fabricated SJ-LDMOSFET, fabricated SJ-FinFET and simulated SJ-FinFET at the same *BV* rating, thereby capable of offering a better performance in terms of a high drive current, a maximum breakdown voltage, a minimum specific on-resistance, and excellent FoM for sub - 100 V rating applications.

Furthermore, the potentiality of scaling the device architecture of the optimised SJ-MGFET is examined from the 1 μ m gate length to 0.5 μ m, and 0.25 μ m, respectively. Different scaling approaches is carefully explored in all dimensions of the 3-D device structure in the simulations. The scaling down of the 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET structure laterally (along the *y*-axis) by scaling the channel length, the gate length, the gate oxide thickness, and the SJ drift unit length by a factor *S* to shrink the gate length of 1.0 μ m to 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m is examined in the simulations in this thesis. In order to prevent a weak electrostatic integrity in the scaled 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m gate lengths (L_{gate}) SJ-MGFETs, the doping profile is optimised aiming at achieving a maximum drive current, a minimum leakage current, a high switching capability, a low specific on-resistance, and an improve avalanche capabilities of the devices. The scaled and optimised SJ-MGFETs with a gate length of 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m achieve 30% and 63% increase in the drive current in comparison with the 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET at a drain voltage of 0.1 V and a gate voltage of 15 V. Additionally, the

scaled SJ-MGFETs offer a transconductance (g_m) of 20 mS/mm and 56 mS/mm at a drain voltage of 0.1 V with a gate length of 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m, respectively. The SJ-MGFETs with a gate length of 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m having a pillar of a width of 0.3 μ m and a trench depth of 2.7 μ m, achieve a low specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ of 7.68 $m\Omega.mm^2$ and 2.24 $m\Omega.mm^2$ ($V_{\rm GS} = 10 V$) and breakdown voltage (BV) of 48 V and 26 V, respectively.

Finally, the lateral scaling and optimisation of the 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET to gate lengths of 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m using Silvaco Technology Computer Aided Design (TCAD) simulations has shown that the FoM of the non-planar transistor can be greatly improved in terms of switching speed, drive current, breakdown voltage, specific on-resistance, and physical density for a higher integration in a CMOS architecture.

Acknowledgements

Bless the Lord, O my soul: and all that is within me, bless his holy name. I give all glory to the Almighty God for the successful completion of the research programme, without HIM I am nothing.

Many thanks to my supervisor, Prof. Karol Kalna for his valuable guidance and support throughout my research programme at Swansea University. Also, I would like to thank my second supervisor, Dr. Paul M. Holland, for his support and insightful discussions all through the research work.

I thank my colleagues, most especially John Macaulay and members of the research group for making the research experience interesting and educative.

Many thanks to the Federal Government of Nigeria and the Management of Moshood Abiola Polytechnic, Abeokuta for the opportunity availed me to undergo my research programme in Swansea University, UK.

I thank especially Samson and Taiwo Folorunso, Waliu Okunade, Abiodun Olubanjo, Simeon Afonja, Gbekeleoluwa, auntie Bimple, auntie Iyabo, Taiwo and Tobi Okeneye; for all the support they have given to me throughout my period of studying in UK. I thank all my friends and siblings for your pleasant and encouraging words in the course of the research.

I am very thankful to Akeem and Sola Durotoye, for your extremely support both morally and financially.

My thanks also go to my parents, and my in-laws who supported me morally and spiritually. To my Kids, a big thank you for your sacrifices without complaint and keeping the flags flying while I pursued further education.

Last of all, I would like to thank my wife, Oyeyinka, she has always been a blessing and a strong pillar of support. Many thanks for the words of courage during those hard moments of the research work; most importantly you freed me from family responsibilities so that I can achieve my desire goal. To my wife and my jewel of inestimable value, Oyeyinka and my lovely kids, Oluwadarasimi, Oluwadamisi and Oluwadabira.

List of contributions

Journal publications

Olujide A. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna, "Scaling and Optimisation of Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET for High Drive Current and Low Specific On-Resistance in Sub - 50 V Applications," to be published in Microelectron. *Reliab.*, 2019. (Accepted).

Olujide A. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna, "Optimisation of Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET for High Drive Current and Low Specific On-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Applications," *Microelectronics Journal*, vol. 81, pp. 94-100, 2018.

Conference proceedings

O. A. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna, "Optimisation of the Breakdown Voltage of a Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate Power MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for Sub - 200 V Applications," *UK Semiconductors*, 12th-13th July, 2017 (Talk) 1 page paper in the Conference proceeding.

O. A. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna, "Scaling and Optimisation of a 3-D Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate Power MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for sub - 100 V Applications," *UK Semiconductors*, 4th-5th July, 2018 (Talk) 1 page paper in the Conference proceeding.

O. A. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna, "Modelling a of Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate Power MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for Sub - 200 V Applications," *Sys*tems Process and Engineering Centre (SPEC), 28th July 2016 (Poster).

O. A. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna, "A Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate Power MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for Sub - 200 V Applications," *Zienkeiwicz Centre* for Computational Engineering, 1st-2nd February 2017 (Poster).

O. A. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna, "Optimisation of Breakdown Voltage of a Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate Power MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for Sub - 200 V Applications," *Zienkeiwicz Centre for Computational Engineering*, 24th-25th January 2018 (Poster).

Contents

Co	onter	nts	ix
1	In 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5	troduction Background Aim and Objectives Original Contributions Outline References	1 1 4 5 5 7
2	Fu	indamentals of Power MOSFETs	10
4	21	Introduction	10
	$\frac{2.1}{2.2}$	Principles of MOSFET	11
		2.2.1 Equivalent Circuit of an n-channel MOSFET	14
	2.3	Theory of Device Breakdown	15
	-	2.3.1 Avalanche Breakdown	16
		2.3.2 Punch-Through Breakdown	18
	2.4	Classification of Power MOSFETs	19
		2.4.1 Vertical Power MOSFETs	20
		2.4.1.1 V-MOSFET	20
		2.4.1.2 D-MOSFET	21
		2.4.1.3 U-MOSFET	22
		2.4.2 Lateral Power MOSFETs	23
		2.4.2.1 Lateral Double Diffused MOSFETs (LDMOSFETs).	23
	~ ~	2.4.2.2 RESURF (Reduced Surface Field) LDMOSFET	25
	2.5	Fundamentals of Super-Junction (SJ) Power MOSFETs	30
		2.5.1 Vertical Super-Junction (SJ) Power MOSFETs	31
		2.5.2 Lateral Super-Junction (SJ) Power MOSFETS	33
		2.5.2.1 Buffered SJ-LDMOSFET	35 26
		2.5.2.2 Sincon on Insulator (SOI) SJ-LDMOSFET	30 97
		2.5.2.5 Fartial Sincon on Insulator (FSOI) SJ-LDMOSFET . 2.5.2.4 Silicon on Sapphire (SOS) SLLDMOSFET	२१ २८
		2.5.2.4 Shieon on Sappine (SOS) 55-DDMOSPET	30
	2.6	Trade-Off Between Breakdown Voltage and Specific On-Besistance	<u>41</u>
	2.0 2.7	Trench Gate Power MOSFET	42
		2.7.1 Trench Gate Lateral Super-Junction (SJ)	
		Power MOSFETs	42
	2.8	References	44
	C :	man lation Mathedale	
3	31	mulation Methodology	53
	3.1	Introduction	53

	3.2	Basic Semiconductor Equations		•	54
		3.2.1 Gauss's Law			54
		3.2.2 Poisson's Equation			54
		3.2.3 Continuity Equation			55
	3.3	Drift-Diffusion Transport Model for			
		Device 3-D			56
	3.4	Silvaco Technology Computer Aided Design			57
		3.4.1 Meshing			58
		3.4.1.1 Defining a 3-D Structure in Rectangular and			
		Cylindrical Parameters			59
		3.4.2 Material and Model Specifications for 3-D Structure			60
		3.4.3 Numerical Methods for Device 3-D Simulation			60
		3.4.3.1 DC and Transient Solutions			61
		3.4.3.2 Small-Signal AC Solution			62
		3.4.3.3 Numerical Methods for SOI	•	•	62
		3.4.4 Reading Results from 3-D Device Simulation			62
	3.5	Breakdown Simulation in 3-D Device			63
	3.6	Electro-Thermal Modelling in 3-D Device			63
	3.7	Calibrating SJ-MGFET Models	•	•	64
		3.7.1 Modelling a 2-D Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) LDMOS	•		64
		3.7.2 3-D Device Simulations of the SJ-MGFET	•		68
		3.7.3 Simulation Flowchart for Modelling of the SJ-MGFET	•	•	69
		Conclusion			72
	3.8		•	•	15
	$\begin{array}{c} 3.8\\ 3.9\end{array}$	References	•	•	73 74
1	3.8 3.9	References			73 74
4	3.8 3.9 O]	ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti	0 6	'n	73 74
4	3.8 3.9 O] M	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f	o fc	n n	74
4	3.8 3.9 O] M Hi	ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specific	o fc c	n n	74
4	3.8 3.9 O] M H i	ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti Julti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specifie n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli	0 fc c	n Pr	74
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op	ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti Julti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specifie n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions	0 fc c	n n	74
4	3.8 3.9 O] M Hi O 1 cat	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti fulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specifie n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions	0 fc c -	n r	73 74 76
4	3.8 3.9 O J M Hi OI ca 4.1	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specific n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions	0 fc c	n pr	73 74 76 76
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.2	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti fulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specifie n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET	0 fc c) n) r	73 74 76 76 78
4	3.8 3.9 O J M H i O J C a 4.1 4.2 4.3	References	fc c) n) r	76 76 76 78 80
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specifie n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET 4.3.1 On-State Simulations	fc c	• n • n • •	76 76 76 78 80 81
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3	References		• n • n	74 74 76 76 76 78 80 81 84
4	3.8 3.9 O J M H i O J Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3	References		• n •r	74 76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specifie n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET 4.3.1 On-State Simulations 4.3.2 Electro-Thermal Modelling On-State Simulations For Different SJ Drift Region Lengths		•n •n • •	74 76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87
4	3.8 3.9 O M H i O i C a 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	References		• n • r • • • •	74 76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specifie n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET 4.3.1 On-State Simulations 4.3.2 Electro-Thermal Modelling 4.3.3 Off-State Simulations On-State Simulations For Different SJ Drift Region Lengths Electric Field Distribution 4.5.1 Potential Distribution			76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89 90
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Junction ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for the second		• n • n	74 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89 90
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi On Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Junction ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for the second structure of structure o			76 76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89 90 91
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specifie n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET 4.3.1 On-State Simulations 4.3.2 Electro-Thermal Modelling 4.3.3 Off-State Simulations On-State Simulations For Different SJ Drift Region Lengths Electric Field Distribution 4.5.1 Potential Distribution Gate Capacitance and Conductance Extractions Using AC Analysis Transient Simulation of SJ-MGFET as a Switch			74 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89 90 91 93
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specified n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET 4.3.1 On-State Simulations 4.3.2 Electro-Thermal Modelling 4.3.3 Off-State Simulations On-State Simulations For Different SJ Drift Region Lengths Electric Field Distribution 4.5.1 Potential Distribution Gate Capacitance and Conductance Extractions Using AC Analysis Transient Simulation of SJ-MGFET as a Switch SLMCFET			76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89 90 91 93 93
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi Op Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specified n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET 4.3.1 On-State Simulations 4.3.2 Electro-Thermal Modelling 4.3.3 Off-State Simulations On-State Simulations For Different SJ Drift Region Lengths Electric Field Distribution 4.5.1 Potential Distribution Gate Capacitance and Conductance Extractions Using AC Analysis Transient Simulation of SJ-MGFET as a Switch Specific On-Resistance of the Optimised SJ-MGFET			76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89 90 91 93 95
4	3.8 3.9 OIMHiOICa 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specified n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET 4.3.1 On-State Simulations 4.3.2 Electro-Thermal Modelling 4.3.3 Off-State Simulations On-State Simulations For Different SJ Drift Region Lengths Electric Field Distribution 4.5.1 Potential Distribution Gate Capacitance and Conductance Extractions Using AC Analysis Transient Simulation of SJ-MGFET as a Switch Specific On-Resistance of the Optimised SJ-MGFET Trade-Off Between the Specific On-Resistance and the Breakdow Voltage			76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89 90 91 93 95 96
4	3.8 3.9 Op M Hi On Ca 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 4.10	References ptimisation of Lateral Super-Juncti ulti-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) f igh Drive Current and Low Specified n-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Appli tions Chapter Summary and Original Contributions Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET 4.3.1 On-State Simulations 4.3.2 Electro-Thermal Modelling 4.3.3 Off-State Simulations On-State Simulations For Different SJ Drift Region Lengths Electric Field Distribution 4.5.1 Potential Distribution Gate Capacitance and Conductance Extractions Using AC Analysis Transient Simulation of SJ-MGFET as a Switch Specific On-Resistance of the Optimised SJ-MGFET Trade-Off Between the Specific On-Resistance and the Breakdow Voltage Conclusion			76 76 76 78 80 81 84 86 87 89 90 91 93 95 95 96 97

	4.11	References	3
5	Sc Su for cif	aling and Optimisation of Lateral per-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET High Drive Current and Low Spe- c On-Resistance in Sub – 50 V Ap-	
	pli	cations 101	L
	5.1	Chapter Summary and Original Contributions	Ĺ
	5.2	Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET	3
	5.3	3-D TCAD Simulations of SJ-MGFET	3
	- ,	5.3.1 Device Simulations of the 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET 108	3
	5.4	Scaling Approach and Optimisation of the	
		Scaled down SJ-MGFEIS)
		5.4.1 On-State Simulations of the 0.5 μ m gate length SI MCEFT 11(h
		54.2 Off-State Simulations of the 0.5 µm gate length	,
		SI-MGFET 111	1
		5.4.3 On-State Simulations of the 0.25 μ m gate length	L
		SJ-MGFET	2
		5.4.4 Off-State Simulations of the 0.25 μ m gate length	
		SJ-MGFET	1
	5.5	Electric Field Distribution	5
	5.6	Gate Capacitance Extractions Using	
		AC Analysis	7
	5.7	Bias Dependence of the Capacitance	3
	5.8	Dependence of the Transconductance on the Gate Voltage 119)
	5.9	Transient Simulation of the Scaled SJ-MGFET's	
	F 10	tunctioning as a Switch	L
	5.10	Veltage Off Between the Specific On-Resistance and the Breakdown)
	5 11	Voltage	ړ ۲
	5 19	References 12d	, 1
	~	•	
6	Co	nclusions 127	7

List of Figures

1.1	Super-junction power MOSFET market forecast (M\$) and the annual growth rate from 2010 to 2018	2
1.2	The ideal silicon limit against the specific on-resistance of super- junction devices using the multi-epitaxy method, the deep-trench pro- cess, and some commercial (CoolMOS) products using multi-epitaxy method including the first generation (CoolMOS) A1 and the latest	2
	generation (CoolMOS) A2	3
2.1	Schematic cross section of n -channel MOSFET	11
2.2 2.3	Equivalent circuit of <i>n</i> -channel MOSFET and its parasitic capacitances. Current and hole components through the space charge region during	14
2.4	avalanche multiplication	16
	stands for highly doped p -type and n -type regions, respectively	18
2.5	Types of power semiconductor transistors	19
2.6	Cross-section of a V-groove MOSFET structure	21
2.7	Cross-section of a D-MOSFET structure	22
2.8	Cross-section of a U-MOSFET structure	22
2.9	Cross-section of a LDMOSFET structure having a gate length of L_g	
2.10	with a width of W_g A single RESURF LDMOSFET architecture having a drift region of n , layer with a thickness of t , at a full depletion with the field	24
	n_{epi} layer with a thickness of r_{epi} , at a run depiction with the field	26
2.11	(a) Schematic cross-section of a double BESUBE structure consisting	20
2.11	of a P_{ton} layer of t_{ton} thickness having a doping concentration of n_{P}	
	implanted at the top of the <i>n</i> -drift region with a distance of x_{dn4}	
	between the P_{ton}/n -drift junction, (b) field distribution in a double	
	RESURF structure assuming a full depletion in the n -drift region	
	with a distance of y_{dn2} between the p-body/n-drift junction and a	
	distance of x_{dn3} between the <i>n</i> -drift/ <i>p</i> -substrate junction	28
2.12	(a) Schematic cross-section of a triple RESURF structure having a	
	buried p -layer implanted inside the n -drift region, with an expanded	
	depletion regions of x_{dn4} at the bottom and x_{dn5} at the top, (b) ver-	
	tical field distribution at midpoint of L_{drift} at a full depletion in the	
	<i>n</i> -drift region with a distance of x_{dn3} between the <i>n</i> -drift/ <i>p</i> -substrate	
	junction	29
2.13	Cross-section of a super-junction diode layer	30
2.14	Cross section of a vertical SJ-MOSFET structure	32
2.15	$3\text{-}\mathrm{D}$ geometry of a Junction Isolated (JI) SJ-LDMOSFET structure	34
2.16	3-D geometry of a buffered SJ-LDMOSFET structure	35

2.17 2.18 2.19 2.20 2.21	 3-D geometry of a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) SJ-LDMOSFET 3-D geometry of a partial silicon-on-insulator (PSOI) SJ-LDMOSFET. 3-D geometry of a silicon-on-sapphire (SOS) SJ-LDMOSFET 3-D geometry of a super-junction (SJ) RESURF LDMOSFET Specific on-resistance as a function of the breakdown voltage for different power MOSFETs technologies (simulated and fabricated) [89–98]. The theoretical limit given by a bulk silicon is also shown for comparison	36 38 39 40 41
3.1	3-D geometry of the investigated $1\mu m$ gate length SJ-MGFET having	50
3.2 3.3	Atlas command groups with the primary statements. \dots	59 64
3.4	off-state	67
~ ~	2.7 μm , and $W = 200 \ \mu m$.	69
3.5	A Flowchart for the Device Simulation of the SJ-MGFET	72
3.6	Net doping concentration (cm^{-3}) profile of the device structure	73
4.1	3-D geometry of the investigated 1 μm gate length SJ-MGFET having a width of 200 μm and a drift length of 3.5 μm .	78
4.2	A 2-D cross-sectional views at the locations indicated by X - X' (X=A, $P_{A} = 0$ and P_{A}) in the investigated 1 we get least $P_{A} = 0$ (X=A)	70
4.3	B, C and D) in the investigated 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFE1 (a) Transfer ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$) characteristics of the simulated SJ-MGFET with a trench depth ($W_{\rm side}$) of 2.7 μ m and a gate oxide thickness (t_{ox}) of 35 nm in comparison with experiment data at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 V$. (b) Output ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$) characteristics of the SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm drift} =$ 3.5 μ m, $W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \ \mu$ m, and $W = 200 \ \mu$ m at indicated gate voltages	79
4.4	in a step of 2.0 V	82
4.5	of 35 nm	83
4.6	heating is excluded and included	84
4.7	with and without the thermal window for $L_{drift} = 3.5 \ \mu m$, $W_{side} = 2.7 \ \mu m$, and $W = 200 \ \mu m$ at $V_{GS} = 10 \ V$ and $V_{DS} = 50 \ V$ The effect of charge imbalance on the BV in SJ-MGFET with $W_{side} = 2.7 \ \mu m$ and $W_n = W_p = 0.3 \ \mu m$, comparing two device widths of	85
	$L_{\text{drift}} = 3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$ and 6.0 μm during off-state.	87

4.8	Output $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm DS})$ characteristics of the SJ-MGFET at different gate voltages for various SJ drift region lengths of 2.5 μ m, 4.75 μ m, 6.0 μ m	
4.9	and 7.5 μ m	. 88
	under a charge balance condition with $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \mu\text{m}, L_{drift} = 3.5 \mu\text{m},$ and $d_{\text{n-pillar}} = 3.6 \mu\text{m}.$. 89
4.10	Potential distribution profile along the A-A' cut-line in the off-state under a charge balance for the SJ-MGFET with L_{drift} of 3.5 μ m, W_n	0.0
4.11	= $W_p = 0.3 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu\text{m}$. 90
	at small signal A.C analysis of 1 MHz	. 92
4.12	SJ-MGFET functioning as a switch.	. 93
4.13	Switching waveforms of the SJ-MGFET turn-on simulation as a switch when the device is ramped from the cut-off region into saturation re-	
	gion against time (s) in a (a) linear scale (b) log. scale	. 94
4.14	$R_{on,sp}$ profiles along the A-A' cut-line in the on-state for the SJ- MGFET with L_{drift} of 3.5 μ m, $W_n = W_p = 0.3 \ \mu$ m, and $W_{side} =$	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
4.15	Specific on-resistance as a function of the breakdown voltage of the optimised SJ-MGFET at drift lenghts of 2.5 μ m, 3.5 μ m, 4.75 μ m, 6.0 μ m and 7.5 μ m are compared with the reported conventional	. 95
	LDMOSFETs [21, 22] and conventional SJ-LDMOSFETs [23–26].	. 96
$5.1 \\ 5.2$	3-D geometry of the investigated 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET Cross-sectional views at the indicated locations in the investigated 1 μ m gate length SL-MGFET and a pictorial view of the proposed	. 104
53	$0.5 \ \mu \text{m}$ and $0.25 \ \mu \text{m}$ gate length SJ-MGFETs	. 105
0.0	MGFET showing a comparison between the experiment [8] and the simulations at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 V$ with $L_{\rm gate} = 1.0 \ \mu {\rm m}$, $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5 \ \mu {\rm m}$, $W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \ \mu {\rm m}$, and $W = 200 \ \mu {\rm m}$. (b) The effect of charge imbalance on the BV in the SI-MGFET with $W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \ \mu {\rm m}$ decreases and $V_{\rm DS} = 3.5 \ \mu {\rm m}$ and	
	$W_n = W_n = 0.3 \ \mu \text{m}$ during the off-state	. 109
5.4	(a) Transfer $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics of the optimised 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 V$ with $L_{\rm drift} = 1.75 \ \mu$ m and trench	
	depth (W_{side}) of 2.7 μ m. (b) Output (I_{D} - V_{DS}) characteristics of the 0.5 μ m L_{gate} SJ-MGFET with $L_{\text{drift}} = 1.75 \ \mu$ m, $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu$ m, and	
F F	$W = 2.46 \ \mu \text{m}$ at indicated gate voltages in a step of 2.0 V	. 110
0.5	(a) The effect of charge imbalance on BV in the SJ-MGFET scaled down to 0.5 µm $L_{\rm eff}$ with $W_{\rm eff} = 2.7$ µm $L_{\rm eff} = 1.75$ µm and $W_{\rm eff}$	
	$W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \ \mu {\rm m}, \ L_{\rm drift} = 1.75 \ \mu {\rm m} \ {\rm and} \ W_n$ = $W_{\rm side} = 0.3 \ \mu {\rm m} \ {\rm during the off-state}$ (b) The <i>BV</i> during off state	
	under a charge balance condition for the SJ-MGFET scaled down to	
	$L_{\text{gate}} = 0.5 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $L_{\text{ch}} = 0.25 \ \mu\text{m}$.	. 112

List of Tables

3.1 The Physical Parameters for Device Simulations of the SJ-MGFET. . 70

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background

The super-junction (SJ) power MOSFET as one of the most ubiquitous semiconductor devices has been able to overcome the limit set by a bulk unipolar silicon technology. The SJ device overcomes this limit by using alternating heavily doped n- and p- pillars in the drift region thereby achieving a low specific on-resistance [1] with a reduction in gate and output charge for effective switching at any range of frequencies [2]. Additionally, the manufacturing of SJ MOSFETs is less costly compared to wide-band-gap switching devices (SiC or GaN) [3]. The first commercial power MOSFET based on the SJ concept were the CoolMOS [4, 5], and the MDmesh [6] announced by Infineon and STMicroelectronics, respectively. Currently, various architectures with different novelty in design have been proposed in great numbers of publications, and literatures on the SJ devices [7–18]. The SJ power MOSFET market has shown tremendous progress in the last decade due to wide popularity of the MOSFET in various applications such as a power supply, display devices and in renewable energy systems. The SJ global market has reached a benchmark of about U.S. \$1 billion value in 2018, with annual growth rate of 10.3 percent per year as shown in the Fig. 1.1 [19]. The high-rise in the market forecast is a result of the technological innovations in fabrication and packaging techniques. Different approaches have been used in a fabrication of the SJ MOSFET: (i) Infineon technology employs multi-epitaxy doping process to creates an island of ions in the epi-layer which diffuses into n-doped pillar layer; (ii) Toshiba and IceMOS Technologies use, and Fairchild Semiconductor used, a deep-trench process that utilises



Figure 1.1: Super-junction power MOSFET market forecast (M\$) and the annual growth rate from 2010 to 2018.

reactive ion etching of a semiconductor layer, such that the trenches are filled with the *n*-type doping. The pursuit of achieving a lower specific on-resistance and an improved avalanche capability in a SJ device has led to a great technological competition between multi-epitaxy and deep trench processes. The multi-epitaxy process requires repetitive masking, epitaxy growth, and implantation procedures to realise the p/n columns particularly when the column is long leading to a higher cost and fabrication complexity [20]. In addition, the shifting of the p/n columns during thermal diffusion causes dopant inter-diffusion between the columns to become a non-abrupt transition junction, and thereby lowering the effective impurity concentration, which inevitably affects the trade-off between the breakdown voltage and the specific on-resistance of the structure [21]. The improvement in the SJ MOS-FET packaging technologies like power flat and power module is achieving a smaller form factor with a better electrical and thermal performances [22]. This has further increased the demands for the SJ devices in many applications such as renewable energy sources, electric vehicles, and hybrid electric vehicles where space-factor is an hindrance.



Figure 1.2: The ideal silicon limit against the specific on-resistance of super-junction devices using the multi-epitaxy method, the deep-trench process, and some commercial (CoolMOS) products using multi-epitaxy method including the first generation (CoolMOS) A1 and the latest generation (CoolMOS) A2.

The ideal silicon limit against the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ of SJ devices using the multi-epitaxy process [23], the deep-trench process [12, 24–27] and some commercial multi-epitaxy devices (CoolMOS) manufactured by the Infineon is shown in Fig. 1.2 [28]. Fig. 1.2 also shows that the specific on-resistance has been reduced by approximately 80% from the first generation of CoolMOS (A1 with $R_{on,sp}$ of $38.5 \ m\Omega.cm^2$) [4] to the latest generation of CoolMOS (A2 with $R_{on,sp}$ of $8 \ m\Omega.cm^2$) [29]. The SJ device offers a linear relationship between the breakdown voltage and the specific on-resistance [1], thereby enhancing a low on-resistance, an increase in current density and a high breakdown voltage compared to a conventional MOSFET with the same silicon area. The SJ device has also a lower junction capacitances due to the non-linearity of the output and reverse capacitances. As a result of the n/p pillars deplete each other at a given voltage, thereby leading to expansion of the space charge depletion region in the structure. Therefore, with the capacity of having smaller junction capacitances, the SJ device is more desirable for high switching applications compared to conventional transistors [30]. In addition, the SJ MOSFET is more reliable and more prone to stress in term of the dynamic analysis of the temperature distribution over the metal source surface compared to conventional MOSFETs [31].

1.2 Aim and Objectives

The aim of this work is to design, optimise and scale a lateral SJ multi-gate (MG) MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for low voltage applications. The work is divided into three main tasks: The first task involves the calibration of the 1 μm gate length SJ-MGFET to experimental characteristics of non-planar lateral SJ multi-gate MOS-FET (SJ-MGFET) fabricated within a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology [32] by reproducing its transfer ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$) characteristics and the breakdown voltage (BV) using a drift-diffusion (DD) transport approach in the simulations. The objectives of this study include:

- (a) to analyse iteratively different carrier transport models along with different doping profiles using the 3-D Atlas simulations [33, 34];
- (b) to demonstrate the dependence of breakdown voltage on charge imbalance in SJ drift region in the device during off-state;

The second task examines the optimisation of the device structure under charge imbalance. Therefore, the objectives of this task include:

- (a) to predict improvement in the device performance such as drive current, gate capacitance and conductance;
- (b) to study the effects of self-heating and bias dependence in the device structure;
- (c) to improve the trade-off between the breakdown voltage (BV) and the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ in the device;

The third task involves scaling of the device laterally by a factor of 0.5 and 0.25 aiming to improve the levels of integration in a CMOS architecture. The objectives are as follows:

- (a) to scale the optimised SJ-MGFET architecture laterally from 1 μm gate length to 0.5 μm , and 0.25 μm , respectively;
- (b) to optimise the scaled devices aiming at improving the physical density, switching speed and drive current;
- (c) to explore the possible ways of improving voltage-sustaining capability of the scaled devices;
- (c) to improve the trade-off between the breakdown voltage (BV) and the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ in the scaled and optimised devices;

1.3 Original Contributions

This work has helped to progress the understanding of the design and the scaling of the lateral SJ multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for low voltage applications. The key contributions are listed below:

- (i) 3-D Atlas simulations to investigate variations in the device architecture and improve device performance by optimising doping profile in order to achieve a large on-current density and a low off-current in the device.
- (ii) An improvement in figures-of-merit (FoM) between the breakdown voltage (BV) and the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ in the optimised SJ-MGFET.
- (iii) Scaling of the device design aiming at achieving a high drive current and an increase in the switching capability in the device for a higher level of integration in a CMOS architecture.
- (iv) An improvement in figures-of-merit (FoM) between the breakdown voltage and the specific on-resistance in the scaled and optimised SJ-MGFETs.

1.4 Outline

This thesis is organised as follows:

Chapter 2 describes the theory, basic operation of a MOSFET device, and its equivalent circuit. This will be followed by theory of breakdown phenomenon in power devices. A discussion of the state of the art of power semiconductor devices, the device physics and a review of the current developments in vertical and lateral power semiconductor technologies. In addition, it also discusses the SJ concepts, reported literatures and structures using SJ concepts and their challenges. Finally, it describes the trade-off between the breakdown voltage (BV) and the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ in a power device, and the theory of a trench gate power MOSFET.

In Chapter 3, the simulation methodology is presented. This chapter will introduce the physically based commercial TCAD device simulator by Silvaco and related physical models used in this study. A brief review of the numerical techniques for 3-D device simulations will be also presented.

Chapter 4 describes the optimisation of the lateral SJ multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for a high drive current and a low specific on-resistance in sub-100 V applications. The effect of breakdown voltage (BV) on the charge imbalance in the SJ drift region using the 3-D Atlas simulations is investigated here. The chapter also discusses the optimisation of the device performance, study the effect of self-heating and electric field distribution in the device. Finally, it describes the comparison of the specific on-resistance as a function of the breakdown voltage of the optimised SJ-MGFET with reported conventional power devices.

Chapter 5 presents scaling and optimisation of the lateral SJ multi-gate MOSFET for a high drive current and a low specific on-resistance in sub – 50 V applications. It describes the scaling approach and optimisation of the scaled down SJ-MGFETs, on-state and off-state simulations of the scaled devices. It also discusses the gate capacitance extraction, transconductance and gate turn-on transient simulations in the three scaled structures. Conclusively, it presents the trade-off between the specific on-resistance and the breakdown voltage for the simulated SJ-MGFETs scaled down to 0.5 μm and 0.25 μm gate lengths compared with the ideal silicon limit and with various reported conventional LD-MOSFETs.

Finally, in Chapter 6, conclusions are discussed.

1.5 References

- T. Fujihira. "Theory of semiconductor superjunction devices". In: Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 36.10R (1997), pp. 6254–6262 (cit. on pp. 1, 3).
- Y. Chen, Y. C. Liang, G. S. Samudra, X. Yang, K. D. Buddharaju, and H. Feng. "Progressive development of superjunction power MOSFET devices". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 55.1 (2008), pp. 211–219 (cit. on p. 1).
- [3] K. Tabira, S. Watanabe, T. Shimatou, T. Watashima, and S. Takenoiri. "Advantage of super junction MOSFET for power supply application". In: 2014 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Hiroshima 2014-ECCE ASIA). IEEE. 2014, pp. 2939–2943 (cit. on p. 1).
- [4] G. Deboy, N. Marz, J. P. Stengl, H. Strack, J. A. T. J Tihanyi, and H. A. W. H Weber. "A new generation of high voltage MOSFETs breaks the limit line of silicon". In: *International Electron Devices Meeting 1998. Technical Digest (Cat. No. 98CH36217)*. IEEE. 1998, pp. 683–685 (cit. on pp. 1, 3).
- [5] L. Lorenz, G. Deboy, A. Knapp, and M. Marz. "COOLMOS/sup TM/-a new milestone in high voltage power MOS". In: 11th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD'99 Proceedings (Cat. No. 99CH36312). IEEE. 1999, pp. 3–10 (cit. on p. 1).
- [6] M. Saggio, D. Fagone, and S. Musumeci. "MDmesh/sup TM: innovative technology for high voltage Power MOSFETs". In: 12th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. Proceedings (Cat. No. 00CH37094). IEEE. 2000, pp. 65–68 (cit. on p. 1).
- [7] T. Fujihira and Y. Miyasaka. "Simulated superior performances of semiconductor superjunction devices". In: Proceedings of the 10th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD'98 (IEEE Cat. No. 98CH36212). IEEE. 1998, pp. 423–426 (cit. on p. 1).
- [8] J. A. Appels and H. M. J. Vaes. "High voltage thin layer devices (RESURF devices)". In: 1979 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 1979, pp. 238–241 (cit. on p. 1).
- [9] A. W. Ludikhuize. "A review of RESURF technology". In: 12th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. Proceedings (Cat. No. 00CH37094). IEEE. 2000, pp. 11–18 (cit. on p. 1).
- [10] F. Udrea, A. Popescu, and W. I. Milne. "3D RESURF double-gate MOSFET: A revolutionary power device concept". In: *Electronics Letters* 34.8 (1998), pp. 808–809 (cit. on p. 1).
- F. Udrea, A. Popescu, and W. Milne. "The 3D RESURF junction". In: 1998 International Semiconductor Conference. CAS'98 Proceedings (Cat. No. 98TH8351). Vol. 1. IEEE. 1998, pp. 141–144 (cit. on p. 1).

- [12] A. Sugi, M. Takei, K. Takahashi, A. Yajima, H. Tomizawa, and H. Nakazawa. "Super junction MOSFETs above 600V with parallel gate structure fabricated by deep trench etching and epitaxial growth". In: 2008 20th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2008, pp. 165–168 (cit. on pp. 1, 3).
- [13] P. Moens, F. Bauwens, J. Baele, K. Vershinin, E. DeBacker, E. M. S. Narayanan, and M. Tack. "XtreMOS: The first integrated power transistor breaking the silicon limit". In: 2006 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 2006, pp. 1–4 (cit. on p. 1).
- [14] P. M. Shenoy, A. Bhalla, and G. M. Dolny. "Analysis of the effect of charge imbalance on the static and dynamic characteristics of the super junction MOSFET". In: 11th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD'99 Proceedings (Cat. No. 99CH36312). IEEE. 1999, pp. 99–102 (cit. on p. 1).
- [15] P. N. Kondekar, C. D. Parikh, and M. B. Patil. "Analysis of breakdown voltage and on resistance of super junction power MOSFET CoolMOS/sup TM/using theory of novel voltage sustaining layer". In: 2002 IEEE 33rd Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference. Proceedings (Cat. No. 02CH37289). Vol. 4. IEEE. 2002, pp. 1769–1775 (cit. on p. 1).
- B. J. Baliga. Fundamentals of power semiconductor devices. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010 (cit. on p. 1).
- [17] W. L. Wang, B. Zhang, W. J. Chen, and Z. J. Li. "High voltage SOI SJ-LDMOS with dynamic back-gate voltage". In: *Electronics Letters* 45.4 (2009), pp. 233–235 (cit. on p. 1).
- [18] W. Wang. "SOI SJ-LDMOS with added fixed charges in buried oxide". In: 2010 International Conference on Microwave and Millimeter Wave Technology. IEEE. 2010, pp. 660–663 (cit. on p. 1).
- [19] Super Junction MOSFET Business Update. https://www.prnewswire.com/ super-junction-mosfet-business-update-2014/. Accessed: 2018-03-18 (cit. on p. 1).
- [20] K. P. Gan, X. Yang, Y. C. Liang, G. S. Samudra, and L. Yong. "A simple technology for superjunction device fabrication: Polyflanked VDMOSFET". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 23.10 (2002), pp. 627–629 (cit. on p. 2).
- [21] H. Bartolf, A. Mihaila, I. Nistor, M. Jurisch, B. Leibold, and M. Zimmermann. "Development of a 60 μm Deep Trench and Refill Process for Manufacturing Si-Based High-Voltage Super-Junction Structures". In: *IEEE Transactions On Semiconductor Manufacturing* 26.4 (2013), pp. 529–541 (cit. on p. 2).
- [22] X. Fan and S. Haque. "Emerging MOSFET packaging technologies and their thermal evaluation". In: *ITherm 2002. Eighth Intersociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems (Cat. No.* 02CH37258). IEEE. 2002, pp. 1102–1108 (cit. on p. 2).

- [23] Y. Weber, F. Morancho, J. M. Reynès, and E. Stefanov. "A new optimized 200V low on-resistance power FLYMOSFET". In: 2008 20th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2008, pp. 149–152 (cit. on p. 3).
- [24] S. Ono, L. Zhang, H. Ohta, M. Watanabe, W. Saito, S. Sato, H. Sugaya, and M. Yamaguchi. "Development of 600V-class trench filling SJ-MOSFET with SSRM analysis technology". In: 2009 21st International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & IC's. IEEE. 2009, pp. 303–306 (cit. on p. 3).
- [25] T. Tamaki, Y. Nakazawa, H. Kanai, Y. Abiko, Y. Ikegami, M. Ishikawa, E. Wakimoto, T. Yasuda, and S. Eguchi. "Vertical charge imbalance effect on 600 V-class trench-filling superjunction power MOSFETs". In: 2011 IEEE 23rd International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2011, pp. 308–311 (cit. on p. 3).
- [26] J. Sakakibara, Y. Noda, T. Shibata, S. Nogami, T. Yamaoka, and H. Yamaguchi. "600V-class super junction MOSFET with high aspect ratio P/N columns structure". In: 2008 20th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2008, pp. 299–302 (cit. on p. 3).
- [27] T. Shibata, Y. Noda, S. Yamauchi, S. Nogami, T. Yamaoka, Y. Hattori, and H. Yamaguchi. "200V trench filling type super junction MOSFET with orthogonal gate structure". In: *Proceedings of the 19th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's.* IEEE. 2007, pp. 37–40 (cit. on p. 3).
- [28] F. Udrea, G. Deboy, and T. Fujihira. "Superjunction power devices, history, development, and future prospects". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron De*vices 64.3 (2017), pp. 713–727 (cit. on p. 3).
- [29] G. Deboy, M. Treu, O. Häberlen, and D. Neumayr. "Si, SiC and GaN power devices: An unbiased view on key performance indicators". In: 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM). IEEE. 2016, pp. 532–535 (cit. on p. 3).
- [30] H. Kapels. "Superjunction MOS devices-From device development towards system optimization". In: 2009 13th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications. IEEE. 2009, pp. 1–7 (cit. on p. 4).
- [31] A. Testa, S. De Caro, S. Panarello, S. Patanè, S. Russo, D. Patti, S. Poma, and R. Letor. "Reliability of planar, Super-Junction and trench low voltage power MOSFETs". In: *Microelectronics Reliability* 50.9-11 (2010), pp. 1789– 1795 (cit. on p. 4).
- [32] A. Yoo, J. C. W. Ng, J. K. O. Sin, and W. T. Ng. "High performance CMOScompatible super-junction FinFETs for Sub-100V applications". In: 2010 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 2010, pp. 488–491 (cit. on p. 4).
- [33] Silvaco Atlas. Atlas user's manual. 2017 (cit. on p. 4).
- [34] Silvaco Atlas. *Tonyplot3D user's manual.* 2016 (cit. on p. 4).

Chapter 2

Fundamentals of Power MOSFETs

2.1 Introduction

The Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor (MOS) field effect transistor plays a dominant factor as the main building block in the development of Integrated-Circuit (IC) Technologies. The MOS field effect transistor (MOSFET) is a basic element in a CMOS technology for digital and analogue circuits which make components of every mobile phone, tablet, and computer and are used in various other digital, power, communication and microwave applications [1]. CMOS technology offers many advantages in a transistor operation which allow a reduction in size, whereby millions of the devices can be fabricated in a single integrated circuit (IC) for higher levels of integration, and smaller resistive effects of a crossover with no need for an isolation in the structure, all thanks to the most advanced fabrication process with cost reduction [2]. A typical MOSFET is a field-effect transistor (FET) with a metal gate electrode placed on the top of a silicon dioxide $(Si0_2)$ or dielectric layer, which in turn is on the top of a semiconductor substrate. MOSFET can be fabricated in two configurations namely; the *n*-channel MOSFET and the *p*-channel MOSFET, a combination of these two configurations creates a so-called complementary MOS (CMOS) circuit. The CMOS technology offers a high input impedance with dual active outputs, and a low power consumption with a high noise immunity [2]. The applications of CMOS circuits are preferred solutions in modern IC technology, offering a better performance in terms of high packing density, cost effectiveness and low static power consumption to other technology with the same functionality.

2.2 Principles of MOSFET



Figure 2.1: Schematic cross section of n-channel MOSFET.

MOSFET is derived from a MOS capacitor in which a gate voltage (V_G) controls the state of a semiconductor surface underneath it, by the creation of either an accumulation or an inversion layer [1–3]. The structure shown in Figure 2.1 [1] is an *n*-channel MOSFET with a gate length of L_g and a width of W. It also consists of a *p*-type semiconductor substrate, having two *n*-type contacts at the ends with a low potential region referred to as the source (n^+) and a high potential region referred to as the drain (n^+) , respectively $(n^+ \text{ and } p^+ \text{ layers denote heavily doped regions)}$. A thin silicon dioxide $(Si0_2)$ layer is deposited on the top surface, followed by a polysilicon material gate formed on a top of $Si0_2$. An electron-rich path can be created referred to as a channel by inverting the semiconductor surface under the gate from *p*-type to *n*-type when a positive V_G is applied [4]. In an *n*-channel MOSFET, a positive V_G larger than the threshold voltage (V_{TH}) is required for the creation of an inversion layer of an electrons in the channel. For a *p*-channel MOSFET, a negative V_G greater than the threshold voltage (V_{TH}) is needed for inducing an inversion layer of holes to make a channel. The threshold voltage in a MOSFET is defined as the minimum applied gate voltage needed to make the surface of a substrate under the gate electrode to be strongly inverted. For a power MOSFET, the threshold voltage is normally measured at a drainsource current of 250 μA [5]. The circuit design requirements of safety are much easily fulfilled when a power MOSFET is off when the gate voltage is zero (a device normally-off) because the source and the drain resistances are not negligible and may results in a power dissipation in the device [2]. The V_{TH} can be expressed as [2]:

$$V_{TH} = \Delta V_{ox} + \Delta \phi_s = V_{ox} + \phi_s + \phi_{ms} \tag{2.1}$$

where ϕ_s is the surface potential, ϕ_{ms} is the metal-semiconductor work function difference, and V_{ox} is the potential drop across the oxide.

At a threshold voltage, the surface potential $\phi_s = 2\phi_{fp}$. This expression can be substituted into Equation (2.1) as

$$V_{TH} = V_{oxT} + \phi_{ms} + 2\phi_{fp} \tag{2.2}$$

where V_{oxT} is the voltage across the oxide at the threshold inversion point and ϕ_{fp} is the potential difference between E_{Fi} and E_F (in V) given by:

$$\phi_{fp} = \frac{kT}{q} \ln \frac{N_a}{n_i} \tag{2.3}$$

where k is the Boltzmann's constant, T is the absolute temperature, q is the electronic charge, N_a is the acceptor doping concentration of the substrate, and n_i is the intrinsic carrier concentration of the silicon. The voltage across the oxide at the threshold inversion point can be written as:

$$V_{oxT} = \frac{Q'_{mT}}{C_{ox}} \tag{2.4}$$

where Q'_{mT} is the charge density on the metal gate at threshold and C_{ox} is the gate

oxide capacitance.

$$Q'_{mT} = |Q'_{SD}(max)| - Q'_{ss}$$
(2.5)

where Q'_{mT} is the charge density on the metal gate at threshold, $Q'_{SD(max)}$ is the conservation of charge density between the metal and the oxide-semiconductor interface and Q'_{ss} is the charge density adjacent to the oxide-semiconductor interface. The gate oxide capacitance can be expressed as:

$$C_{ox} = \frac{\varepsilon_{ox}}{t_{ox}} \tag{2.6}$$

 ε_{ox} is the dielectric constant of oxide and t_{ox} is the oxide thickness of a gate dielectric layer. Substituting Equations (2.5) and (2.6) into Equation (2.2), the equation can be rewritten as:

$$V_{TH} = \frac{|Q'_{SD}(max)|}{C_{ox}} - \frac{Q'_{ss}}{C_{ox}} + \phi_{ms} + 2\phi_{fp}$$
(2.7)

Using Equation (2.7) and assuming a flat-band voltage (V_{FB}) , V_{TH} can expressed as

$$V_{TH} = \frac{|Q'_{SD}(max)|}{C_{ox}} + V_{FB} + 2\phi_{fp}$$
(2.8)

where

$$V_{FB} = \phi_{ms} - \frac{Q'_{ss}}{C_{ox}} \tag{2.9}$$

$$|Q'_{SD}(max)| = \sqrt{4q\varepsilon_{si}\phi_{fp}N_a} \tag{2.10}$$

In a linear region of a MOSFET operation, the channel resistance (R_{ch}) can be expressed as [1]:

$$R_{ch} = \frac{L_{ch}t_{ox}}{W\mu_n\varepsilon_{ox}(V_{GS} - V_{TH})}$$
(2.11)

where L_{ch} is the channel length, t_{ox} is the gate oxide thickness, V_{GS} is the gate voltage, V_{TH} is the threshold voltage, ε_{ox} is the dielectric constant of oxide, μ_n is the average electron mobility in the channel, and W is the channel width.

2.2.1 Equivalent Circuit of an n-channel MOSFET



Figure 2.2: Equivalent circuit of *n*-channel MOSFET and its parasitic capacitances.

A typical MOSFET is a modified MOS capacitor structure with the drain and source insulated from the gate as shown in the Figure 2.2. The gate-source capacitance (C_{gs}) , and the gate-drain capacitance (C_{gd}) are determined by the capacitance of the gate oxide thickness, whereas the drain-source capacitance (C_{ds}) is a junction capacitance of the parasitic diode [6]. These capacitances were modified into three parameters that defined MOSFET parasitic capacitances in terms of the input capacitance (C_{iss}) , the output capacitance (C_{oss}) and the reverse transfer capacitance (C_{rss}) . C_{iss} is the total capacitance of a MOSFET that can be expressed as the sum of C_{gs} and C_{gd} , i.e., $(C_{gs} + C_{gd})$. This capacitance is charged by a gate charge (Q_g) in order to drive the MOSFET into operation. C_{oss} is expressed as a sum of the C_{ds} and C_{gd} , i.e., $C_{ds} + C_{gd}$. This output capacitance accounts for the total capacitance on the output side. A small C_{oss} is desirable for timely turn off of the device output. C_{rss} is approximately equal to C_{gd} . This reverse transfer capacitance is also referred to as Miller capacitance because it permits the total dynamic input capacitance to become larger than the sum of static capacitances. In addition, this capacitance is the most important parasitic parameter because it provides a feedback loop between the output and the input of a device [1, 7].

The internal gate resistance (R_g) is a critical parameter that account for the device switching performance, thermal management, and power conversion efficiency. A higher R_g implies a larger device switching and increase in the gate drive losses which leads to increase in the device temperature [8]. A non-linearity of C_{gd} and its dependence on the drain bias limits its choice as a parameter for defining power in MOSFETs. For effective description of a power MOSFET, the standard practice is to extract the gate charge (Q_g) at a constant current source while turning the device from blocking state. This gate charge is specified in data sheets of a particular transistor. Q_g offers advantages of being not dependent on the drain current, the supply voltage, and the device temperature [9]. Additionally, it can be use to estimates the device switching time, the total charge, the energy stored, and the current required to switch the device on for a period of time.

2.3 Theory of Device Breakdown

Improvements in performance of a power device tend to achieve a negligible current flow during the off-state at a high voltage. Capability of a power device to withstand a maximum voltage without a significant rise in the current is limited by the avalanche breakdown of the device, which is strongly dependent on the electric field distribution [7]. In a power device, during the off-state, electron-hole pairs injected into the depletion region will acquire sufficient kinetic energy from longitudinal electric field to create electron-hole pairs by colliding with a lattice atom within the space charge region. The generation of electron-hole pairs, which result from carriers acquiring a high kinetic energy, is referred to as impact ionisation. Generation of the electron-hole pairs by impact ionisation in the depletion region can lead to the creation of more electron-hole pairs. The impact ionisation is a multiplicative process in which device is unable to sustain the application of an elevated voltage due to uncontrolled increase in the current. Thus, the device undergoes avalanche breakdown which limits its maximum operating voltage. In the next sub-sections, the avalanche breakdown as well as the so-called punch-through breakdown are briefly reviewed.

2.3.1 Avalanche Breakdown



Figure 2.3: Current and hole components through the space charge region during avalanche multiplication.

Avalanche breakdown is a process that occurs when electron-hole pairs moving in the space charge region gains sufficient kinetic energy in the presence of a high longitudinal electric field to generate electron-hole pairs by the impact ionisation of the covalent bond in silicon atom within the depletion region [1, 2].

Let us assume that a reverse-biased current i_{n0} enters the depletion region at x = 0as shown in Figure 2.3, the current i_n will increase with the distance through the depletion region due to the avalanche process. The current at the point where x = Wcan be written as [2]:

$$i_n(W) = M_n i_{n0}$$
 (2.12)

where M_n is a multiplication factor. The hole (i_p) will increases through the depletion region from the *n*-type to the *p*-type region and reaches a maximum value at x = 0. Thus, the total charge through the *pn* junction is constant in steady state. The elementary increment of the current at some point x can be expressed as [2]:

$$di_n(x) = i_n(x)\alpha_n dx + i_p(x)\alpha_p dx \tag{2.13}$$

where α_n and α_p are the electron and the hole ionisation rates, respectively. Equation (2.13) can be rewritten as:

$$\frac{di_n(x)}{dx} = i_n(x)\alpha_n + i_p(x)\alpha_p \tag{2.14}$$

The total current i is given by:

$$i = i_n(x) + i_p(x)$$
 (2.15)

solving for $i_p(x)$ in Equation (2.15) and substituting into Equation (2.14), which gives:

$$\frac{di_n(x)}{dx} + (\alpha_p - \alpha_n)i_n(x) = i\alpha_p \tag{2.16}$$

assuming that α_n and α_p are equal. Equation (2.16) may be simplified and integrated within the space charge region. Thus, leading to the expression given by:

$$i_n(W) - i_n(0) = i \int_0^W \alpha \, dx.$$
 (2.17)

Using Equation (2.12), Equation (2.17) can be rewritten as [2]:

$$\frac{M_n i_{n0} - i_n(0)}{i} = \int_0^W \alpha \ dx.$$
 (2.18)

Since $M_n i_{n0} \approx i$, and $i_n 0 = i_{n0}$, Equation (2.18) becomes

$$1 - \frac{1}{M_n} = \int_0^W \alpha \, dx \tag{2.19}$$

The avalanche breakdown voltage can be expressed as the voltage at which M_n approaches infinity. Therefore, the avalanche breakdown condition is given by

$$\int_0^W \alpha \ dx = 1 \tag{2.20}$$

2.3.2 Punch-Through Breakdown



Figure 2.4: The punch-through design for a p-i-n rectifier. The p^+ and n^+ stands for highly doped p-type and n-type regions, respectively.

Punch-through breakdown in a semiconductor device occurs at a condition in which the depletion region at the p-body/drain contact extends across the channel region and merges with the source/p-body depletion region. This extension of the depletion region eliminates a channel which leads to the field beneath the gate becoming strongly dependent on the drain-source voltage subsequently resulting in a very high drain current in the device [2]. During this condition, the gate loses all its control over the channel and a large drain current flows in the device irrespective of the applied gate voltage.

A power device which is using a p - i - n rectifier to support an applied voltage as show in Figure 2.4, a lightly doped *n*-type drift region is needed in the middle of highly doped *p*-type and *n*-type regions because the injection of a high concentration of minority carriers during the on-state limits the drift region resistance such that current flow is independent of the doping concentration in the drift region [7]. The electric field distribution in a punch-through design will vary moderately in the lightly doped *n*-type drift region and swiftly move towards the heavily doped n^+ end region, thereby forming a trapezoidal-shape field distribution. The electric field distribution at the junction between the *n*-type drift region and the n^+ end region can be expressed as [7]:

$$E_1 = E_{max} - \frac{q \ n_n}{\varepsilon_{si}} W_n \tag{2.21}$$

where E_{max} is the maximum electric field at the interface between the p^+ and the *n*-type drift region, q is the electronic charge, ε_{si} is the dielectric constant of silicon, n_n is the doping concentration of the *n*-type drift region, and W_n is the width of the *n*-type drift region.

2.4 Classification of Power MOSFETs

Power semiconductor devices are two or three terminal devices as shown in Figure 2.5, having the capability of controlling the energy flow in electronic systems. They offers operating conditions from an off-state, in which a negligible current flows in the device when the supply voltage is sustained, to an on-state, when a substantial current flows through the device. Cells in a power MOSFET can be designed in a paralleled architecture to compensate for a low current of a single transistor and to allow a low on-resistance. Being a majority carrier device, the power MOSFET offers a better performance in terms of a low gate drive power, a fast switching speed and a superior paralleling architecture, thereby enhancing its utilisation for power application such as a DC-DC converter, a low voltage motor control, a linear power and switching supplies.



Figure 2.5: Types of power semiconductor transistors.

The transistor is used in power switches for low voltage (less than 200 V) applications, because its on-state resistance (R_{on}) increases swiftly with increase in the BV, resulting in a huge conduction losses and degradation of the system performances. In order to achieve a low resistive channel in a MOSFET, a shorter channel length (L_{ch}) is required with respective reduction in a gate oxide thickness (t_{ox}) since these two parameters are related to the breakdown voltage. Consequently, a variation in these two parameter limits the implementation of a power MOSFET for medium and high voltage applications. However, the cascade design of power MOSFETs can overcome this limitation but requires multiple transistors connected to operate as multi-level hybrid configuration [10–12]. The power MOSFET can be classified into lateral and vertical devices based on device design techniques. The structure and basic operating principle of both lateral and vertical power MOSFETs will be briefly discussed in the subsequent sections.

2.4.1 Vertical Power MOSFETs

2.4.1.1 V-MOSFET

A V-groove MOSFET (V-MOSFET) is a non-planar structure that consists of a V-groove gate design with the source and the drain regions separated by a p-body substrate, leading to a formation of two p-n junctions referred as J_A and J_B as shown in Figure 2.6 [7]. The gate electrode penetrates into trench etched in the device body and will be fabricated after thermal oxidation of the gate oxide on its surface [7, 13, 14]. Historically, the device was the first fabricated and commercialised power MOSFET structure. However, the stringent conditions of compliance with the orientation of anisotropic etching of the grooves in the structure limits the design variation of this architecture [2]. Thus, the V-MOSFET became less popular because of these manufacturing complexities and replaced by a planar architecture called a double-diffusion MOSFET (D-MOSFET). Additionally, the V-MOSFET suffered from a degradation of the breakdown voltage due to the high electric field crowding at the tip of the V-groove.


Figure 2.6: Cross-section of a V-groove MOSFET structure.

2.4.1.2 **D-MOSFET**

The D-MOSFET is a planar structure that uses a double diffusion process in which the *p*-body region and the source (n^+) contact are diffused via a common opening defined by the edge of the gate [2, 7]. A channel length is defined by the difference between the lateral diffusion distance of the *p*-body region and the source (n^+) as shown in Figure 2.7 [2]. The electron flows laterally through the inversion layer to the thick and lightly doped *n*-drift region and vertically to the drain, thereby establishing a conventional current flow from the drain to the source. The structure suffers from a non-uniform distribution of the current in the drift region, resulting in a large internal resistance that is higher than the ideal specific on-resistance of the drift region.



Figure 2.7: Cross-section of a D-MOSFET structure.

2.4.1.3 U-MOSFET

A U-MOSFET is also non-planar structure like the V-MOSFET but with a U-shaped groove or a trench at the gate region as shown in Figure 2.8 [15]. The implanted



Figure 2.8: Cross-section of a U-MOSFET structure.

trench gate extends from the top surface of the device through the *p*-body and the source (n^+) regions into the *n*-drift. In contrast to the D-MOSFET, this device architecture does not suffer from a high input impedance resulting in the reduction of on-resistance [15]. In addition, the bottom of the trench gate is rounded by the isotropic etching in order to protect the gate oxide and to redistribute electron current crowding at the edge of the gate [16]. Likewise, a deeper and higher doping concentration of the *p*-body, will ensure that the avalanche breakdown occurs at a junction between the *p*-body and the *n*-drift region. In comparison with the D-MOSFET, the U-MOSFET offers a higher transconductance because of its larger channel density.

2.4.2 Lateral Power MOSFETs

2.4.2.1 Lateral Double Diffused MOSFETs (LDMOSFETs)

The lateral double diffused MOSFET (LDMOSFET) has become a popular device choice for power integrated circuit technologies (PICT) [17], with the capability of offering a low resistance, a high input impedance, a high breakdown voltage, and a fast switching speed. The device is desirable for integration as a high-power transistor with a low-voltage digital circuit in the BiCMOS technology [18, 19]. A LDMOSFET with a gate length of L_g and a width of W_g shown in Figure 2.9 [20] is a lateral surface effect device in which a vertical field induced by the gate controls the channel. During on-state, biasing with a positive gate voltage higher than a threshold voltage will induces a formation of an inversion layer at the surface of the p-body, resulting in a flow of electrons from the source (n^+) electrode through the conductive channel to the drain (n^+) electrode via the *n*-drift region. During offstate, a reverse-bias applied voltage at the drain results in a large depletion region with a high blocking voltage which extends through the *n*-drift region. During the diffusion process of the device, the same mask can be used for the channel and the source regions resulting in a short channel. In addition, the deeper diffused p-body has a large radius in doping distribution that reduces the edge effects in the structure [20].

The drift region is necessary to support the electric field during the blocking voltage on the drain. It must be thick enough to provide a sufficient space for the both lateral and vertical electric fields and lightly doped for a slowly changing electric



Figure 2.9: Cross-section of a LDMOSFET structure having a gate length of L_g with a width of W_g .

field ideal for a flat band profile. The avalanche breakdown capability of the device is determined by the doping concentration of a drift region (n_{drift}) , the drift length (L_{drift}) and its thickness t_{drift} [21]. Adversely, a thick and lightly doped drift region will aggravate the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ of the device, because of its relationship with a breakdown voltage (BV) (Note that the breakdown voltage is abbreviated by the word BV and a symbol for the breakdown voltage is also BV). The specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ can be expressed by [7]:

$$R_{on,sp} = \frac{L_d}{q \ \mu_n \ n_n} \tag{2.22}$$

where n_n is the doping concentration of the *n*-type drift region, q is the electronic charge, μ_n is the average electron mobility and L_d is the length of the drift region.

Given that L_d can be expressed by [7]:

$$L_d = \frac{2BV}{E_c},\tag{2.23}$$

the breakdown voltage (BV) can be written as:

$$BV = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{si} E_c^2}{2qn_n},\tag{2.24}$$

Substituting Equations (2.23) and (2.24) into Equation (2.22) gives

$$R_{on,sp} = \frac{4BV^2}{\mu_n \varepsilon_{si} E_c^3},\tag{2.25}$$

A solution from Equations (2.25) will lead to an expression given by:

$$R_{on.sp} = 5.93 \times 10^{-9} \ BV^{2.5}.$$
 (2.26)

This quadratic expression implies that doubling of the BV leads to increase in the specific on-resistance by a factor of five. Therefore, p-body and the n-drift regions has to be optimised, aiming at achieving a high voltage blocking capability and minimising the drain-to-source resistance, the transistor pitch, and the transistor width.

2.4.2.2 RESURF (Reduced Surface Field) LDMOSFET

The REduced SURface Field (RESURF) as proposed by Appels and Vaes [22] is a concepts that provides an improvement in the trade-off between the breakdown voltage and the specific on-resistance of a lateral device. It involves reducing the surface electric field of the device, which will allow a higher reverse voltage to be applied before a critical value of the avalanche breakdown is reached. This is achieved by extending the space charge region in the blocking state in the entire drift zone, resulting in a voltage drop over the charge distribution along the drift region and not across the junctions [22, 23]. Figure 2.10 shows a cross-section of a single RESURF LDMOS having two diodes (D_1 and D_2), with D_1 located at the lateral junction between the *n*-epi and the *p*-body region; and D_2 positioned at the vertical junction



Figure 2.10: A single RESURF LDMOSFET architecture having a drift region of n_{epi} layer with a thickness of t_{epi} , at a full depletion with the field distributions in the shaded regions.

of the drift region chosen in a blocking state, the space charge regions from both lateral and vertical junctions extend up to a surface of the device thereby reducing the electric field below the critical electric field E_c . This will ensures a higher blocking voltage at the junction between the *n*-epi and the *p*-substrate when the electric field reaches a critical value. At a full depletion, the depletion width (W_d) must be equal to the thickness of the epitaxial layer (t_{epi}) as expressed by [22]:

$$W_d = t_{epi} = \sqrt{\frac{2\varepsilon_s(BV)}{q(n_{epi} + n_{sub})}}$$
(2.27)

where ε_{si} is the dielectric constant of silicon, q is the electronic charge and n_{epi} and n_{sub} are the doping concentration of the epitaxial layer and the *p*-substrate, respectively. The ideal BV of a planar junction is given by [22]:

$$BV = \varepsilon_{si} \frac{E_c^2}{2q(n_{epi} + n_{sub})}$$
(2.28)

where E_c is the critical electric field in silicon with an optimal epitaxial charge density $Q_{epi} = n_{epi} \times t_{epi}$ given by [22]:

$$Q_{epi} = n_{epi} \ t_{epi} = \varepsilon_{si} \frac{E_c}{q} \sqrt{\frac{n_{sub}}{(n_{epi} + n_{sub})}}$$
(2.29)

If $n_{epi} >> n_{sub}$, where t_{epi} is the thickness of the epitaxial layer, then n_{sub} , equal to n_{epi} at an upper theoretical bound of Q_{epi} , is given by:

$$Q_{epi,max} = \varepsilon_s \frac{E_c}{q\sqrt{2}} \tag{2.30}$$

$$n_{epi} t_{epi} \cong 1 - 2 \times 10^{12} \ cm^{-2}$$
 (2.31)

Considering the fact that maximum fields are limited by the RESURF architectures, the doping concentration of the drift region can be increased and the drift region length can be decreased simultaneously, resulting in a reduction of the on-resistance of the structure. The single RESURF architecture has been in use in high-voltage LDMOSFETs [24–28] for about 45 years.

A double RESURF architecture using a shallow-trench isolation (STI) is shown in Figure 2.11 [29]. The *n*-drift region is fully depleted by two junctions, the P_{top} layer and the *n*-drift junction at the top and the *p*-substrate layer and the *n*-drift junction at the bottom. In order to achieve a high breakdown in the structure, both the P_{top} layer and the *n*-drift region must be fully depleted before the lateral breakdown voltage between the P_{top} layer to the drain (n^+) is reached. Since $n_{P_{top}} > n_D >$ n_{p-sub} , the breakdown voltage can be expressed as [21]:

$$BV = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{si} E_c^2}{2 q n_D} \quad [V] \tag{2.32}$$

where

$$n_{P_{top}} \times t_{top} = \frac{2 \times 10^{12}}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{n_{P_{top}}}{n_D}}} cm^{-2}$$
 (2.33)



Figure 2.11: (a) Schematic cross-section of a double RESURF structure consisting of a P_{top} layer of t_{top} thickness having a doping concentration of $n_{P_{top}}$ implanted at the top of the *n*-drift region with a distance of x_{dn4} between the P_{top}/n -drift junction, (b) field distribution in a double RESURF structure assuming a full depletion in the *n*-drift region with a distance of y_{dn2} between the *p*-body/*n*-drift junction and a distance of x_{dn3} between the *n*-drift/*p*-substrate junction.

where $n_{P_{top}}$, n_D and n_{p-sub} are the doping concentration of P_{top} layer, *n*-drift region and *p*-substrate, respectively, while ε_0 and ε_{si} are the dielectric constants of oxide and silicon and t_{top} is the thickness of the P_{top} layer. In a double-RESURF structure, since the drift region is simultaneously depleted from both the top and the bottom junctions, the integrated concentration between these two junctions in the drift region can be increased by approximately a factor of 2 to about 2.8×10^{12} cm⁻² in comparison to a single RESURF structure of the same drift thickness. This will ensure a lower drift resistance in the structure. Various device designs of double RESURF architecture for a high-voltage LDMOSFET structure have been reported [29–33]. In a triple RESURF structure using a shallow-trench isolation (STI), as shown in Figure 2.12 [34], a buried *p*-layer is implanted into the *n*-drift region, thereby splitting the *n*-drift into two conducting paths, one at the bottom and the other on top of the buried layer.



Figure 2.12: (a) Schematic cross-section of a triple RESURF structure having a buried *p*-layer implanted inside the *n*-drift region, with an expanded depletion regions of x_{dn4} at the bottom and x_{dn5} at the top, (b) vertical field distribution at midpoint of L_{drift} at a full depletion in the *n*-drift region with a distance of x_{dn3} between the *n*-drift/*p*-substrate junction.

The depletion region within the buried layer expands to x_{dn4} at the bottom and x_{dn5} at the top of the layer. Therefore, these three junction boundaries continuously deplete the drift region, the *n*-drift/*p*-substrate junction (x_{dn3}), the bottom (x_{dn4}) and the top (x_{dn5}) junction of the buried layer [34–36].

2.5 Fundamentals of Super-Junction (SJ) Power MOSFETs

The realisation of super-junction (SJ) [37] concept has offered a great improvement in the trade-off between the BV and the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ of a power device for medium and high voltage applications [37–42]. In order to explain a concept of the SJ MOSFET, one can start from a simplified SJ diode layer shown in Figure 2.13 where T is the thickness of the device, n_n and n_p are the doping concentration of the n- and p- pillars with their corresponding width of W_n and W_p , respectively, while ε_{si} is the dielectric constant of silicon and q is the electronic charge. The 2-D electric field distribution in the SJ diode layer can be expressed



Figure 2.13: Cross-section of a super-junction diode layer.

as [37]:

$$\nabla \cdot E = \frac{dE(x)}{dx} + \frac{dE(y)}{dy} = \frac{q(n_n)}{\epsilon_{si}}$$
(2.34)

In a doped n- pillar, $n_n > 0$, this Equation (2.34) can be rewritten as:

$$\frac{dE(x)}{dx} = \frac{q(n_n)}{\epsilon_{si}} - \frac{dE(y)}{dy}$$
(2.35)

which implies that the dE/dx is no more dependent on the n_n but can be reduced by the presence of the electric field that varies in the y-direction. A BV is given by:

$$BV = \int_0^T E_x dx \tag{2.36}$$

The presence of a 2-D electric field in Equation (2.35) implies that the electric field distribution in the structure can be lowered without reducing the doping concentration of the n- pillar. Therefore, the SJ concept demonstrates that a 2-D design of the sustaining layer can produce an electric field in *y*-direction that results in the generation of a similar electric field in *x*-direction even with increase in the doping concentration of the pillar. The point in which the electric field in the n- and p- pillars mutually deplete each other is referred as a charge-balanced condition in a SJ layer.

A power device requires a thick and lightly doped drift region to achieve a higher breakdown voltage. However, the quadratic relationship of Equation (2.26) between the BV and the $R_{on,sp}$ [43] implies that the on-resistance increases with increase in the BV. A SJ-LDMOS transistor uses a set of alternating heavily doped *n*-type and *p*-type pillars in the drift region, resulting in minimising the on-resistance of the transistor area [38–42, 44–46]. In addition, the SJ-LDMOS has been able to overcome the ideal theoretical limit of silicon [37, 47]. A basic operation of the SJ power MOSFETs is reviewed in the next sub-sections.

2.5.1 Vertical Super-Junction (SJ) Power MOSFETs

The vertical SJ power MOSFET (SJ-VDMOSFET) structures were the first commercialised device design [40–42, 44] that have achieved a tremendous improvement in the relationship between the BV and the $R_{on,sp}$. Figure 2.14 shows the vertical SJ-MOSFET [47] in which the n^+ layer is connected to the drain while the p- pillars is connected to the source via the p-body of the device. In off-state, the reverse biased p - n junctions are mutually depleted by optimising the width and the doping concentration of the n_{epi} layer and the p- pillars, thereby ensuring that the two opposite pillars are fully depleted before the critical electric field is reached. Upon reaching a full depletion, an equal but opposite charges are needed to compensate each other, thereby achieving a horizontal electric field without upsetting the ver-



Figure 2.14: Cross section of a vertical SJ-MOSFET structure.

tical electric field distribution in the SJ structure. This SJ design benefits from a charge compensation between opposite pillars when the n_{epi} layer are fully depleted. The vertical electric field in the drain-to-source region depends on the depth of the drift region. Consequently, a higher breakdown voltage can be achieved by increasing only the depth of the drift region with no need of changing the pillars doping concentration.

Given that the structure has a drift region length of L_d , the doping concentration of n_{epi} layer and p-pillar are n_n and n_p , with W_n and W_p their corresponding widths, respectively, and assuming a fully depleted drift region under charge balanced condition, with $W_n = W_p = W_{np}$, a relationship between the BV and the charge Q of a pillar can be expressed as [48]:

$$BV = E_c \ L_d \tag{2.37}$$

$$Q = \frac{n_n \ W_{np}}{2} = \frac{\varepsilon_{si} E_c}{q} \tag{2.38}$$

where the critical electric field (E_c) increases with the increase in the doping concentration of the pillar. Since the electron current flows through the n_{epi} layer only, the specific on-resistance can be written as [48]:

$$R_{on,sp} = \frac{L_d}{q \ \mu_n \ n_n} = \frac{W_{np} \ BV}{2 \ \mu_n \varepsilon_{si} E_c^2} \tag{2.39}$$

Since the optimal integrated doping concentration is fixed for a given BV, the doping concentration of n_{epi} layer can be increased to be inversely proportional to the drift width resulting in a reduction of the specific on-resistance. This leads to linear relation between the BV and the $R_{on,sp}$ [37, 49]. A more comprehensive analysis carried out for some of vertical designs has shown that dependence of $R_{on,sp}$ on the BV can be expressed as $BV_{6}^{\frac{7}{6}}$ [42, 45, 46, 50]. Optimal performance of the vertical SJ structure can be realised by optimising the pillar width, the doping concentration, and the drift region depth, respectively, aiming at achieving a high BV by a fully depleted charge compensating SJ drift region, and a low $R_{on,sp}$ by a heavily doped n_{epi} layer in the drift region.

2.5.2 Lateral Super-Junction (SJ) Power MOSFETs

The lateral SJ power MOSFETs (SJ-LDMOSFETs) uses the principle of a charge compensation between the alternating n- and p- pillars [51-57]. However, the imperfect inter-diffusion in the SJ pillars might cause the BV to become sensitive to charge imbalance in a drift region [53]. In an ideal SJ operation, the charge induces by the SJ n- and p- pillars should provide a mirror symmetry of each other in order to ensure a charge compensation during off-state.

A fully depleted SJ unit will be accomplished if ion charge of each pillar is cancel out by its two adjacent opposite conductivity pillars, thereby resulting in uniform electric field distribution in the drift region. This phenomenon is inherent to the SJ-VDMOSFETs because of its 2-D structure but, the SJ-LDMOSFETs being a 3-D device, requires a well designed *p*-type substrate or dielectric beneath the SJ drift region design to eliminate a leakage current. A junction isolated (JI) SJ-LDMOSFET having a drift region length of L_{drift} with the n- and p- pillars widths of W_n and W_p and a pillar height of h [54, 55] is shown in Figure 2.15.

The structure is implemented on a *p*-type substrate, such that p - n junctions will be formed between the n- pillars and both the p- pillars and the *p*-substrate, resulting in a vertical electric field that strongly depends on the lateral position in



Figure 2.15: 3-D geometry of a Junction Isolated (JI) SJ-LDMOSFET structure.

the drift region. In off-state, the n- pillars are depleted by both the p- pillars and the p-type substrate, whereas the p- pillars are only depleted by the opposite npillars. This gives rise to excess charge in the pillars which increases monotonically towards the drain region due a voltage gradient across the SJ drift unit resulting in a charge imbalance and degradation of the BV [56]. In order to mitigate the effect of substrate-assisted depletion (SAD) in the JI SJ-LDMOSFET and improve the trade-off between BV and the specific on-resistance, various device designs have been reported in the last few decade to overcome these problem. In the following sections, a brief summary of the various evolutions of the SJ-LDMOSFETs technologies and their challenges in achieving an optimal device performances.

2.5.2.1 Buffered SJ-LDMOSFET

Super-junction (SJ) LDMOSFET structure having a drift region length of L_{drift} with the n- and p- pillars widths of W_n and W_p and a pillar height of h is shown in Figure 2.16 [57]. The device has an n-type buffer layer sandwiched between the SJ



Figure 2.16: 3-D geometry of a buffered SJ-LDMOSFET structure.

layer and the *p*-type substrate. During off-state, the p- pillars are depleted by both the n- pillars and the *n*-type buffer layer, unlike the JI SJ-LDMOSFETs where the p- pillars are depleted by n- pillars only. After the *n*-type buffer layer have been fully depleted, the *p*-type substrate will begins to deplete the n- pillars, to the extent that the resultant effect of both the vertical and the lateral electric field in the SJ drift region will reduces the charge imbalance of the structure compared to the JI SJ-LDMOSFETs. In this structure, the *n*-type buffer layer compensates for the extra charge needed to deplete the p- pillars completely, thereby eliminating the SAD in the SJ region. Various architecture designs of this structure have been reported to eliminate the effect of SAD in the SJ layer, like the REBULF SJ-MOSFET with n^+ buried layer [58], which consists of a n-type buffer layer sandwiched between two p-type substrate layers such that the pillars are depleted by the vertical depletion effect due to electric field in the horizontal direction resulting in the complete charge balance in the SJ drift region. Duan et al. [59, 60] has reported a new SJ-LDMOS with a step n-type buffered layer implemented beneath the SJ layer, in which the step doped n-type layer uses an electric field modulation to generate a new lateral electric field resulting in a more uniform lateral electric distribution in the device. Cao et al. [61] has also proposed a SJ-LDMOS with multi-floating buried layers, which utilises the combination of the surface and bulk electric field optimisation at the same time.

2.5.2.2 Silicon on Insulator (SOI) SJ-LDMOSFET

A silicon on insulator (SOI) SJ-LDMOSFET structure shown in Figure 2.17 [62] is based on dielectrically isolated (DI) region that consists of a drift region with a length of L_{drift} and n- and p- pillars with widths of W_n and W_p , respectively, and a height of h. The structure has also a buried oxide layer implanted between the SJ



Figure 2.17: 3-D geometry of a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) SJ-LDMOSFET.

layer and the *p*-substrate resulting in the uniform distribution of the electric field, thereby alleviating the effect of the SAD. Various modifications of a design structure of the SOI SJ-LDMOSFETs have been reported [63–68].

The advantage of the SOI design includes, amongst others, an improve device isolation, a high packing density, a low leakage current at high temperature operation, and a latch-up-free operation [68]. However, the structure suffers from a similar effect of the SAD as a result of the vertical electric field that is emanating from the capacitive coupling of inserting an insulator or a silicon dioxide $(Si0_2)$ between two silicon layers [69]. In addition, the SOI SJ-LDMOSFETs suffer from enhanced self-heating effects [70, 71], due to the poor thermal conductivity of the silicon dioxide $(Si0_2)$ (1.4 W/m-K) in comparison to silicon (140 W/m-K)) [72, 73]. The buried oxide layer hinders heat transfer from the SOI layer to the *p*-substrate resulting in the degradation of the device performance such as a reduction of current mobility and the stressing of wire bonds or metal contacts.

Duan et al. [74] has proposed a SJ-LDMOSFET with a double step oxide layer beneath the SJ structure that formed a step SOI layer, creating a thin SOI layer close the source and the gate, and with a thick SOI layer situated in the proximity of the drain. In this structure, a uniform lateral electric field is produced due to the linearly increment in the thickness of the SOI layer from the source to the drain.

2.5.2.3 Partial Silicon on Insulator (PSOI) SJ-LDMOSFET

The partial SOI (PSOI) SJ-LDMOSFET, shown in Figure 2.18 [75, 76], consists of a drift region with a length of L_{drift} and n- and p- pillars with widths of W_n and W_p , respectively, and with a height of h. The structure has also a small window opening in the buried oxide layer underneath the p-body and source.

The PSOI SJ-LDMOSFET was reported as a preferred solution to conventional SOI (C-SOI) SJ-LDMOSFETs [75–80]. The silicon opening in this device architecture serves as a thermal window for heat transfer from the active SOI layer to the *p*-substrate thereby reducing the self-heating effect [81, 82], but also enhancing uniform distribution of electric field in the drift region [83, 84]. However, the fabrication of PSOI structure is a major hindrance resulting in a asymmetry window size that leads to degradation of the insulating properties.



Figure 2.18: 3-D geometry of a partial silicon-on-insulator (PSOI) SJ-LDMOSFET.

2.5.2.4 Silicon on Sapphire (SOS) SJ-LDMOSFET

A SJ-LDMOSFET having a drift region length of L_{drift} with the n- and p- pillars with widths of W_n and W_p , respectively, and a height of h can be fabricated on a sapphire substrate [85] as shown in Figure 2.19. The device design is reported as a preferred solution of alleviating the self-heating effects in the DI SJ-LDMOSFET. The structure consists of a SJ layer that is fabricated on a crystal sapphire substrate. The sapphire (αAl_2O_3) substrate offers a better thermal conducting path than a silicon dioxide ($Si0_2$) because of its thermal conductivity of 0.42 W/cm-K is higher than that of the silicon dioxide ($Si0_2$) by a factor of 30 but less than the silicon by a factor of 3.7 at room temperature [86]. The silicon-on-sapphire (SOS) structure offers a better thermal and RF characteristics with a higher breakdown capability than the SOI and the PSOI devices. However, in comparison with the SOI structures, the SOS devices are costly, susceptible to a lower carrier mobility and a higher trap density at the Si/Al_2O_3 interface [87].



Figure 2.19: 3-D geometry of a silicon-on-sapphire (SOS) SJ-LDMOSFET.

2.5.2.5 SJ/RESURF LDMOSFET

The superjunction (SJ) RESURF LDMOSFET [88] splits the drift region into two distinct portions with an equal pillar height of h as shown in Figure 2.20. The first part consists of a SJ structure with a set of alternating and heavily doped n- and p- pillars having equal doping concentrations of $n_n = n_p$ with W_n and W_p as their corresponding widths and a drift length of L_{d1} , respectively. The second part is a RESURF region having a doping concentration of n_R and a drift length of L_{d2} that terminates at the drain contact. The two regions are fabricated on the p-substrate such that n_R is less than $n_n = n_p$, and L_{d1} is greater than L_{d2} . Interaction between the SJ region and a substrate can be alleviated by using a lightly doped p-substrate. Metal field plates that extends over the oxide layer from the gate to the drain are incorporated to mitigate electric field crowding under the gate and the drain. The RESURF drift region length plays a major factor in achieving a low specific on-resistance in the device. The drift region should be minimised for optimum performance, since a higher L_{d2} will increase the substrate-assisted depletion and degrade the breakdown voltage of the structure.



Figure 2.20: 3-D geometry of a super-junction (SJ) RESURF LDMOSFET.

In order to satisfy the RESURF condition as expressed by [88]:

$$n_n \cdot W_n = n_p \cdot W_p = n_R \cdot h = 2 \times 10^{12} \ cm^{-2}$$
 (2.40)

the doping concentrations and the drift length of the SJ layer and the RESURF should be optimised so that the whole drift region is full depleted. The fully depleted drift region will enhance a uniform electric field distribution in the device that will achieve a high breakdown voltage and a low specific on-resistance.

2.6 Trade-Off Between Breakdown Voltage and Specific On-Resistance

One of the main objective of SJ transistor architecture is to achieve the lowest specific on-resistance and the highest breakdown voltage. Since the breakdown voltage (BV) decreases with the increase in the doping concentration of the drift region, any reduction in the doping concentration of a drift region will result in an increase in the on-resistance. Therefore, there is a need to find an acceptable trade-off between the BV and the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ of the device. Several transistor architecture designs have been proposed to improve the relationship between BVand $R_{on,sp}$. Figure 2.21 shows a relationship between the BV and the specific onresistance of various conventional power MOSFETs in comparison with the latest SJ-LDMOS transistor. The theoretical limit given by a bulk silicon is also shown for comparison.



Figure 2.21: Specific on-resistance as a function of the breakdown voltage for different power MOSFETs technologies (simulated and fabricated) [89–98]. The theoretical limit given by a bulk silicon is also shown for comparison.

2.7 Trench Gate Power MOSFET

The trench gate power MOSFET has become known as one of the universal semiconductor devices, having be able to defied all logics that a MOSFET could only be fabricated effectively on the surface of a silicon wafer, and certainly not along the vertically etched trench side-wall [99]. Trench fabrication technology has grown over the years from a small scale venture to a large scale commercial enterprise with huge investments running into billion of dollars [99]. The trench gate MOSFET has been utilised for a wide-range of applications in the semiconductor technology such as the lateral trench MOSFETs and power integrated circuits [100], the trench IGBTs [101, 102], and the trench SJ MOSFETs [103–106].

2.7.1 Trench Gate Lateral Super-Junction (SJ) Power MOSFETs

The SJ concept has been employed to achieve a high BV and a low specific onresistance. However, the implementation of the lateral SJ transistor technology for low voltage (< 200 V) applications has not been attractive due to the fact that the channel resistance becomes comparable to the drift resistance at a low voltage ratings. Because a conventional planar gate SJ-LDMOSFET consists of a heavily doped alternating n- and p- pillars with the pillar widths of W_n and W_p in a SJ drift region length of L_d , a specific on-resistance ($R_{on,sp}$) (neglecting the built-in depletion region and assuming the on-resistance is dominated by the drift region) can be expressed as [37]:

$$R_{on,sp} = K \cdot L_d^2 \cdot \frac{W_n}{n_n \cdot h_{n-pillar}}$$
(2.41)

where

$$K = \frac{2}{q \cdot \mu_{ns}} \tag{2.42}$$

where n_n is the doping concentration of the n- pillar, $h_{n-pillar}$ is the height of n- pillar, μ_{ns} is the electron mobility, and q is the electronic charge. $R_{on,sp}$ in Equation (2.41) can be minimised by increasing the doping concentration of the n-pillar (n_n) , reducing the n-pillar widths (W_n) , or increasing the height $(h_{n-pillar})$.

Further, a narrowing of n-pillar width will lead to the space charge region within the SJ drift unit becoming similar to the built-in depletion region. Therefore, the only effective way of minimising the $R_{on,sp}$ is to increase the pillar height. However, it has been reported [104] that the specific on-resistance of a conventional SJ-LDMOS transistor barely decreases with increases in the pillar height because of a large concentration of electron current crowding at the top surface of the n- pillar. This large current crowding at the top surface increases a channel resistance in the planar gate structure of the SJ-LDMOS transistor. Consequently, the $R_{on,sp}$ for a low voltage SJ device is strongly dependent on the channel resistance and not only on the doping concentration of the n- pillar.

In order to overcome the dominance of the channel resistance in a low voltage SJ-LDMOS transistor, a non-planar gate structure has been suggested [104–106]. The non-planar gate SJ-LDMOS transistor uses an embedded trench gate to redistribute electron current crowding near the top surface of the n- pillar and, subsequently, reduces the channel resistance in the device.

In Chapters 4 and 5, the design, optimisation and scaling of a complementary metaloxide-semiconductor CMOS-compatible lateral super-junction multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) based on a SOI technology will be examined as a preferred solution in alleviating the predominance of channel resistance during the application of a low voltage. Concomitantly, the relationship between the breakdown voltage and the specific on-resistance in the device is improved.

2.8 References

- S. Dimitrijev. Principles of semiconductor devices. Oxford University Press, USA, 2006 (cit. on pp. 10, 11, 13, 14, 16).
- [2] D. A. Neamen. Semiconductor physics and devices: basic principles. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, 2012 (cit. on pp. 10–12, 16–18, 20, 21).
- [3] R. A. Hastings and R. A. Hastings. *The art of analog layout*. Vol. 2. Pearson Prentice Hall New Jersey, 2006 (cit. on p. 11).
- C. K. Sarkar. Technology Computer Aided Design: Simulation for VLSI MOS-FET. CRC Press, 2013 (cit. on p. 11).
- [5] V. Barkhordarian. "Power MOSFET Basics, International Rectifier". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* (1990) (cit. on p. 12).
- [6] T. Ytterdal, Y. Cheng, and T. A. Fjeldly. Device modeling for analog and RF CMOS circuit design. John Wiley & Sons, 2003 (cit. on p. 14).
- B. J. Baliga. Fundamentals of power semiconductor devices. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010 (cit. on pp. 14, 15, 18–21, 24, 25).
- [8] N. Baker, S. Munk-Nielsen, M. Liserre, and F. Iannuzzo. "Online junction temperature measurement via internal gate resistance during turn-on". In: 2014 16th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications. IEEE. 2014, pp. 1–10 (cit. on p. 15).
- [9] B. E. Taylor. *Power MOSFET design*. Wiley Chichester, UK, 1993 (cit. on p. 15).
- [10] K. Mordi, H. Mhiesan, J. Umuhoza, M. M. Hossain, C. Farnell, and H. A. Mantooth. "Comparative Analysis of Silicon Carbide and Silicon Switching Devices for Multilevel Cascaded H-Bridge Inverter Application with Battery Energy storage". In: 2018 9th IEEE International Symposium on Power Electronics for Distributed Generation Systems (PEDG). IEEE. 2018, pp. 1–5 (cit. on p. 20).
- [11] Y. Zhang, J. He, S. Padmanaban, and D. M. Ionel. "Transistor-Clamped Multilevel H-Bridge Inverter in Si and SiC Hybrid Configuration for High-Efficiency Photovoltaic Applications". In: 2018 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE). IEEE. 2018, pp. 2536–2542 (cit. on p. 20).
- [12] V. M. Antunes, V F. Pires, and J. F. A. Silva. "Narrow pulse elimination PWM for multilevel digital audio power amplifiers using two cascaded Hbridges as a nine-level converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 22.2 (2007), pp. 425–434 (cit. on p. 20).
- [13] S. C. Sun and J. D. Plummer. "Modeling of the on-resistance of LDMOS, VDMOS, and VMOS power transistors". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 27.2 (1980), pp. 356–367 (cit. on p. 20).
- [14] D. A. Grant and J. Gowar. Power MOSFETs: theory and applications. Wiley New York etc., 1989 (cit. on p. 20).
- [15] B. J. Baliga. Advanced power MOSFET concepts. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010 (cit. on pp. 22, 23).

- [16] D. Ueda, H. Takagi, and G. Kano. "An ultra-low on-resistance power MOS-FET fabricated by using a fully self-aligned process". In: *IEEE Transactions* on *Electron Devices* 34.4 (1987), pp. 926–930 (cit. on p. 23).
- [17] G. Charitat, M. A. Bouanane, P. Austin, and P. Rossel. "Modelling and improving the on-resistance of LDMOS RESURF devices". In: *Microelectronics Journal* 27.2-3 (1996), pp. 181–190 (cit. on p. 23).
- [18] O. K. Kwon, W. T. Ng, W. Bailey, S. Malhi, and T. Efland. "An optimized RESURF LDMOS power device module compatible with advanced logic processes". In: 1992 International Technical Digest on Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 1992, pp. 237–240 (cit. on p. 23).
- [19] T. R. Efland. "Integration of power devices in advanced mixed signal analog BiCMOS technology". In: *Microelectronics Journal* 32.5-6 (2001), pp. 409– 418 (cit. on p. 23).
- [20] B. Van Zeghbroeck. "Principles of semiconductor devices". In: Colarado University 34 (2004) (cit. on p. 23).
- [21] B. El-Kareh and L. N. Hutter. Silicon Analog Components. Springer, 2015 (cit. on pp. 24, 27).
- [22] J. A. Appels and H. M. J. Vaes. "High voltage thin layer devices (RESURF devices)". In: 1979 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 1979, pp. 238–241 (cit. on pp. 25–27).
- [23] A. W. Ludikhuize. "A review of RESURF technology". In: 12th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. Proceedings (Cat. No. 00CH37094). IEEE. 2000, pp. 11–18 (cit. on p. 25).
- [24] G. P. V. Pathirana, F. Udrea, R. Ng, D. M. Garner, and G. A. J. Amaratunga.
 "3D-RESURF SOI LDMOSFET for RF power amplifiers". In: *ISPSD'03.* 2003 IEEE 15th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 2003. Proceedings. IEEE. 2003, pp. 278–281 (cit. on p. 27).
- [25] Z. Hossain, T. Ishigwo, L. Tu, H. Corleto, F. Kuramae, and R. Nair. "Fieldplate effects on the breakdown voltage of an integrated high-voltage LD-MOS transistor". In: *ISPSD'04. 2004 IEEE 16th International Symposium* on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, Proceedings. Vol. 4. 2004, pp. 237– 240 (cit. on p. 27).
- [26] J. Roig, D. Flores, J. Urresti, S. Hidalgo, and J. Rebollo. "Modeling of nonuniform heat generation in LDMOS transistors". In: *Solid-state electronics* 49.1 (2005), pp. 77–84 (cit. on p. 27).
- [27] S. Gao, J. Chen, D. Ke, and L. Liu. "Analytical model for surface electrical field of double RESURF LDMOS with field plate". In: 2006 8th International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated Circuit Technology Proceedings. IEEE. 2006, pp. 1324–1326 (cit. on p. 27).
- [28] S. M. Yang, P. Chen, and C. H. Pan. "Ultra High Voltage Device RESURF LDMOS Technology on Drain-and Source-Centric Design Optimization". In: *Appl. Math* 10.6 (2016), pp. 2183–2187 (cit. on p. 27).

- [29] M. Imam, Z. Hossain, M. Quddus, J. Adams, C. Hoggatt, T. Ishiguro, and R. Nair. "Design and optimization of double-RESURF high-voltage lateral devices for a manufacturable process". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 50.7 (2003), pp. 1697–1700 (cit. on pp. 27, 28).
- [30] F. Udrea, A. Popescu, and W. I. Milne. "3D RESURF double-gate MOSFET: A revolutionary power device concept". In: *Electronics Letters* 34.8 (1998), pp. 808–809 (cit. on p. 28).
- [31] Q. Li and Z. Li. "A new analytical model for the surface electrical field distribution of double RESURF LDMOS". In: 2006 CES/IEEE 5th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference. Vol. 1. IEEE. 2006, pp. 1– 4 (cit. on p. 28).
- [32] S. Cheng, D. Fang, M. Qiao, S. Zhang, G. Zhang, Y. Gu, Y. He, X. Zhou, Z. Qi, Z. Li, and B Zhang. "A novel 700V deep trench isolated double RESURF LDMOS with P-sink layer". In: 2017 29th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's (ISPSD). IEEE. 2017, pp. 323–326 (cit. on p. 28).
- [33] B. Yi, J. Cheng, M. Kong, B. Zhang, and X. B. Chen. "A high-voltage p-LDMOS with enhanced current capability comparable to double RESURF n-LDMOS". In: 2018 IEEE 30th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs (ISPSD). IEEE. 2018, pp. 148–151 (cit. on p. 28).
- [34] D. R. Disney, A. K. Paul, M. Darwish, R. Basecki, and V. Rumennik. "A new 800 V lateral MOSFET with dual conduction paths". In: Proceedings of the 13th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. IPSD'01 (IEEE Cat. No. 01CH37216). IEEE. 2001, pp. 399–402 (cit. on pp. 28, 29).
- [35] M. Qiao, Y. Li, X. Zhou, Z. Li, and B. Zhang. "A 700-V junction-isolated triple RESURF LDMOS with n-type top layer". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 35.7 (2014), pp. 774–776 (cit. on p. 29).
- M. Qiao, Y. Wang, X. Zhou, F. Jin, H. Wang, Z. Wang, Z. Li, and B. Zhang.
 "Analytical modeling for a novel triple RESURF LDMOS with N-top layer". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 62.9 (2015), pp. 2933–2939 (cit. on p. 29).
- [37] T. Fujihira. "Theory of semiconductor superjunction devices". In: Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 36.10R (1997), pp. 6254–6262 (cit. on pp. 30, 31, 33, 42).
- [38] R. P. Zingg. "On the specific on-resistance of high-voltage and power devices". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 51.3 (2004), pp. 492–499 (cit. on pp. 30, 31).
- [39] X. B. Chen, M. S. Towers, P. Mawby, and K. Board. "High-voltage sustaining structure with embedded oppositely doped regions". In: *IEE Proceedings-Circuits, Devices and Systems* 146.2 (1999), pp. 90–94 (cit. on pp. 30, 31).
- [40] D. J. Coe. High voltage semiconductor device. US Patent 4,754,310. 1988 (cit. on pp. 30, 31).

- [41] X. Chen. Semiconductor power devices with alternating conductivity type high-voltage breakdown regions. US Patent 5,216,275. 1993 (cit. on pp. 30, 31).
- [42] J. Tihanyi. Power Mosfet. US Patent 5,438,215. 1995 (cit. on pp. 30, 31, 33).
- [43] P. M. Shenoy, A. Bhalla, and G. M. Dolny. "Analysis of the effect of charge imbalance on the static and dynamic characteristics of the super junction MOSFET". In: 11th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD'99 Proceedings (Cat. No. 99CH36312). IEEE. 1999, pp. 99–102 (cit. on p. 31).
- [44] L. Lorenz, I. Zverev, A. Mittal, and J. Hancock. "CoolMOS-a new approach towards system miniaturization and energy saving". In: Conference Record of the 2000 IEEE Industry Applications Conference. Thirty-Fifth IAS Annual Meeting and World Conference on Industrial Applications of Electrical Energy (Cat. No. 00CH37129). Vol. 5. IEEE. 2000, pp. 2974–2981 (cit. on p. 31).
- [45] P. N. Kondekar, C. D. Parikh, and M. B. Patil. "Analysis of breakdown voltage and on resistance of super junction power MOSFET CoolMOS/sup TM/using theory of novel voltage sustaining layer". In: 2002 IEEE 33rd Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference. Proceedings (Cat. No. 02CH37289). Vol. 4. IEEE. 2002, pp. 1769–1775 (cit. on pp. 31, 33).
- [46] P. N. Kondekar and H. S. Oh. "Analysis of the breakdown voltage, the onresistance, and the charge imbalance of a super-junction power MOSFET". In: *Journal of the Korean Physical Society* 44.6 (2004), pp. 1565–1570 (cit. on pp. 31, 33).
- [47] G. Deboy, N. Marz, J. P. Stengl, H. Strack, J. A. T. J. Tihanyi, and H. Weber. "A new generation of high voltage MOSFETs breaks the limit line of silicon". In: *International Electron Devices Meeting 1998. Technical Digest (Cat. No. 98CH36217).* IEEE. 1998, pp. 683–685 (cit. on p. 31).
- [48] T. Fujihira and Y. Miyasaka. "Simulated superior performances of semiconductor superjunction devices". In: Proceedings of the 10th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD'98 (IEEE Cat. No. 98CH36212). IEEE. 1998, pp. 423–426 (cit. on pp. 32, 33).
- [49] M. A. Amberetu and C. A. T. Salama. "150-V class superjunction power LDMOS transistor switch on SOI". In: Proceedings of the 14th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and Ics. IEEE. 2002, pp. 101– 104 (cit. on p. 33).
- [50] M. H. Kim, J. J. Kim, Y. S. Choi, C. K. Jeon, S. L. Kim, H. S. Kang, and C. S. Song. "A low on resistance 700V charge balanced LDMOS with intersected WELL structure". In: *ISPSD'03. 2003 IEEE 15th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 2003. Proceedings.* IEEE. 2003, pp. 220–223 (cit. on p. 33).
- [51] C. Hu, M. Li, X. He, and W. Sun. "A review of super junction LDMOS". In: *IETE Technical Review* 28.4 (2011), pp. 327–335 (cit. on p. 33).

- [52] M. Rub, M. Bar, G. Deml, H. Kapels, M. Schmitt, S. Sedlmaier, C. Tolksdorf, and A. Willmeroth. "A 600V 8.7 Ohmmm 2 lateral superjunction transistor". In: 2006 IEEE International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2006, pp. 1–4 (cit. on p. 33).
- [53] I. Y. Park and C. T. Salama. "Super Junction LDMOS Transistors Implementing super junction LDMOS transistors to overcome substrate depletion effects". In: *IEEE Circuits and Devices Magazine* 6.22 (2006), pp. 10–15 (cit. on p. 33).
- [54] S. K. Panigrahi, U. Gogineni, M. S. Baghini, and F. Iravani. "120 V super junction LDMOS transistor". In: 2013 IEEE International Conference of Electron Devices and Solid-state Circuits. IEEE. 2013, pp. 1–2 (cit. on p. 33).
- [55] W. Chen, B. Zhang, and Z. Li. "SJ-LDMOS with high breakdown voltage and ultra-low on-resistance". In: *Electronics Letters* 42.22 (2006), pp. 1314– 1315 (cit. on p. 33).
- [56] I. Y. Park and C. T. Salama. "Super Junction LDMOS Transistors Implementing super junction LDMOS transistors to overcome substrate depletion effects". In: *IEEE Circuits and Devices Magazine* 6.22 (2006), pp. 10–15 (cit. on pp. 33, 34).
- [57] I. Y. Park and C. A. T. Salama. "CMOS compatible super junction LD-MOST with N-buffer layer". In: Proceedings. ISPSD'05. The 17th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 2005. IEEE. 2005, pp. 163–166 (cit. on pp. 33, 35).
- [58] B. Duan and Y. Yang. "REBULF super junction MOSFET with N+ buried layer". In: *Micro & Nano Letters* 6.11 (2011), pp. 881–883 (cit. on p. 36).
- [59] B. Duan, S. Yuan, Z. Cao, and Y. Yang. "New superjunction LDMOS with the complete charge compensation by the electric field modulation". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 35.11 (2014), pp. 1115–1117 (cit. on p. 36).
- [60] B. Duan, Z. Cao, X. Yuan, S. Yuan, and Y. Yang. "New superjunction LD-MOS breaking silicon limit by electric field modulation of buffered step doping". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 36.1 (2015), pp. 47–49 (cit. on p. 36).
- [61] Z. Cao, B. Duan, S. Yuan, H. Guo, J. Lv, T. Shi, and Y. Yang. "Novel superjunction LDMOS with multi-floating buried layers". In: 2017 29th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's (ISPSD). IEEE. 2017, pp. 283–286 (cit. on p. 36).
- [62] W. Wang. "SOI SJ-LDMOS with added fixed charges in buried oxide". In: 2010 International Conference on Microwave and Millimeter Wave Technology. IEEE. 2010, pp. 660–663 (cit. on p. 36).
- [63] J. Wei, X. Luo, Y. Zhang, P. Li, K. Zhou, B. Zhang, and Z. Li. "High-voltage thin-SOI LDMOS with ultralow ON-resistance and even temperature characteristic". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 63.4 (2016), pp. 1637– 1643 (cit. on p. 37).
- [64] W. L. Wang, B. Zhang, W. J. Chen, and Z. J. Li. "High voltage SOI SJ-LDMOS with dynamic back-gate voltage". In: *Electronics Letters* 45.4 (2009), pp. 233–235 (cit. on p. 37).

- [65] W. Wang, B. Zhang, Z. Li, and W. Chen. "High-voltage SOI SJ-LDMOS with a nondepletion compensation layer". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 30.1 (2009), pp. 68–71 (cit. on p. 37).
- [66] Y. Tan, M. Kumar, J. Cai, and J. K. O. Sin. "A SOI LDMOS technology compatible with CMOS, BJT, and passive components for fully-integrated RF power amplifiers". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 48.10 (2001), pp. 2428–2433 (cit. on p. 37).
- [67] W. J. Kloosterman and M. J. Swanenberg. "Modelling of high-voltage SOI-LDMOS transistors including self-heating". In: *Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices 2001.* Springer, 2001, pp. 246–249 (cit. on p. 37).
- [68] W. Zhang, Z. Zhan, Y. Yu, S. Cheng, Y. Gu, S. Zhang, X. Luo, Z. Li, M. Qiao, Z. Li, and B. Zhang. "Novel superjunction LDMOS (> 950 V) with a thin layer SOI". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 38.11 (2017), pp. 1555–1558 (cit. on p. 37).
- [69] Y. S. Huang and B. J. Baliga. "Extension of RESURF principle to dielectrically isolated power devices". In: [1991] Proceedings of the 3rd International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. IEEE. 1991, pp. 27– 30 (cit. on p. 37).
- [70] J. Roig, D. Flores, J. Urresti, S. Hidalgo, and J. Rebollo. "Heat Generation Analysis in SOI LDMOS Power Transistors". In: Science and Technology of Semiconductor-On-Insulator Structures and Devices Operating in a Harsh Environment. Springer, 2005, pp. 167–178 (cit. on p. 37).
- [71] Y. K. Leung, Y. Suzuki, K. E. Goodson, and S. S. Wong. "Self-heating effect in lateral DMOS on SOI". In: *Proceedings of International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's: ISPSD'95.* IEEE. 1995, pp. 136–140 (cit. on p. 37).
- [72] B. Cole and S. Parke. "A method to overcome self-heating effects in SOI MOSFETs". In: Proceedings of the 15th Biennial University/Government/ Industry Microelectronics Symposium (Cat. No. 03CH37488). IEEE. 2003, pp. 295–297 (cit. on p. 37).
- [73] S. K. Pandey and G. Saini. "Study of self-heating effects on fully depleted SOI MOSFETs with BOX layer engineering". In: 2017 International Conference on Trends in Electronics and Informatics (ICEI). IEEE. 2017, pp. 962–965 (cit. on p. 37).
- B. Duan, B. Zhang, and Z. Li. "New thin-film power MOSFETs with a buried oxide double step structure". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 27.5 (2006), pp. 377–379 (cit. on p. 37).
- [75] Y. Chen, K. D. Buddharaju, Y. C. Liang, G. S. Samudra, and H. H. Feng. "Superjunction power LDMOS on partial SOI platform". In: *Proceedings of the 19th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's*. IEEE. 2007, pp. 177–180 (cit. on p. 37).
- [76] Y. Chen, Y. C. Liang, G. S. Samudra, K. D. Buddharaju, and H. Feng. "Partial SOI superjunction power LDMOS for PIC application". In: 2009 International Conference on Power Electronics and Drive Systems (PEDS). IEEE. 2009, pp. 1041–1046 (cit. on p. 37).

- [77] F. Udrea, W. Milne, and A. Popescu. "Lateral insulated gate bipolar transistor (LIGBT) structure based on partial isolation SOI technology". In: *Electronics Letters* 33.10 (1997), pp. 907–909 (cit. on p. 37).
- [78] A. A. Orouji, S. E. J. Mahabadi, and P. Keshavarzi. "A novel partial SOI LDMOSFET with a trench and buried P layer for breakdown voltage improvement". In: *Superlattices and Microstructures* 50.5 (2011), pp. 449–460 (cit. on p. 37).
- [79] C. M. Tan and G. Huang. "Comparison of SOI and Partial-SOI LDMOSFETs Using Electrical–Thermal–Stress Coupled-Field Effect". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 58.10 (2011), pp. 3494–3500 (cit. on p. 37).
- [80] T. Tang. "Device design of partial-SOI SJ-LDMOS with n type charge islands". In: 2013 International Workshop on Microwave and Millimeter Wave Circuits and System Technology. IEEE. 2013, pp. 351–354 (cit. on p. 37).
- [81] D. M. Garner, G. Ensell, J. Bonar, A. Blackburn, F. Udrea, H. T. Lim, A. Popescu, P. L. F. Hemment, and W. I. Milne. "The fabrication of a partial SOI substrate". In: *Proc 9th International Symposium Silicon-On-Insulator Technology Devices*. 1999, pp. 73–78 (cit. on p. 37).
- [82] F. Udrea, A. Popescu, and W. Milne. "Breakdown analysis in JI, SOI and partial SOI power structures". In: 1997 IEEE International SOI Conference Proceedings. IEEE. 1997, pp. 102–103 (cit. on p. 37).
- [83] X. Luo, B. Zhang, and Z. Li. "New high-voltage (>1200 V) MOSFET with the charge trenches on partial SOI". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 55.7 (2008), pp. 1756–1761 (cit. on p. 37).
- [84] J. M. Park, T. Grasser, H. Kosina, and S. Selberherr. "A numerical study of partial-SOI LDMOSFETs". In: *Solid-State Electronics* 47.2 (2003), pp. 275– 281 (cit. on p. 37).
- [85] S. G. Nassif-Khalil and C. A. T. Salama. "Super-junction LDMOST on a silicon-on-sapphire substrate". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 50.5 (2003), pp. 1385–1391 (cit. on p. 38).
- [86] B. Schulz and S. Burghartz. "Thermophysical properties of sapphire, AlN and MgAl₂O₄ down to 70 K". In: *Journal of Nuclear Materials* 212 (1994), pp. 1065–1068 (cit. on p. 38).
- [87] L. E. Black and K. R. McIntosh. "Modeling recombination at the Si-Al₂O₃ interface". In: *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics* 3.3 (2013), pp. 936–943 (cit. on p. 38).
- [88] S. G. Nassif-Khalil, L. Z. Hou, and C. A. T. Salama. "SJ/RESURF LD-MOST". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 51.7 (2004), pp. 1185– 1191 (cit. on pp. 39, 40).
- [89] A. Sugi, M. Takei, K. Takahashi, A. Yajima, H. Tomizawa, and H. Nakazawa. "Super junction MOSFETs above 600V with parallel gate structure fabricated by deep trench etching and epitaxial growth". In: 2008 20th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2008, pp. 165–168 (cit. on p. 41).

- [90] P. Moens, F. Bauwens, J. Baele, K. Vershinin, E. DeBacker, E. M. S. Narayanan, and M. Tack. "XtreMOS: The first integrated power transistor breaking the silicon limit". In: 2006 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 2006, pp. 1–4 (cit. on p. 41).
- [91] R. Zhu, V. Parthasarathy, V. Khemka, A. Bose, T. Roggenbauer, G. Lee, B. Baumert, P. Hui, P. Rodriguez, and D. Collins. "A 0.25-micron Smart Power Technology optimized for wireless and consumer applications". In: ISPSD'03. 2003 IEEE 15th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 2003. Proceedings. IEEE. 2003, pp. 178–181 (cit. on p. 41).
- [92] F. Kawai, T. Onishi, T. Kamiya, H. Ishimabushi, H. Eguchi, K. Nakahama, H. Aoki, and K. Hamada. "Multi-voltage SOI-BiCDMOS for 14V&42V automotive applications". In: *ISPSD'04. 2004 IEEE 16th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 2004. Proceedings.* Vol. 4. 2004, pp. 165–168 (cit. on p. 41).
- [93] T. Kubota, K. Watanabe, K. Karouji, M. Ueno, Y. Anai, Y. Kawaguchi, and A. Nakagawa. "Cost-effective approach in LDMOS with partial 0.35/spl mu/m design into conventional 0.6/spl mu/m process". In: *ISPSD'03. 2003 IEEE 15th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 2003. Proceedings.* IEEE. 2003, pp. 245–248 (cit. on p. 41).
- [94] V. Parthasarathy, V. Khemka, R. Zhu, and A. Bose. "SOA improvement by a double RESURF LDMOS technique in a power IC technology". In: *International Electron Devices Meeting 2000. Technical Digest. IEDM (Cat. No. 00CH37138).* IEEE. 2000, pp. 75–78 (cit. on p. 41).
- [95] V. Khemka, V. Parthasarathy, R. Zhu, A. Bose, and T. Roggenbauer. "Floating RESURF (FRESURF) LDMOSFET devices with breakthrough BVdss-Rdson (for example: 47V-0.28 mΩ. cm² or 93V-0.82 mΩ. cm²)". In: International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. 2004, pp. 415–418 (cit. on p. 41).
- [96] R. Ng, F. Udrea, K. Sheng, K. Ueno, G. A. J. Amaratunga, and M. Nishiura. "Lateral unbalanced super junction (USJ)/3D-RESURF for high breakdown voltage on SOI". In: Proceedings of the 13th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. IPSD'01 (IEEE Cat. No. 01CH37216). IEEE. 2001, pp. 395–398 (cit. on p. 41).
- [97] M. Darwish, J. Huang, M. Liu, M. S. Shekar, R. Williams, and M. Cornell. "Scaling issues in lateral power MOSFETs". In: *Proceedings of the 10th In*ternational Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD'98 (IEEE Cat. No. 98CH36212). IEEE. 1998, pp. 329–332 (cit. on p. 41).
- [98] O. Trescases, W. T. Ng, H. Nishio, M. Edo, and T. Kawashima. "A digitally controlled DC-DC converter module with a segmented output stage for optimized efficiency". In: 2006 IEEE International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2006, pp. 1–4 (cit. on p. 41).
- [99] R. K. Williams, M. N. Darwish, R. A. Blanchard, R. Siemieniec, P. Rutter, and Y. Kawaguchi. "The trench power MOSFET: Part IHistory, technology, and prospects". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 64.3 (2017), pp. 674–691 (cit. on p. 42).

- [100] R. K Williams. "Beyond Y2K: Technology convergence as a driver of future low-voltage power management semiconductors". In: 12th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. Proceedings (Cat. No. 00CH37094). IEEE. 2000, pp. 19–22 (cit. on p. 42).
- [101] B. Salhi and A. Benfdila. "Recent trends in IGBT technology". In: The African Review of Physics 2.3 (2009), pp. 21–23 (cit. on p. 42).
- [102] H. R. Chang and B. J. Baliga. "500-V n-channel insulated-gate bipolar transistor with a trench gate structure". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron De*vices 36.9 (1989), pp. 1824–1829 (cit. on p. 42).
- [103] S. G. Kim, H. S. Park, K. I. Na, S. W. Yoo, J. Won, J. G. Koo, S. H. Chai, H. M. Park, Y. S. Yang, and J. H. Lee. "Fabrication of Superjunction Trench Gate Power MOSFETs Using BSG-Doped Deep Trench of p-Pillar". In: *ETRI* Journal 35.4 (2013), pp. 632–637 (cit. on p. 42).
- [104] Y. Onishi, H. Wang, H. P. E. Xu, W. T. Ng, R. Wu, and J. K. O. Sin. "SJ-FinFET: A new low voltage lateral superjunction MOSFET". In: 2008 20th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2008, pp. 111–114 (cit. on pp. 42, 43).
- [105] A. Yoo, Y. Onish, E. Xu, and W. T. Ng. "A low-voltage lateral SJ-FinFET with deep-trench p-drift region". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 30.8 (2009), pp. 858–860 (cit. on pp. 42, 43).
- [106] A. Yoo, J. C. W. Ng, J. K. O. Sin, and W. T. Ng. "High performance CMOScompatible super-junction FinFETs for Sub-100V applications". In: 2010 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 2010, pp. 488–491 (cit. on pp. 42, 43).

Chapter 3

Simulation Methodology

3.1 Introduction

The device simulation has played a crucial role in the development of semiconductor technology in terms of design, optimisation, characterisation and, most importantly, providing an insights into the carrier transport mechanisms by studying phenomena that cannot be directly analysed on real devices. The simulation process involves the implementation of numerical procedures in solving equations related to the physical model chosen to describe transport process in a device. The complexity of the selected physical model and the related time consumption to solve the model are two-fold issues to be seriously considered when selecting the physically based simulation approach. However, the continuous improvement offering fast and powerful computational resources makes these limitations greatly reduced resulting in a more accurate, reliable and high-speed non-linear and linear solution techniques.

Silvaco Atlas is a commercial physically based simulator that allows analysis and modelling of 1-D, 2-D, and 3-D semiconductor devices based on approximation models of carrier transport derived from Schrödinger or Boltzmann equation, and self-consistently coupled to Poisson's equation [1]. The Atlas simulation tool is integrated with Virtual Wafer Fab (VWF) interactive tools for effective interactive run-time environment and scientific visualisation capabilities. This chapter provides insights into a drift-diffusion transport model used in this thesis; with the procedural hierarchy of 3-D simulation techniques applied in modelling of a non-planar lateral SJ multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) [2].

3.2 Basic Semiconductor Equations

3.2.1 Gauss's Law

The Gauss's law states the relationship between charge density and the electric field within a closed surface. Assuming no time-dependent magnetic fields, the 1-D equation is given by [3–5]:

$$\frac{dE(x)}{dx} = \frac{\rho(x)}{\epsilon} \tag{3.1}$$

where E(x) is the electric field, $\rho(x)$ is the charge density and ϵ is the permittivity. Applying integral form on the above equation, the E(x) for 1-D charge distribution can be expressed as

$$E(x_2) - E(x_1) = \int_{x_1}^{x_2} \frac{\rho(x)}{\epsilon} dx$$
 (3.2)

In a 3-D closed surface, the application of Gauss's law states the divergence of the electric field as [5]:

$$E(x, y, z) = \frac{\rho(x, y, z)}{\epsilon}$$
(3.3)

3.2.2 Poisson's Equation

The Poisson's equation gives the relationship between the electric potential and the charge density in any single point of the device. In a 1-D equation, the electric field can be defined as a negative gradient of the electric potential expressed as [5]:

$$-E(x) = \frac{d\phi(x)}{dx} \tag{3.4}$$

where E(x) is the electric field and ϕ is the electric potential since the E(x) flows from a higher potential point to a lower potential point. Applying integral form on Equation (3.4) gives the expression of electric potential as [5]:

$$\phi(x_2) - \phi(x_1) = -\int_{x_1}^{x_2} E(x)dx \tag{3.5}$$

Substituting the expression for E(x) from Equation (3.4) into Equation (3.1), results in Poisson's equation given by:

$$\frac{d^2\phi(x)}{dx^2} = -\frac{\rho(x)}{\epsilon} \tag{3.6}$$

In a 3-D closed surface, the potential gradient can be expressed as:

$$\nabla \cdot \phi(x, y, z) = -E(x, y, z) \tag{3.7}$$

Expression (3.3) is substituted in to Equation (3.7) to acquire a general expression for Poisson's equation given by:

$$\nabla \cdot \phi(x, y, z) = -\frac{\rho(x, y, z)}{\epsilon}$$
(3.8)

3.2.3 Continuity Equation

The continuity equations can be derived from Maxwell's first equation by applying "div" and splitting the conduction current density into holes and electrons components, respectively. Neglecting the influence of charged defects, and assuming that all charges in the semiconductor, except the mobile carriers (electrons and holes), are not a function of time therefore [6]:

$$div(J_p + J_n) + q \cdot \frac{\delta}{\delta t}(p - n) = 0$$
(3.9)

where J_n and J_p are the electron and hole current densities, n and p are the electron and hole concentrations and q is the electronic charge. This result implies that sources and sinks of the total conduction current are completely compensated by the time variation of the mobile charge [6]. Obtaining two continuity equations will involve definition of any another quantity R in Equation (3.9). Thus:

$$div(J_n) - q.\frac{\delta n}{\delta t} = q.R \tag{3.10}$$

$$div(J_p) + q.\frac{\delta p}{\delta t} = -q.R \tag{3.11}$$

where R is the net generation or recombination of electrons and holes, which could be

positive (recombination) or negative (generation), respectively. The 3-D continuity equations for electrons and holes are expressed as [7]

$$\frac{\delta n}{\delta t} = \frac{1}{q} \left(\frac{\delta J n}{\delta x} x + \frac{\delta J n}{\delta y} y + \frac{\delta J n}{\delta z} z \right) - R \tag{3.12}$$

$$\frac{\delta p}{\delta t} = -\frac{1}{q} \left(\frac{\delta J p}{\delta x} x + \frac{\delta J p}{\delta y} y + \frac{\delta J p}{\delta z} z \right) - R \tag{3.13}$$

3.3 Drift-Diffusion Transport Model for Device 3-D

The Drift-Diffusion (DD) transport model was applied in most of the simulation works in this thesis. The DD transport model provides an excellent convergence with little or no computational cost. It is applicable for all technologically feasible devices, although, with the limitations of device structures well below micrometer range even the validity of DD can be substantially extended by various corrections (for example, quantum-mechanical confinement corrections). The solution of the DD model is based on the following set of equations: the current equations for electrons and holes [8–10], the continuity equation, and the Poisson's equation all given by [11]:

(1) Current equations

$$J_n = qn\mu_n E + qD_n \nabla n,$$

$$J_p = qp\mu_p E - qD_p \nabla p.$$
(3.14)

where μ_n and μ_p are the electron and hole mobility, E is the electric field, and D_n and D_p are the diffusion coefficients of electrons and holes, respectively.

(2) Continuity equations

$$\frac{\delta n}{\delta t} = \frac{1}{q} \nabla \cdot J_n + U_n,$$

$$\frac{\delta p}{\delta t} = -\frac{1}{q} \nabla \cdot J_p + U_p.$$
(3.15)

where U_n and U_p are the net generation-recombination rate.

(3) Poisson's equation

$$\nabla \cdot \epsilon \nabla V = -(p - n + N_D^+ - N_A^-) \tag{3.16}$$
where V is the electric potential, E is the applied electric field, and N_D^+ and N_A^- are the ionised donor and acceptor impurity densities.

The choice of using the DD transport model in the approach of modelling the 1 μm gate length SJ-MGFET is based on the following: (i) the dimensions of active region of the physical device on a micrometer scale, which permits an assumption of electron transport close to equilibrium (considering that the phenomena governing carrier transport depend on the characteristics as De Broglie wave-length, mean free path (MFP), and phase relaxation length (PRL) which are all related to dimensions of the physical device [12–15]); (ii) obtaining a solution for a 3-D device geometry with a simple, fast and robust transport model decribing studied properties of the physical device with no further increase in the computational costs.

3.4 Silvaco Technology Computer Aided Design

The advent of computer-aided simulations in the design of modern semiconductor technology has offered several advantages to implement complex mathematical models in physical device simulations. The computer-aided simulations can complement the experimental investigations of physical devices because the experiments can be very expensive and time consuming. Additionally, some specific variations in the design of devices can be technologically limited [6]. The technology computer aided design (TCAD) is the electronic design automation that models integrated circuit (IC) fabrication and device operation [5]. It follows a standard sequence that involves process, device and circuit simulation tools, respectively [11], in implementing an appropriate methods for device exploration, design, scaling, and optimisation.

The process simulation is an interface tool that involves modelling the mathematical operations of the physical effects of IC fabrication steps to a feasible technologically design, whereas, the device simulation accounts for numerical analysis and operation of the device using physical models. Device simulation can also provide parameters that are needed to generate compact behavioural models when coupled with process and circuit simulations. The circuit simulation refers to simulation that includes elements simulated with device simulation and compact circuit models. It obtains solution by combining different levels of abstraction to model circuits in which compact models for such devices are unavailable or sufficiently defined.

The Silvaco software is an interface tool to handle process, device and circuit simulations data using Athena, Atlas, and MixedMode simulators, respectively [1]. In this thesis, Silvaco Atlas is used in the modelling, scaling and optimisation of a non-planar lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET). The Atlas device simulator is capable of performing 1-D, 2-D and 3-D device simulations of semiconductor devices. It is also embedded with Virtual Wafer Fab (VWF) Interactive Tools such as DeckBuild, TonyPlot, TonyPlot3D, DevEdit, DevEdit3D, MaskViews, and Optimizer for effective capability as a one comprehensive device simulation package. The basic operational features of the Atlas device simulator are described in the following sections.

3.4.1 Meshing

The concept of having a good mesh specification poses a greater challenges in a modelling of semiconductor device structure. For accurate description of the device geometry, a mesh definition plays a crucial role in specifying nodes in a device structure for numerical simulations. The computational time required to derive a solution of a linear system resulting from a discretisation of partial differential equations on a mesh with N nodes is proportional to N^{β} , where β has a range from 2-3[1]. A mesh size should be smaller than Debye length in order to resolve charge variations in space [11]. A poor mesh will leads to convergence failure, inaccurate simulation results and increase in computational time. A refined mesh should be specifying at the channel junctions, electrodes, and any region where there is high electric fields, abrupt doping or concentration profile. Mesh configuration should be fully optimised for numerical efficiency. The software employs finites element method by subdividing the simulation domain into smaller regions usually of triangular (or tetrahedral) shape and estimates the dependent variable in the subregion using polynomial approximation [6]. The Silvaco Atlas simulator allows mesh specification in 2-D and 3-D rectangular and cylindrical geometries. However, it cannot combine the two mesh specifications together as a single file structure. Mesh 2-D and 3-D editors, DevEdit and DevEdit3D, can be interfaced with a simulator to mesh rectangular and cylindrical structures. Specifying structure in rectangular 2-D geometry involves using the X and Y mesh spacings, while for cylindrical 2-D, the radial and angular mesh spacings should be defined.

3.4.1.1 Defining a 3-D Structure in Rectangular and Cylindrical Parameters

The software allows mesh definition in 3-D geometry for both rectangular and cylindrical structures. To activate a 3-D mesh generation, "MESH THREE.D" and "MESH THREE.D CYLINDRICAL" command has to be defined at the beginning of the input file for rectangular and cylindrical geometries. The command syntax for a 3-D geometry is an extension of 2-D syntax; for 3-D rectangular parameter, X, Y and Z coordinates should be specified while radius, angle and Z directions are defined for 3-D cylindrical parameter [1]. Figure 3.1 shows the 3-D geometry of the investigated 1 μm gate length non-planar lateral SJ-MGFET [2].



Figure 3.1: 3-D geometry of the investigated $1\mu m$ gate length SJ-MGFET having a width of 200 μm and a drift length of 3.5 μm .

3.4.2 Material and Model Specifications for 3-D Structure

Solid materials in Atlas are classified into three basic group namely: semiconductors, insulators and conductors. The command syntax "MATERIAL" allows user to specify classes and composition of the component into region in the device structure. Material basic properties such as band gap, electron affinity, density of states, permittivity and saturation velocities are specified in the code. Compound material can be defined in addition to a single material by specifying the composition dependent material parameters like dielectric constants, and saturation velocities. Boundary conditions such as Ohmic contacts, Schottky contacts, insulated contacts, and Neumann (reflective) boundary condition can be specified using syntax "CONTACT" in the code. Also, X, Y and Z coordinates (rectangular geometry), and radius, angle and Z directions (cylindrical) should be specified in each command syntax statement for 3-D structure. Validating a model for effective device simulation in a certain domain is costly, time consuming [16]. The inclusion of experimental data is essential for a valid model verification in the simulation. The user needs to verified the appropriate model by calibrating the simulation with experimental data. The command syntax "MODEL" enables definition of transport models such as dependence of mobility on electric field (low or high), carrier statistics, carrier generation-recombination, carrier temperature, tunnelling and carrier injection for each material statement. To define impact ionization model in the simulation, the command syntax "IMPACT" should be specified in the code. The software allows combination of two or more models for effective device simulation depending on the model compatibility chart as stated by [1]. All the physical models available for 3-D device are extension of 2-D command syntax.

3.4.3 Numerical Methods for Device 3-D Simulation

Several numerical solution techniques are provided in Atlas in computing the solutions of de-coupled, fully coupled linear and non-linear partial differential equations arising from a chosen transport model. The numerical iteration techniques are Gummel, Newton and Block iterations. The Gummel's method solves for each unknown variable in the equation while keeping the other variables constant, repeating the sequence until convergence is achieved. This method converges relatively slowly, but tolerate poor initial guesses. The Gummel method is failing when using lumped

elements or user defined current boundary conditions [1]. The Newton's method is a coupled process that solves the equations simultaneously through application of the Newton-Raphson method for determining the roots of a general non-linear equation [11]. This method is fast because it can start a very close to a true solution, and decreases quadratically from one iteration to the other. Newton's method is the default solver for DD simulations in Atlas. In practice, the Gummel and Newton methods can be combined, by taking advantage of the fast initial error reduction in Gummel's method, coupled with faster and better convergence capability in Newton's method. Block's method computes subgroups of equations in various sequences and typically used to solve a lattice heating model or energy balance equation transport model. However, there is a lot of discrepancy between the default numerical methods applied in 2-D and 3-D Atlas. The 3-D Atlas does not support the "BLOCK" iteration with respect to non-linear iteration techniques [1]. The "GUMMEL" and "NEWTON" iterations are supported for 3-D device simulations, while "GUMMEL", "NEWTON" and "BLOCK" are available for 2-D device simulations. The command syntax "METHOD" statement should be specified in the code to activate any numerical iteration techniques.

3.4.3.1 DC and Transient Solutions

Atlas provides two methods for solving DC linear sub-problems; namely direct and iterative methods [1]. The direct method is the default solver for 2-D simulations, whereas the iterative method is the default for 3-D simulations. The 3-D iterative solver consists of two linear iterative solutions. They are "ILUCGS" (incomplete lower-upper decomposition conjugate gradient system) and "BICGST" (bi-conjugate gradient stabilized). Experimental tests have shown that "ILUCGS" provides more stable current implementation than "BICGST", thus it is defined as the default iterative solver in 3-D [1]. Iterative solver can be define in the code using command syntax "METHOD" statement. Transient solutions can be computed for piecewiselinear, exponential, and sinusoidal bias functions in Atlas. These solutions are specified when a time dependent test or response is required in the device simulation. The command syntax "TSTOP", "TSTEP" and "RAMPTIME" statements should be specified to obtain transient solutions for a linear ramp.

3.4.3.2 Small-Signal AC Solution

The software also provides solution for obtaining a small signal AC analysis. Atlas computes two types of AC simulation methods; namely single and ramped frequencies. In single frequency, the solution is obtained during a DC ramp with a predetermined AC signal whereas, for ramped frequency, a linear ramp of range of frequency is applied at a DC bias point to obtain the AC signal [1].

3.4.3.3 Numerical Methods for SOI

Device simulations of SOI structure require a different choice of numerical methods due its complexity. Since the potential in the *p*-body (channel) region of SOI body has no direct contact with any electrode; a numerical convergence problem occurs when the device is biased during impact ionisation. The problem is more pronounced in isothermal DD simulations. The "GUMMEL" and "NEWTON" methods should be combined in the input file to overcome this convergence problem of poor initial guess in the command syntax "METHOD" statement.

3.4.4 Reading Results from 3-D Device Simulation

The TonyPlot and TonyPlot3D are graphical tools that enable scientific visualisation in 2-D and 3-D Atlas simulations. They can operate as stand-alone or incorporated with other VWF Interactive Tools, such as DeckBuild, or Subsystem Power Distribution Box (SPDB) [17, 18]. In 3-D Atlas, the solution log files can be plotted using the same TonyPlot as for 2-D Atlas since the are essentially also 2-D data. However, there is a disparity in units of current obtained in the two geometries. The currents are solved in Amper unit for 3-D, whereas, they are stored as Amper/micrometer unit in 2-D [1]. Structure files obtained in 3-D Atlas simulations require TonyPlot3D to be viewed [18]. Atlas also provides an option in TonyPlot3D, that allow files to be extracted, exported and save in TonyPlot's structure file. This will permits a 1-D cut-line through the simulate device structure, in order to visualise some quantities such as meshing, acceptor/donor concentration, current density, electron/hole concentration, electric field, net-doping, absolute net-doping, etc.

3.5 Breakdown Simulation in 3-D Device

A breakdown voltage in Atlas device simulations is determined when the current slightly increases above the flat shaped pre-breakdown value by a small voltage increment. To obtain a solution in a breakdown simulation can be quite challenging because a high increase in current by orders of magnitude for a small voltage bias may lead to convergence problems. The software provides some techniques that make it easy to trace the avalanche breakdown curve to the highest current values. These techniques are current boundary conditions (CDC) and compliance parameter. In the CDC, the voltages are forced while the currents are being measured by the command syntax "SOLVE" statement, whereas the compliance parameter involves limiting the current or voltage on the electrode during a device simulation. The physical models available for 3-D device breakdown simulations are compatible with 2-D simulations. In 3-D SOI MOSFET breakdown simulation, experience plays a crucial role in overcoming convergence problem during simulation. In the simulations, a denser vertical mesh is applied in the p-body under the gate and a tight lateral mesh spacing at the n-drift/drain junction in order obtain a high peak of electric field during impact ionisation as well as improving the avalanche capability during charge balanced condition. The command syntax "IMPACT" statement should be specified for impact ionisation simulation.

3.6 Electro-Thermal Modelling in 3-D Device

The effect of lattice temperature in the SJ-MGFET is investigated in this thesis aiming at providing an additional thermal conductive path in the device and to improve uniform distribution of electric field during avalanche breakdown. In the electro-thermal simulations, the effect of lattice self-heating on the mobility degradation in the device is examined due to poor thermal conductivity of silicon dioxide of the SOI technology. Atlas uses Wachutka's thermodynamic model [19] to implement lattice heat flow and general thermal environments in a simulation. This model computes the four equations consisting of the Joule heating, heating, and cooling due to carrier generation and recombination, and the Peltier and Thomson effects in the simulated device as given by [19]. In 3-D Atlas, the "thermal3D" simulation model is specified to account for the modelling of lattice temperature in time and space invariant in the structure. This model iterative solver considers transport model equations and self-consistently coupled with a lattice heat flow equation. The Atlas simulation provides a solution to the equations of lattice heat flow as expressed by [1]:

$$\rho C_p \frac{\delta T_L}{\delta t} = \nabla (k \ \nabla T_L) + H \tag{3.17}$$

where C_p is the specific heat, ρ is the density of the material, k is the thermal conductivity, H is the heat generation and T_L is the local lattice temperature.

3.7 Calibrating SJ-MGFET Models

The calibration of the SJ-MGFET requires a simplified procedures from a 2-D silicon-on-insulator (SOI) MOSFET structure to a 3-D SOI SJ-MGFET geometry. The procedural steps of modelling a device with the Silvaco Atlas simulator [1] is shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Atlas command groups with the primary statements.

3.7.1 Modelling a 2-D Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) LDMOS

The following steps can be followed in modelling a LDMOS (Lateral Double Diffused MOSFETs) fabricated on a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) as shown in Figure 3.3. In addition, Figure 3.3 depicts the net doping concentration, simulations of the transfer (I_D-V_{GS}) and the output (I_D-V_{DS}) characteristics with the electric field distribution

during the off-state in the device. When using a commercial simulator Atlas by Silvaco, one would perform the following steps:

- Run Atlas in the DeckBuild by starting with the command: go atlas
- The structure can be defined using mesh specification as follow:

Mesh space.mult = (value)

x.mesh location = (0.0) spacing = (0.0)

y.mesh location = (0.0) spacing = (0.0)

(The value of x.mesh and y.mesh should be defined from (0.0, 0.0) to (6.5, 6.1) with appropriate spacing, denser mesh can be specified for region with abrupt junction, under gate electrode and interface between metal/oxide/semiconductor contact. For easy referencing the structure can be subdivided into regions such as source, *p*-body, *n*-drift and drain regions.)

- The structure can be specified into region with the appropriate material type and position parameters in the geometry: region num=1 x.min=0.25 x.max=6.25 y.min=0 y.max=3.6 silicon region num=2 x.min=0.0 x.max=6.5 y.min=3.6 y.max=5.6 oxide region num=3 x.min=0.0 x.max=6.5 y.min=5.6 y.max=6.1 silicon region num=4 x.min=1.0 x.max=2.0 y.min=-0.03 y.max=0 oxide region num=5 x.min=0.0 x.max=0.25 y.min=3.0 y.max=3.6 silicon region num=6 x.min=6.25 x.max=6.5 y.min=3.0 y.max=3.6 silicon
- The electrodes specification can be defined as electrode name = (name) position parameters:
 electrode name=gate x.min=1.0 x.max=2.0 y.min=-0.2 y.max=-0.03
 electrode name=source x.min=0.25 x.max=1.0 y.min=0.0 y.max=0.0
 electrode name=drain x.min=5.0 x.max=6.25 y.min=0.0 y.max=0.0
- The doping of the structure is specified with referencing to region number, analytical doping profiles such as uniform, Gaussian, or complementary error function can defined with the dopant type, dose and position parameters:
 doping uniform conc=1e15 p.type reg=3
 doping gauss n.type conc=1e20 char=0.1 lat.char=0.1 reg=1 x.r=0.75 y.min=0 y.max=2.80

doping gauss n.type conc=1e20 char=0.1 lat.char=0.1 reg=1 x.l=5.05 y.min=0

y.max=3.275 doping gauss n.type conc=1e15 char=0.1 lat.char=0.2 reg=1 x.r=4.98 x.l=1.5 y.min=0 y.max=3.4 doping gauss p.type conc=2.5e17 char=0.15 lat.char=0.1 reg=1 x.r=1.39 x.l=1.05 y.min=0 y.max=3.35 doping gauss p.type conc=2.5e17 char=0.15 lat.char=0.1 reg=1 x.min=0.25 x.max=1.0 y.min=2.85 y.max=3.35 doping uniform conc=1e19 p.type reg=5 doping gauss n.type conc=1e20 char=0.1 lat.char=0.1 reg=6 y.min=3.0 y.max=3.275 doping gauss n.type conc=1e15 char=0.2 lat.char=0.1 reg=1 x.r=5.8 x.l=0.2 y.min=2.5 y.max=3.6

- Save and import file as structure outfile = (output filename.str); save outf=SOI-LDMOS.str
- The next step is to specified the model(s), contact electrode, and interface charge between the metal-oxide-semiconductor contact:
 models fldmob, srh print (DD model)
 impact selb (impact ionisation model)
 contact name=gate n.poly
 interface qf=3e10
 (The choice of model depends on the material, structure size and type of simulation.)
- Numerical solver is selection for the simulation using solve statement: solve init method gummel newton trap maxtraps=10 climit=1e-4 ir.tol=1e-35 ix.tol=1.e-35
- The solve, load, and save statements should be specified after numerical solver:
- The results analysis is using extract, tonyplot log and structure files: tonyplot SOI-LDMOS.log tonyplot SOI-LDMOS.str
- To quit/end the simulation type the command: quit.



(a) 2-D structure of a SOI-LDMOS.



(c) $I_{\rm D}\text{-}V_{\rm GS}$ at low and high drain biases.



(e) $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ at the breakdown voltage during the device off-state.



(b) Net doping concentration in the device.



(d) $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ with a drift length of 3.5 μm .



(f) Electric field distribution at BV.

Figure 3.3: A 2-D structure of a SOI LDMOS with the transfer and output characteristics having a breakdown voltage of 58 V during the device off-state.

3.7.2 3-D Device Simulations of the SJ-MGFET

A model of the 1 μm gate length SJ-MGFET is calibrated to experimental characteristics of a non-planar lateral SJ multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) fabricated within a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology [20] by reproducing its transfer ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$) characteristics. The micrometer scale of the device dimensions implies that a drift-diffusion (DD) transport approach will be sufficient to describe carrier transport process in the device. The DD carrier transport model is carried out with different doping profiles in the SJ drift region of the device. The initial doping concentration of the *n*-pillar (n_n) is calculated from the expression given by [21]:

$$n_n = 1.41 \times 10^{12} \cdot \lambda^{7/6} \cdot \omega^{(-7/6)} \quad (cm^{-3})$$
(3.18)

where ω is the width of the n/p pillar of SJ device ($\omega = W_n = W_p$) and λ is the optimal doping coefficient ($0 < \lambda < 1$) for vertical or lateral SJ device which is $\frac{1}{2}$ or $\frac{1}{3}$, respectively. Equation (3.18) provides a value of $n_n = 7.4 \times 10^{16} \text{ cm}^{-3}$. A charge balanced simulation is carried out by varying the doping concentration of the *p*-pillar (n_p) while keeping the n_n constant until a maximum breakdown voltage is achieved. The Silvaco 3-D Atlas simulator is used to design the device geometry and doping profile in order to achieve optimal device performance in sub-100 V power applications. The carrier mobility is simulated using analytic low-field model (ANALYTIC), and parallel electric field dependence model (FLDMOB). Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) model is used for carrier generation-recombination process in the simulated device, while Selberherr model is specified for the impact ionization process during off-state simulation. The device doping profile is assume to be a gaussian doping profile specified between the source/*p*-body and the *p*-body/drain to minimise and prevents short-channel effects (SCEs). A heavily doped n^+ polysilicon gate electrode is specified with a work function of 4.12 eV defined.

Figure 3.4 shows the comparison of the $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ of the experimental and the simulated SJ-MGFET at a drain bias ($V_{\rm DS}$) of 0.1 V. The simulation in Figure 3.4 is carried out using the analytic low-field (ANALYTIC), and parallel electric field dependence (FLDMOB) mobility model depicting a good agreement with the experimental characteristics. The data validation is carried out at a $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 V$ in order to have a fair comparison with the experimental behaviour. The device simulations at elevated drain bias is investigated and analysed in Chapter 4.



Figure 3.4: Calibrated transfer $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics of the SJ-MGFET with the experimental data at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 V$ with $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5 \ \mu m$, $W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \ \mu m$, and $W = 200 \ \mu m$.

3.7.3 Simulation Flowchart for Modelling of the SJ-MGFET

The simulation is carried out with procedural steps ranging from a specification of the device mesh structure to a grid refinement. In order to avoids convergence problem and reduces computational time, a denser mesh is applied at channel, material boundaries, and p-n junctions in the device geometry. The 3-D SJ-MGFET structure is split into various regions with the electrodes, materials and doping profile specified in each region. Table 3.1 shows the physical parameters of the SJ-MGFET geometry used for the device simulations. Figure 3.5 shows a simplified simulation flowchart of the SJ-MGFET while Figure 3.6 depicts the net doping concentration (cm^{-3}) profile of the device structure.

Parameter	Value
Gate length, L_{gate} (μ m)	1.0, 0.5, 0.25
Gate oxide thickness (nm)	35, 18, 9
Channel length, L_{ch} (μ m)	0.5, 0.25, 0.125
SOI layer thickness (μm)	3.6
SJ drift region length, L_{drift} (µm)	2.5, 3.5, 4.75, 6.0 and 7.5
<i>n</i> -pillar width, $2.W_n$ (µm)	0.6
<i>n</i> -pillar doping concentration, n_n (cm^{-3})	7.4×10^{16}
p -pillar width, W_p (μ m)	0.3
p -pillar doping concentration (cm^{-3})	1.55×10^{17}
p -substrate thickness (μ m)	5.0
<i>p</i> -substrate doping concentration (cm^{-3})	1.0×10^{15}
p -body doping concentration (cm^{-3})	$2.5 \times 10^{17}, 1.0 \times 10^{18}, 1.0 \times 10^{19}$
p^+ sinker doping concentration (cm^{-3})	1.0×10^{19}
Buried oxide thickness (μm)	2.0
Top channel surface width, W_{top} (μ m)	0.6
Side channel width, W_{side} (µm)	2.7
n^+ source/drain doping concentration (cm^{-3})	1.0×10^{20}

Table 3.1: The Physical Parameters for Device Simulations of the SJ-MGFET.



(a) Formation of the active p-substrate layer underlay in a 3-D device domain.





(b) Buried oxide (BOX) deposited on the p-substrate layer.



(c) U-shaped n-pillar formed on the BOX in a 3-D device domain.



(e) Modelling of the drain contact on the BOX in a 3-D device domain.

(d) SJ drift region of n/p-pillars formed on the buried oxide layer.



(f) Formation of the source contact on the BOX in a 3-D device domain.



(g) p-body contact formation in a 3-D device domain.



(i) Gate oxide layer in the embedded trench-gate structure.



(k) Formation of the polysilicon embedded trench-gate in a 3-D device domain.



(h) Filling the deep trench isolation (DTI) with a silicon dioxide.



(j) Deep trench etching at the source and drain side contacts in a 3-D device domain.



(l) Metallisation of the source and drain contacts.





Figure 3.6: Net doping concentration (cm^{-3}) profile of the device structure.

3.8 Conclusion

In this chapter, detail description of how the Silvaco Atlas commercial device simulator can perform predictive analysis of electrical characteristics of a physical device with selected carrier transport models and obtain a numerical solution in a 2-D or 3-D structure is explained. The choice of the drift-diffusion transport model in modelling of semiconductor devices have been argued by the dimensions of the investigated device and by a need to have full 3-D device domain considered. In addition, the choice of the drift-diffusion transport model is driven by a need to simulate the 3-D device under a very large applied bias with an electro-thermal model which accounts for lattice self-heating effects by considering carrier transport of electrons and holes self-consistently coupled with thermal model. Emphasise has been made on the importance of obtaining a solution during impact ionisation modelling aiming at improving device avalanche capability and the need for effective calibration technique in achieving the best match between the experimental $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ characteristics and the simulated characteristics of a device. Conclusively, the procedures and techniques in Silvaco Atlas (2-D and 3-D) device simulation software with its predictive and insightful capabilities as an effective tool for semiconductor technology development is presented.

3.9 References

- [1] Silvaco Atlas. Atlas user's manual. 2017 (cit. on pp. 53, 58–62, 64).
- [2] O. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna. "Optimisation of lateral superjunction multi-gate MOSFET for high drive current and low specific onresistance in sub-100 V applications". In: *Microelectronics Journal* 81 (2018), pp. 94–100 (cit. on pp. 53, 59).
- [3] R. F. Pierret and G. W. Neudeck. Advanced semiconductor fundamentals. Vol. 6. Addison-Wesley Reading, MA, 2003 (cit. on p. 54).
- [4] R. Entner. "Modeling and simulation of negative bias temperature instability". In: (2007) (cit. on p. 54).
- C. K. Sarkar. Technology Computer Aided Design: Simulation for VLSI MOS-FET. CRC Press, 2013 (cit. on pp. 54, 57).
- [6] S. Selberherr. Analysis and simulation of semiconductor devices. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012 (cit. on pp. 55, 57, 58).
- S. Dimitrijev. Principles of semiconductor devices. Oxford University Press, USA, 2006 (cit. on p. 56).
- [8] J. F. Nye. Physical properties of crystals: their representation by tensors and matrices. Oxford university press, 1985 (cit. on p. 56).
- C. H. Snowden. Semiconductor device modelling. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1989 (cit. on p. 56).
- [10] M. S. Lundstrom and R. J. Schuelke. "Numerical analysis of heterostructure semiconductor devices". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 30.9 (1983), pp. 1151–1159 (cit. on p. 56).
- [11] D. Vasileska, S. M. Goodnick, and G. Klimeck. Computational Electronics: semiclassical and quantum device modeling and simulation. CRC press, 2016 (cit. on pp. 56–58, 61).
- [12] S. Datta. *Electronic transport in mesoscopic systems*. Cambridge university press, 1997 (cit. on p. 57).
- [13] M. V. Fischetti and S. E. Laux. "Monte Carlo analysis of electron transport in small semiconductor devices including band-structure and space-charge effects". In: *Physical Review B* 38.14 (1988), pp. 9721–9745 (cit. on p. 57).
- [14] T. Ouisse. Electron transport in nanostructures and mesoscopic devices: an introduction. John Wiley & Sons, 2013 (cit. on p. 57).
- [15] E. Schöll. Theory of Transport Properties of Semiconductor Nanostructures. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013 (cit. on p. 57).
- [16] R. G. Sargent. "Verification and validation of simulation models". In: Journal of simulation 7.1 (2013), pp. 12–24 (cit. on p. 60).
- [17] Silvaco Atlas. *TonyplotD user's manual.* 2016 (cit. on p. 62).

- [18] Silvaco Atlas. Tonyplot3D user's manual. 2016 (cit. on p. 62).
- [19] G. K Wachutka. "Rigorous thermodynamic treatment of heat generation and conduction in semiconductor device modeling". In: *IEEE transactions* on computer-aided design of integrated circuits and systems 9.11 (1990), pp. 1141–1149 (cit. on p. 63).
- [20] A. Yoo, J. C. Ng, J. K. Sin, and W. T. Ng. "High performance CMOScompatible super-junction FinFETs for Sub-100V applications". In: 2010 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 2010, pp. 488–491 (cit. on p. 68).
- [21] T. Fujihira. "Theory of semiconductor superjunction devices". In: Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 36.10R (1997), pp. 6254–6262 (cit. on p. 68).

Chapter 4

Optimisation of Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) for High Drive Current and Low Specific On-Resistance in Sub - 100 V Applications

4.1 Chapter Summary and Original Contributions

The LDMOS (Lateral Double Diffused MOSFETs) technology based on superjunction (SJ) design has been widely employed for various voltage applications such as domestic and office electronics appliances, automotive, military, and industrial control [1]. The super-junction (SJ) power MOSFET has shown a significant improvement in the trade-off relationship between the breakdown voltage (BV) and the specific on-resistance ($R_{on,sp}$). This is improvement is achieved with a heavily doped alternating n- and p- pillars in the drift region because the SJ design benefits from charge-compensation between these alternating n-type and p-type regions. During the off-state when the n-pillars are fully depleted, the vertical electric field component is a function of the lateral position in the drift region. In order to achieve a high breakdown voltage, the depth of the columns is increased without decreasing the doping concentration [1, 2]. Considering that an optimal doping concentration is set for a specific breakdown voltage, the n-pillar doping concentration can be increased to be inversely proportional to the pillar width resulting in a reduction of the on-resistance. This n-pillar doping concentration increase will subsequently lead to a linear relationship between the BV and $R_{on,sp}$ [2]. However, the adaptation of lateral SJ transistor technology for low voltage (<200 V) applications has not been successful due to the fact that the channel resistance in a lateral SJ design becomes comparable to the drift region resistance at low voltage ratings. This is as a result of the minimum pillar width in the SJ drift region becoming similar to the builtin depletion region. On-resistance of the minimum pillar width cannot be further reduced and design variations of the SJ transistor are thus very limited [3, 4]. In this work, the potential of a non-planar SJ silicon MOSFET technology to be used as integrated power transistor with applications in power switching and amplifiers using physically based 3-D TCAD simulations [5] is explored. The experimental characteristics of the non-planar SJ multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) fabricated within a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology [6] is analysed by reproducing its I-V characteristics and the breakdown voltage . The original contributions are as follows:

- The application of 3-D Atlas simulations to investigate variation in the device architecture and improve device performance by optimising doping profile under charge imbalance principle in the SJ unit.
- An investigation of the avalanche capability of the simulated SJ-MGFET during off-state aiming at achieving a uniform electric field in the drift region by a redistribution of electron current crowding near the top of *n*-pillar SJ unit.
- Using drift-diffusion (DD) transport models self-consistently coupled with electrothermal model to simulate and optimise device design in order to mitigate the effect of lattice self-heating during the device on-state operations.
- C-V analysis of the optimised SJ-MGFET with a small AC signal model thereby quantifying the capacitance (C) and the conductance (G) effects, respectively, to allow further optimisation of the structure to meet different applications.
- An improvement in the figures-of-merit (FoM) between the BV and the specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ of the optimised SJ-MGFET device.



Figure 4.1: 3-D geometry of the investigated 1 μm gate length SJ-MGFET having a width of 200 μm and a drift length of 3.5 μm .

4.2 Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET

The SJ-MGFET investigated in the thesis has a relatively complex 3-D design permitted by the application of non-planar SOI technology [6]. The transistor consists of a deep trench gate with a heavily doped alternating U-shaped *n*-type and *p*type doping pillars forming a drift region. The schematic of the device simulation domain with the cross-sectional views is illustrated in Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2 (all dimensions are in μ m). This transistor design follows closely the architecture of SJ-MGFETs reported in [6, 7]. The whole transistor structure is grown on a buried oxide layer to mitigate the effect of substrate-assisted depletion (SAD) [8– 10]. The SJ-MGFET has a 1 μ m gate length trenched in the channel of 0.5 μ m length, creating a top surface (W_{top}) and a side wall (W_{side}) enclosure in the channel (a non-planar technology). This forms a multi-gate structure in the channel aiming at reducing the channel resistance and redistributing electron current crowding

Optimisation of the Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET



Figure 4.2: A 2-D cross-sectional views at the locations indicated by X - X' (X=A, B, C and D) in the investigated 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET.

near the peak of the *n*-pillar in a SJ unit. The trench gate depths ranging from 1.5 μ m - 3.0 μ m in a step of 0.3 μ m is carefully examined. It is observed that the difference in the doping concentration of the SJ *n*- and *p*-pillars becomes smaller

as the trench gate depth is increased, also reported by [7]. A trench gate depth of 2.7 μ m (W_{side}) is chosen to create an effective pathway to the SJ drift region. The deep trench source and drain contacts provide an effective 3-D current density distribution in the structure that ensures uniform conducting flow with the deep trench isolation (DTI) separating each SJ unit. A different dimension of buried silicon dioxide $(Si0_2)$ ranging from 0.5 μ m to 5.0 μ m has been studied in order to minimise the effect of substrate-assisted depletion (SAD) [8, 11] and mitigate the degradation of current during self-heating. The self-heating management should ensure a good thermal conductive path for the dissipated heat in the active device region to the substrate (due to a poor thermal conductivity of $Si0_2$ (1.4 W/m-K) compared to silicon (140 W/m-K)) [12, 13]. Thus, 2 μ m is chosen as the depth of the buried oxide. The doping concentration of n- and p-pillars are n_n and n_p with W_n and W_p their widths of 0.3 μ m, respectively. The peak doping concentrations in the *p*-type substrate and the *n*-type source/drain contact are $1 \times 10^{15} \ cm^{-3}$ and $1 \times 10^{20} \ cm^{-3}$, respectively. Note that a design of this doping profile has to prevent a current leakage and a punch-through in the device.

4.3 3-D TCAD Simulations of the SJ-MGFET

The study is carried out with a 3-D commercial device simulator Atlas by Silvaco [5] using a drift-diffusion (DD) transport approach. In the DD transport approach, the carrier mobility model plays a central role. Since electrons are the major carriers in the SJ-MGFET, the Caughey-Thomas electron mobility model [14] is employed which can be expressed as:

$$\mu_e = \mu_1 \left(\frac{T_L}{300K}\right)^{\alpha_e} + \frac{\mu_2 \left(\frac{T_L}{300K}\right)^{\beta_e} - \mu_1 \left(\frac{T_L}{300K}\right)^{\alpha_e}}{1 + \left(\frac{T_L}{300K}\right)^{\gamma_e} \left(\frac{N}{N_{\text{crit}}}\right)^{\delta_e}}$$
(4.1)

where μ_e is the doping and temperature dependent low field electron mobility, while μ_1 and μ_2 are the first and second term mobility components, $N_{\rm crit}$ is the electron concentration between μ_1 and μ_2 . N is the total impurity concentration, T_L is the lattice temperature, and α_e , β_e , γ_e , and δ_e are the doping and temperature coefficients for electrons. The following electron mobility parameters are used: $\mu_1 = 55.24$ cm²/V.s, $\mu_2 = 1429.23$ cm²/V.s, $N_{\rm crit} = 1.072 \times 10^{17}$ cm⁻³, $\alpha_e = 0.0$, $\beta_e = -2.3$, $\gamma_e = -3.8$, $\delta_e = 0.73$. All these parameters are default for the Caughey-Thomas

mobility model in Atlas [14]. Transfer $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ and output $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm DS})$ characteristics of the SJ-MGFET at different voltage ratings will be compared with the reported experimental data [6] including the breakdown voltage (BV). In addition, the degradation of the current induced by self-heating (as a result of power dissipation and a low thermal conductivity of the buried oxide layer) is also investigated. Finally, a doping profile and 3-D geometry of the SJ-MGFET are optimised to increase the BV and to minimise device specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$. In 3-D electro-thermal simulations, a heat transport equation is solved, which can be written as:

$$C\frac{\delta T_L}{\delta t} = \nabla(k \ \nabla T_L) + H \tag{4.2}$$

where C is the temperature-dependent heat capacitance per unit volume in real space, k is the temperature-dependent thermal conductivity in real space, H is the heat generation and T_L is the local lattice temperature. Placement of the thermal contacts in the device along the x, y, and z axes has been carefully examined because the choice of thermal boundary conditions determines the degree and distribution of temperature within the structure [15]. Thermal contacts are positioned at a bottom, and at the electrodes (source and drain), with all contacts set to 300 Kin order to achieve a real time self-heating effect that has occurred in measurements [16, 17]. The switching performance of the SJ-MGFET is investigated with the aim of quantifying its capacitance (C) and conductance (G) effects, respectively, to allow further optimisation of the structure to meet different applications. The capacitive behaviour of the device is a function of the inversion, depletion and accumulation states [18, 19]. The C-V characteristics in the simulations at a frequency of 1 MHz in order to quantify the junction capacitances and the doping concentration of the substrate is studied. In addition, the resultant effect of the gate-drain capacitance $(C_{\rm gd})$ and the gate-source capacitance $(C_{\rm gs})$ on the gate capacitance $C_{\rm g}$ is investigated.

4.3.1 On-State Simulations

The transfer $(I_{\rm D} - V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics of the simulated SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5 \ \mu {\rm m}$, and $W = 200 \ \mu {\rm m}$ are obtained in the on-state while maintaining the optimum charge balanced conditions of $n_n = 6.4 \times 10^{16} \ cm^{-3}$ and $n_p = 9.85 \times 10^{16} \ cm^{-3}$,



Figure 4.3: (a) Transfer ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$) characteristics of the simulated SJ-MGFET with a trench depth ($W_{\rm side}$) of 2.7 μ m and a gate oxide thickness (t_{ox}) of 35 nm in comparison with experiment data at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 \ V$. (b) Output ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$) characteristics of the SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5 \ \mu$ m, $W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \ \mu$ m, and $W = 200 \ \mu$ m at indicated gate voltages in a step of 2.0 V.

respectively. Figure 4.3 (a) compares the transfer characteristics $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ of a simulated transistor with experimental measurements at a drain bias $(V_{\rm DS})$ of 0.1 V. The simulations in Figure 4.3 (a) is carried out using the analytic low-field (ANALYTIC) mobility model only as opposed to the simulation results shown in Figure 3.4. The experimental transistor shows a linear dependence above a gate bias $(V_{\rm GS})$ of 4 V till a saturation on-set at about 12 V exhibiting a more resistive behaviour in the device

body than observed in simulations. This increase in the resistivity of the channel occurring in experimental [6] $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics is caused by the loss of a gate control because the deep trench gate fabrication is technologically limited and does not fully encompass the p-body of the device (see Figure 4.1). The simulations are in excellent agreement with experimental observations up to an elevated $V_{\rm GS}$ of 4 V. Above $V_{\rm GS} = 4 V$, the simulations show typical transistor switching characteristics when the drain current increases before reaching a saturation point ($V_{\rm GS} \sim 14$ V). Note here that the drain current is normalised per width of the non-planar transistor in order to be able to make a fair comparison with planar SJ-MOSFET technology. A threshold voltage of approximately 1.8 V has been obtained by interpolating a linear region of the $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ characteristics at a low drain bias of 0.1 V. Figure 4.3 (b) shows the output characteristics $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm DS})$ with a maximum saturation drain current over 650 mA/mm at a $V_{\rm GS}$ of 10 V at $V_{\rm DS} = 5$ V. The $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ characteristics of the simulated SJ-MGFET at drain bias of 1 V and 10 V are investigated as shown in Figure 4.4, aiming at achieving a high drive current at an elevated gate voltage. Since the electron current density distribution is limited by the channel-carrier mobility, this leads to saturation in the drain current as the gate voltage increases due to carrier-scattering mechanisms in the simulated device channel.



Figure 4.4: Transfer $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics at low and high drain biases of 1 V and 10 V in both linear and log. scales of the simulated SJ-MGFET with a trench depth $(W_{\rm side})$ of 2.7 μ m and a gate oxide thickness (t_{ox}) of 35 nm.

4.3.2 Electro-Thermal Modelling



Figure 4.5: Output characteristics of the SJ-MGFET with $L_{\text{drift}} = 3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $W = 200 \ \mu\text{m}$ obtained from the electro-thermal simulations at indicated gate voltages in a step of 2.0 V comparing simulations when the self-heating is excluded and included.

In this thesis, the effect of lattice temperature on the SJ-MGFET is investigated, and examined ways of dissipating the distributed heat in the drift region into the *p*-substrate aiming at reducing mobility degradation in the device. Figure 4.5 compares the previous on-state simulations with the electro-thermal simulations which account for the effect of lattice temperature on $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics. The heatper-Joule effect exhibits itself by the reduction of conductance in the saturation region of the drain current which is more pronounced at high drain biases. The SOI transistor architecture suffers from enhanced self-heating issues because of the low thermal conductivity of silicon dioxide. Therefore, a variation of the SOI based design when a fully deployed buried oxide (BOX) substrate in the partially depleted SOI SJ-MGFET is replaced by a partial BOX with opening under the drain is studied as illustrated in Figure 4.6(a). The partially buried oxide transistor architecture aims to provide an additional thermal conductive path for the dissipated heat to a substrate and enhance uniform distribution of electric field at breakdown. This is because the thermal window alleviates the low thermal conductivity of BOX and limits the total temperature rise in the device by allowing the heat to dissipate through the opening in the device SOI structure.



Figure 4.6: (a) 2-D schematic of the partially buried oxide with opening at the drain for $L_{drift} = 3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu\text{m}$. (b) I_{D} - V_{DS} characteristics of the electrothermal simulations comparing a transistor design with and without the thermal window for $L_{drift} = 3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$, $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $W = 200 \ \mu\text{m}$ at $V_{\text{GS}} = 10 \ V$ and $V_{\text{DS}} = 50 \ V$.

Figure 4.6 (b) shows the $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics of the SJ-MGFET with fully buried oxide (SOI technology) compared to the $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics of the SJ-MGFET which uses only a partially buried oxide (thermal window) architecture. Both I-V characteristics are obtained from the electro-thermal simulations. At a gate bias of 10 V and a drain voltage of 50 V, the current decreases about 7.5% due to the selfheating when compared to the device with an ideal heat dissipation (the ideal heat dissipation means that a lattice temperature in the whole device would be at kept at room temperature of 300 K). When the SJ-MGFET is designed using a thermal window as shown in Figure 4.6 (a); the current decrease seen in Figure 4.6 (a) is less than 3% as a result of redistribution of temperature in the substrate through the additional heat conductive path. This current decrease is relatively very small suggesting a quite limited effect of the thermal window in the transistor architecture.

4.3.3 Off-State Simulations

The effect of varying the drift region lengths on the BV is carefully examined. The SJ-MGFET architecture is redesigned and simulated with two different L_{drift} of 3.5 μ m and 6.0 μ m, respectively, during the off-state while maintaining the same trench gate depth (W_{side}) of 2.7 μ m with alternating U-shaped n/p– SJ drift region pillar width of 0.3 μ m since the charge induced by the SJ *n*-and *p*-pillars should provide a mirror symmetry of each other in order to ensure charge compensation during the off-state. However, a cross-sectional area of the *n*-pillar (A_n) is larger than that of the *p*-pillar (A_p) as shown in Figure 4.1. This leads to asymmetry in a SJ unit and results in a charge imbalance in the drift region. In order for the SJ unit to sustain a maximum voltage and achieve a fully depleted drift region before a breakdown, the total charge Q has to satisfy the relation [2]:

$$Q < \varepsilon_s(\frac{E_C}{q}) \tag{4.3}$$

where E_C is the critical electric field of silicon, ε_s is the permittivity of silicon and q is the elementary charge. In other words, the doping concentration of the p-pillar (n_p) should be greater than the n-pillar (n_n) . This will ensure that the average charge in the depleted SJ unit tends toward zero. Figure 4.7 depicts the effect of charge imbalance in the SJ unit on the BV. The variation along the drift region has no effect on the charge imbalance. This is due to the fixed ratio between cross-sectional areas of the two SJ pillars. The charge balance condition tends to shift toward the highly doped acceptor side for each dose variation in the p-pillar region. This is a result of substrate-assisted depletion effect and a volume difference between the p-pillar and the n-pillar in the SJ region.



Figure 4.7: The effect of charge imbalance on the BV in SJ-MGFET with $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $W_n = W_p = 0.3 \ \mu\text{m}$, comparing two device widths of $L_{\text{drift}} = 3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$ and 6.0 μm during off-state.

4.4 On-State Simulations For Different SJ Drift Region Lengths

The on-state simulations are carried out for various the SJ drift region lengths by varying the drift region length from 1.5 μ m to 7.5 μ m in a step of 1.25 μ m under a charge balanced condition while maintaining the same the gate length of 1.0 μ m, channel length of 0.5 μ m, and source/drain contact of 1.0 μ m/1.5 μ m, respectively. Figure 4.8 shows output ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$) characteristics of the SJ-MGFET during on-state for different SJ drift region lengths of 2.5 μ m, 4.75 μ m, 6.0 μ m and 7.5 μ m. It is observed that the SJ-MGFETs offer saturation drain current of 825 mA/mm, 715 mA/mm, 668 mA/mm and 615 mA/mm at a $V_{\rm DS}$ of 10 V with $V_{\rm GS} = 10$ V for a SJ drift region length of 2.5 μ m, 4.75 μ m, 6.0 μ m and 7.5 μ m, respectively. The drain current reduces as the drift region length increases due to the increase in the on-resistance between the source and the drain contacts.



8x10² L_{drift} = 4.75 μm V_{GS} = 2 V V_{GS} = 4 V 7x10⁴ V_{GS} = 6 V 6x10² V_{GS} = 8 V I_D (mA/mm) V_{GS} = 10 V 5x10² 4x10² 3x10² 2x10² 1x10 0 2 6 8 10 0 4 $V_{DS}(V)$

(a) $I_{\rm D}\text{-}V_{\rm DS}$ of a SJ-MGFET with a drift region length of 2.5 $\mu m.$

(b) $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ of a SJ-MGFET having a drift region length of 4.75 μm .



(c) $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ of a SJ-MGFET having a drift region length of 6.0 μm .

(d) $I_{\rm D}\text{-}V_{\rm DS}$ of a SJ-MGFET having a drift region length of 7.5 $\mu m.$

Figure 4.8: Output $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm DS})$ characteristics of the SJ-MGFET at different gate voltages for various SJ drift region lengths of 2.5 μ m, 4.75 μ m, 6.0 μ m and 7.5 μ m.



4.5 Electric Field Distribution

Figure 4.9: (a) Contour plot of the electric field distribution at the surface of the SJ-MGFET during the off-state with $L_{drift}=3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $W_{\text{side}}=2.7 \ \mu\text{m}$ under a charge balance condition. (b) Lateral electric field distribution at the surface of a drift region along the E-E' cutline between the interface of the n- and the p-pillars during the off-state under a charge balance condition with $W_{\text{side}}=2.7 \ \mu\text{m}$, $L_{drift}=3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $d_{n-pillar}=3.6 \ \mu\text{m}$.

Figure 4.9 (a) shows the contour plot of the electric field at the surface of the SJ-MGFET during off-state under a charge balance with $W_n = W_p = 0.3 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $L_{\text{drift}} = 3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$. High electric field can be observed at the gate edge under W_{top} , with n-and p- pillars mutually depleted resulting in uniform distribution of electric field in the drift region. The SJ-MGFET will undergo avalanche breakdown at the junction

between the *p*-body and the *n*-pillar when the electric field reaches a critical value, E_C , of approximately $5.5 \times 10^5 \text{ V/cm}$.

Figure 4.9 (b) shows the lateral electric field distribution at a surface during off-state under charge balance condition. The fully depleted SJ drift region shows two peak electric fields (PK₁ and PK₂) at the gate (W_{top} and W_{side}) edge and the *p*-pillar/ n^+ drain junction, respectively. The surface peak electric field at the edge of the gate electrode can be relaxed by using a metal field plate aiming at redistributing electron current crowding near the junction between the *p*-body and the *n*-pillar.

4.5.1 Potential Distribution

Figure 4.10 shows the potential distribution in the device along the A-A' cut-line during the off-state under a charge balance condition. The slope of the potential determines electric field distribution at a breakdown voltage in the SJ structure.



Figure 4.10: Potential distribution profile along the A-A' cut-line in the off-state under a charge balance for the SJ-MGFET with L_{drift} of 3.5 μ m, $W_n = W_p = 0.3 \ \mu$ m, and $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu$ m.

A breakdown of 65 V is obtained for $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $L_{drift} = 3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$ which corresponds to an average lateral electric field of 18.6 V/ μ m.

4.6 Gate Capacitance and Conductance Extractions Using AC Analysis

In the simulations, the C-V analysis is carried out with a small signal A.C response by performing a two carrier solution, thereby extracting the gate overlap capacitance and conductance in the SJ-MGFET structure. Figure 4.11 (a) shows the $C_{\rm g}$ and $G_{\rm g}$ of the device in the C-V simulation. In the on-state when the gate is reverse biased, the *p*-body area situated in the proximity of the gate is switched on to an accumulation state and the *n*-pillar is maintained in an inversion state; when the gate is forward biased, the *p*-body area changes to an inversion state and the *n*pillar switches to an accumulation state. An overall $C_{\rm g}$ of approximately 0.01 pF is achieved, which is the summation of $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$.

Figure 4.11 (b) depicts the dependence of the output capacitance $(C_{oss} = (C_{ds} + C_{gd}))$ on the drain source voltage (V_{ds}) during small-signal AC analysis at 1 *Mhz*. Drain-source capacitance (C_{ds}) is the dominant factor at drain biases of $V_{ds} < 22 V$ in which the C_{oss} is directly proportional to it. However, as the drain voltage increases beyond $V_{ds} > 30 V$; the gate-drain capacitance (C_{gd}) plays an active role in the total resultant effect of C_{oss} of the device. The SJ-MGFET exhibits $R_{on,sp}.C_{oss} = 445 \text{ m}\Omega.\text{pF}$ in the $C_{oss} - V_{ds}$ characteristics at $V_{ds} = 50 V$ which is approximately one-tenth and one-fifth of the D-MOSFET and FP-MOSFET, respectively [20].



Figure 4.11: (a) Gate capacitance and conductance plotted as function of the gatesource voltage $V_{\rm gs}$ at A.C signal of 1 MHz with $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5 \ \mu m$, $W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \ \mu m$. (b) The dependence of the $C_{\rm oss}$, $C_{\rm rss}$ and $C_{\rm ds}$ on the $V_{\rm ds}$ at small signal A.C analysis of 1 MHz.
4.7 Transient Simulation of SJ-MGFET as a Switch

Figure 4.12 shows a simple circuit which utilises SJ-MGFET as a switch with its drain terminal D connected to the supply voltage drive V_{DD} via the external resistor of R_L acting as a load resistance. The device is biased between the cut-off region and the saturation region with its source terminal S grounded.



Figure 4.12: SJ-MGFET functioning as a switch.

Figure 4.13 (a) and Figure 4.13 (b) show the SJ-MGFET turn-on simulation as a switch when the device is ramped to $V_{\rm GS} = 10~V$ and $V_{\rm DD} = 50~V$ neglecting the circuit resistance R_c and the stray inductance L_s . An external resistor of 1 $k\Omega$ is used to simulate a low load resistance path between the drain and the drive. Hence, the SJ-MGFET offers a better switching turn-off time (t_{off}) of approximately 1.0 ns compared with the planar gate double diffused MOSFETs (D-MOSFETs) ($t_{off} = 18.5$ ns) and the field-plate trench MOSFETs (FP-MOSFETs) $(t_{off} = 1.1$ ns) at the same voltage rating [20].



Figure 4.13: Switching waveforms of the SJ-MGFET turn-on simulation as a switch when the device is ramped from the cut-off region into saturation region against time (s) in a (a) linear scale (b) log. scale.

4.8 Specific On-Resistance of the Optimised SJ-MGFET

Figure 4.14 illustrates the specific on-resistance profile along the A-A' cut-line of the SJ-MGFET under a charge balance condition with $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $L_{drift} =$ $3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$. In comparison with conventional SJ-LDMOSFET technology at the same voltage rating and channel length, the SJ-MGFET offers $R_{on,sp}$ of 8.9 $\mu\Omega$.cm² and $0.204 \ m\Omega$.cm² at both the channel and the drift regions, respectively, corresponding to 88% and 56% reduction [7]. It is also observed that the simulated and optimised SJ-MGFET, unlike the conventional planar gate SJ structure, can make of use of the deep trench gate to redistribute electric field crowding near the peak of the *n*-pillar thereby reducing the channel and the drift resistances.



Figure 4.14: $R_{on,sp}$ profiles along the A-A' cut-line in the on-state for the SJ-MGFET with L_{drift} of 3.5 μ m, $W_n = W_p = 0.3 \mu$ m, and $W_{side} = 2.7 \mu$ m.

4.9 Trade-Off Between the Specific On-Resistance and the Breakdown Voltage



Figure 4.15: Specific on-resistance as a function of the breakdown voltage of the optimised SJ-MGFET at drift lenghts of 2.5 μ m, 3.5 μ m, 4.75 μ m, 6.0 μ m and 7.5 μ m are compared with the reported conventional LDMOSFETs [21, 22] and conventional SJ-LDMOSFETs [23–26].

The trade-off between the BV and the $R_{on,sp}$ for the simulated SJ-MGFET, fabricated SJ-LDMOSFET and SJ-FinFET are compared with the ideal silicon limit and with several conventional LD-MOSFETs in Figure 4.15. The simulations of the SJ-MGFET show a low $R_{on,sp}$ of 0.21 m Ω .cm² and a BV of 65 V with $d_{n-pillar} =$ $3.6 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $L_{drift} = 3.5 \ \mu\text{m}$. This leads to 68%, 52% and 15% reduction in $R_{on,sp}$ compared to the fabricated SJ-LDMOSFET, fabricated SJ-FinFET and simulated SJ-FinFET at the same BV rating, respectively. In addition, the SJ-MGFET offer the following specific on-resistances and breakdown voltages at various drift region lengths as follows: a $R_{on,sp}$ of 0.15 m Ω .cm² and a BV of 53 V with $L_{drift} = 2.5 \ \mu\text{m}$; a $R_{on,sp}$ of 0.29 m Ω .cm² and a BV of 79 V with $L_{drift} = 4.75 \ \mu\text{m}$, a $R_{on,sp}$ of 0.46 m Ω .cm² and a BV of 98 V with $L_{drift} = 6.0 \ \mu\text{m}$, and a $R_{on,sp}$ of 0.74 m Ω .cm² and a BV of 121 V wit $L_{drift} = 7.5 \ \mu\text{m}$.

4.10 Conclusion

The optimisation of doping profile of the 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET using Silvaco TCAD simulations has shown that the FoM of this non-planar transistor can be substantially improved. The drive current has increased by 41% from 380 mA/mmto over 650 mA/mm, while the off-current decreased from 4×10^{-2} mA/mm to 2×10^{-4} mA/mm, respectively [6], demonstrating a big advantage of the multi-gate device architecture to reduce leakage current. The optimisation of the SJ-MGFET doping profile gives an on-off ratio of 5×10^6 with a saturation drain current of approximately 1000 mA/mm obtained at a drain voltage of 10 V and a gate voltage of 20 V. The application of 3-D TCAD simulations of the SJ-MGFET has been able to optimise the overall device design for a better trade-off between the BV and the $R_{on,sp}$ for sub-100 V rating applications. The optimised SJ-MGFET has achieved 15% reduction in $R_{on,sp}$ from 0.25 m Ω .cm² to 0.21 m Ω .cm² when compared with a simulated SJ-FinFET at a BV of 65 V [6]. With the trench gate and optimised fullydepleted SJ multi-gate architecture, the structure can offer a superior performance in achieving a maximum breakdown voltage, a minimum specific on-resistance, and excellent FoM.

4.11 References

- F. Udrea. "State-of-the-art technologies and devices for high-voltage integrated circuits". In: *IET Circuits, Devices & Systems* 1.5 (2007), pp. 357– 365 (cit. on p. 76).
- T. Fujihira. "Theory of semiconductor superjunction devices". In: Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 36.10R (1997), pp. 6254–6262 (cit. on pp. 76, 77, 86).
- [3] Y. Onishi, H. Wang, H. P. E. Xu, W. T. Ng, R. Wu, and J. K. O. Sin. "SJ-FinFET: A new low voltage lateral superjunction MOSFET". In: 2008 20th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2008, pp. 111–114 (cit. on p. 77).
- [4] W. Saito. "Process design of superjunction MOSFETs for high drain current capability and low on-resistance". In: 2017 29th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's (ISPSD). IEEE. 2017, pp. 475–478 (cit. on p. 77).
- [5] Silvaco Atlas. Atlas user's manual. 2017 (cit. on pp. 77, 80).
- [6] A. Yoo, J. C. Ng, J. K. Sin, and W. T. Ng. "High performance CMOScompatible super-junction FinFETs for Sub-100V applications". In: 2010 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 2010, pp. 488–491 (cit. on pp. 77, 78, 81, 83, 97).
- [7] A. Yoo, Y. Onish, E. Xu, and W. T. Ng. "A low-voltage lateral SJ-FinFET with deep-trench p-drift region". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 30.8 (2009), pp. 858–860 (cit. on pp. 78, 80, 95).
- [8] Y. S. Huang and B. J. Baliga. "Extension of RESURF principle to dielectrically isolated power devices". In: [1991] Proceedings of the 3rd International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. IEEE. 1991, pp. 27– 30 (cit. on pp. 78, 80).
- [9] W. Zhang, Z. Zhan, Y. Yu, S. Cheng, Y. Gu, S. Zhang, X. Luo, Z. Li, M. Qiao, Z. Li, and B. Zhang. "Novel superjunction LDMOS (> 950 V) with a thin layer SOI". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 38.11 (2017), pp. 1555–1558 (cit. on p. 78).
- [10] S. G Nassif-Khalil and C. A. T. Salama. "Super-junction LDMOST on a silicon-on-sapphire substrate". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 50.5 (2003), pp. 1385–1391 (cit. on p. 78).
- [11] P. M. Shenoy, A. Bhalla, and G. M. Dolny. "Analysis of the effect of charge imbalance on the static and dynamic characteristics of the super junction MOSFET". In: 11th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD'99 Proceedings (Cat. No. 99CH36312). IEEE. 1999, pp. 99–102 (cit. on p. 80).
- [12] B. Cole and S. Parke. "A method to overcome self-heating effects in SOI MOSFETs". In: Proceedings of the 15th Biennial University/Government/ Industry Microelectronics Symposium (Cat. No. 03CH37488). IEEE. 2003, pp. 295–297 (cit. on p. 80).

- [13] S. K. Pandey and G. Saini. "Study of self-heating effects on fully depleted SOI MOSFETs with BOX layer engineering". In: 2017 International Conference on Trends in Electronics and Informatics (ICEI). IEEE. 2017, pp. 962–965 (cit. on p. 80).
- [14] D. M. Caughey and R. E. Thomas. "Carrier mobilities in silicon empirically related to doping and field". In: *Proceedings of the IEEE* 55.12 (1967), pp. 2192–2193 (cit. on pp. 80, 81).
- [15] D. Vasileska, K. Raleva, and S. M. Goodnick. "Self-heating effects in nanoscale FD SOI devices: The role of the substrate, boundary conditions at various interfaces, and the dielectric material type for the box". In: *IEEE Transactions* on Electron Devices 56.12 (2009), pp. 3064–3071 (cit. on p. 81).
- [16] L. T. Su, K. E. Goodson, D. A. Antoniadis, M. I. Flik, and J. E. Chung. "Measurement and modeling of self-heating effects in SOI nMOSFETs". In: *International Electron Devices Meeting. Technical Digest.* 1992, pp. 357–360 (cit. on p. 81).
- [17] L. T. Su, D. A. Antoniadis, N. D. Arora, B. S. Doyle, and D. B. Krakauer. "SPICE model and parameters for fully-depleted SOI MOSFET's including self-heating". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 15.10 (1994), pp. 374–376 (cit. on p. 81).
- [18] R. J. E. Hueting, E. A. Hijzen, A. Heringa, A. W Ludikhuize, and M. A. Zandt. "Gate-drain charge analysis for switching in power trench MOS-FETs". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 51.8 (2004), pp. 1323–1330 (cit. on p. 81).
- [19] R. K. Williams, M. N. Darwish, R. A. Blanchard, R. Siemieniec, P. Rutter, and Y. Kawaguchi. "The trench power MOSFET: Part IHistory, technology, and prospects". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 64.3 (2017), pp. 674–691 (cit. on p. 81).
- [20] K. Kobayashi, M. Sudo, and I. Omura. "Structure-based capacitance modeling and power loss analysis for the latest high-performance slant field-plate trench MOSFET". In: Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 57.4S (2018), 04FR14 (cit. on pp. 91, 93).
- [21] V. Khemka, V. Parthasarathy, R. Zhu, and T. Bose A .and Roggenbauer. "Floating RESURF (FRESURF) LDMOSFET devices with breakthrough BVdss-Rdson (for example: 47V-0.28 mΩ. cm² or 93V-0.82 mΩ. cm²)". In: International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. 2004, pp. 415–418 (cit. on p. 96).
- [22] T. Nitta, S. Yanagi, T. Miyajima, K. Furuya, Y. Otsu, H. Onoda, and K. Hatasako. "Wide Voltage Power Device implementation in 0.25 μm SOI BiC-DMOS". In: 2006 IEEE International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2006, pp. 1–4 (cit. on p. 96).
- [23] R. Zhu, V. Khemka, A. Bose, and T. Roggenbauer. "Stepped-drift LDMOS-FET: a novel drift region engineered device for advanced smart power technologies". In: 2006 IEEE International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2006, pp. 1–4 (cit. on p. 96).

- [24] S. Alves, F. Morancho, J. Reynes J. M.and Margheritta, I. Deram, and K. Isoird. "Experimental validation of the FLoating Island concept: realization of low on-resistance FLYMOS transistors". In: *The European Physical Journal-Applied Physics* 32.1 (2005), pp. 7–13 (cit. on p. 96).
- [25] G. E. J. Koops, E. A. Hijzen, R. J. E. Hueting, and M. A. A. Zandt. "Resurf stepped oxide (RSO) MOSFET for 85 V having a record-low specific onresistance". In: *International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices* & ICs. 2004, pp. 185–188 (cit. on p. 96).
- [26] J. Lin, M. Lin, and L. Lin. "Characteristics of superjunction lateral-doublediffusion metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistor and degradation after electrical stress". In: *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics* 45.4R (2006), pp. 2451–2454 (cit. on p. 96).

Chapter 5

Scaling and Optimisation of Lateral Super-Junction Multi-Gate MOSFET for High Drive Current and Low Specific On-Resistance in Sub – 50 V Applications

5.1 Chapter Summary and Original Contributions

A scaling aimed at increasing physical density of transistors per chip area, increasing switching speed, and improving power capability delivers to smaller Power Integrated Circuits (PICs) with improved efficiency thanks to technological improvements in CMOS design. The complementary advantage of device dimension reduction is a linear increase in the drive current as the channel length decreases, and the switching losses decrease as the gate capacitance decreases. In order to sustain these two benefits simultaneously and not compromising other parameters, the overall device dimensions have to be scaled down rather than the physical channel length only [1]. Scaling of LDMOS (Lateral Double Diffused MOSFETs) based on a super-junction (SJ) concept ensures a high transconductance with improved frequency response and a low specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$ for applications such as power management, domestic and office electronics appliances, automotive, military, and industrial control [2]. The two dimensional (2-D) effects of scaling of the gate oxide thickness (t_{ox}) , the buried oxide (BOX), and the silicon thickness in a short-channel (SC) ultrathin SOI MOSFETs have been reported for a better suppression of the junction leakage current and power [3, 4]. However, the scaling theory applicable to a bulk MOSFET and a single-gate MOSFET cannot be fully implemented in a SJ multi-gate MOSFET, because of the disparity in distributions of electric field as a result of the asymmetric SJ device doping profile [5–7].

In this work, the three dimensional (3-D) effects of scaling of a non-planar SJ silicon MOSFET transistor by a factor S is examined, which can be used as an integrated power transistor with applications in power amplifiers and switching. It is observed that the scaling requires a subsequent optimisation of the SJ unit. The non-planar lateral SJ multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) has been fabricated within a siliconon-insulator (SOI) technology [8]. The scaling and the optimisation of the nonplanar SJ SOI MOSFET [9] is performed by physically based 3-D TCAD simulations using a drift-diffusion (DD) transport model [10]. This SJ multi-gate (MG) FET (SJ-MGFET) is optimised using a calibration of the simulations against experimental characteristics by reproducing its I-V characteristics and the breakdown voltage (BV). Later, a better calibration with a different DD transport approach in the simulations is carried out to analyse scaling of the device dimensions in order to improve major device figures-of-merit (FoM) including a drive current, a switching capability, a breakdown voltage (BV), and a specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$. The original contributions of this works are:

- The application of 3-D Atlas simulations to scale the optimised SJ-MGFET architecture from 1 μ m gate length to 0.5 μ m, and 0.25 μ m, respectively; and to optimise a doping profile under a charge imbalance principle in the SJ unit.
- The simulation and optimisation of the scaled devices design to have a larger number of transistors per chip and a higher integration by using 3-D Atlas simulations with drift-diffusion (DD) transport models.
- C-V analysis of the scaled and optimised SJ-MGFETs with a small AC signal model thereby quantifying the gate capacitance, the output and the reverse transfer capacitances effects, respectively, to quantify improvements in the transconductance, frequency response and switching speed.
- An investigation of the device voltage-sustaining capacity of the scaled and optimised SJ-MGFET during off-state aiming at achieving a fully depleted drift region and improving the device avalanche capability during the charge balanced condition.

• An improvement in a figures-of-merit (FoM) between the *BV* and the specific on-resistance (R_{on,sp}) of the scaled and optimised SJ-MGFETs.

5.2 Device Structure of the 3-D SJ-MGFET

The investigated SJ-MGFET in this work has a complex 3-D design permitted by a non-planar technology [11] with an embedded deep trench gate and heavily doped alternating U-shaped *n*-type and *p*-type doping pillars forming a SJ drift region length of L_{drift} with a pillar height of $d_{n-pillar}$ [8]. The whole transistor structure is grown on a buried oxide layer to mitigate the effect of substrate-assisted depletion (SAD) [12–14]. This SOI SJ-MGFET has a 1 μ m gate length (L_{gate}) with a 0.5 μ m channel (L_{ch}) length underneath. The gate is deep trenched to create a top surface with a width of W_{top} and a trench side wall of W_{side} width to enclose the channel (a non-planar technology). This embedded trench gate structure ensures reduction in the channel resistance and redistribution of electron current crowding under the gate, near the peak of the *n*-pillar in a SJ unit. The trench gate depths in the structure, ranging from 1.5 μ m - 3.0 μ m in a step of 0.3 μ m is carefully investigated, and observed that the difference in the doping concentration of the SJ n- and ppillars becomes smaller as the trench depth is increased [15]. To have an effective conducting pathway to the SJ drift region, $W_{\rm top}$ and $W_{\rm side}$ of 0.6 μm and 2.7 μm are chosen in the simulations. Deep trenched source and drain contacts provide an effective 3-D uniform current density distribution in the n-pillar region with a deep trench isolation (DTI) separating each SJ unit. The doping concentrations of n- and *p*-pillars are expressed as n_n and n_p , respectively, with their corresponding widths referred to as W_n and W_p .

The schematic of the device simulation domain is illustrated in Figure 5.1 showing the 3-D geometry of the investigated 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a width of 200 μ m and a drift length of 3.5 μ m, respectively. Figure 5.2 shows cross-sectional views defined in Figure 5.1 as follows: (a) a 2-D structure of the 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having $L_{ch} = 0.5 \ \mu$ m and $L_{drift} = 3.5 \ \mu$ m with source and drain contact lengths of 1.0 μ m and 1.5 μ m, respectively, along a A - A' cutline at the middle of the *n*-pillar in the SJ unit; (b) a 2-D structure at a B - B' cutline, a midpoint of the gate length in Figure 5.1 showing the formation of the W_{top} and the W_{side} enclosure (with the $W_{top} = 2W_n$), by the embedded deep trench gate structure in the *p*-body



Figure 5.1: 3-D geometry of the investigated 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET.

region of the device; (c) a 2-D structure of the scaled 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having $L_{\rm ch} = 0.25 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{\rm drift} = 1.75 \ \mu$ m with source and drain contact lengths of 0.5 μ m and 0.75 μ m, respectively, along a cutline at the middle of the *n*-pillar in the SJ unit; (d) a 2-D structure of the scaled 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having $L_{\rm ch} = 0.125 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{\rm drift} = 0.875 \ \mu$ m with source and drain contact lengths of 0.25 μ m and 0.375 μ m, respectively, along a cutline at the centre of the *n*-pillar in the SJ unit.

The different scaling approaches in all dimensions of the 3-D device structure in the simulations is carefully examined. It is observed that a scaling of the device vertically (along the z-axis) will degrade its trench-gate design because W_{side} of the trench gate structure accounts for about 75% of the SOI body [15, 16]. A narrowing



(c) 2-D lateral view of the 0.5 $\mu \rm m$ gate length SJ-MGFET.

(d) 2-D lateral view of the 0.25 $\mu \rm m$ gate length SJ-MGFET.

Figure 5.2: Cross-sectional views at the indicated locations in the investigated 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET and a pictorial view of the proposed 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFETs.

down the buried oxide (BOX) and the *p*-substrate thickness will induce a junction leakage current, degrades the current during self-heating, and increase the effect of substrate-assisted depletion (SAD) [12, 17]. Scaling the structure along the *x*-axis will minimise the widths (W_n and W_p) of the SJ *n*- and *p*- pillars. However, the channel resistance, which play a crucial role in low voltage applications, becomes comparable to the drift resistance as a result of the minimum pillar width in the SJ drift region becoming similar to the built-in depletion region. This limits the reduction of the on-resistance due to a minimum pillar width/height ratio in the SJ unit [18]. Consequently, design variations of the SJ transistor *n*- and *p*- pillar widths are technologically limited [15, 19].

The scaling down of the 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET structure laterally (along the y-axis) by scaling the channel length, the gate length, the gate oxide thickness, and the SJ drift unit length by a factor S to shrink the gate length of 1.0 μ m to 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m is examined by the simulations in the thesis. Here, aiming at improving a major device figures-of-merit (FoM) including drive current, switching capability, BV and specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$. In the simulations, a large channel doping is employed in the scaled down structures in order to minimise the maximum depletion-layer width (W_{dm}) and suppress short-channel effects (SCEs) [20–22]. However, this has an adverse effect on the input capacitance due to an increase in threshold voltage (V_{th}) associated with a high channel doping. To maintain electrostatic integrity of the channel potential by the gate, its oxide thickness is reduced by the same factor S of 0.5 and 0.25 to compensate for a loss of gate capacitance. The peak doping concentrations in the p-type substrate and the n-type source/drain contact are $1.0 \times 10^{15} \ cm^{-3}$, and $1.0 \times 10^{20} \ cm^{-3}$, while W_n and W_p are of equal widths of 0.3 μ m, respectively.

5.3 3-D TCAD Simulations of SJ-MGFET

The study is carried out with a 3-D commercial device simulator Atlas by Silvaco [10] using a drift-diffusion (DD) transport model. The classical DD transport model is employed with analytic low-field mobility model based on Caughey-Thomas mobility model (ANALYTIC), and parallel electric field dependence mobility model (FLDMOB) along with Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) recombination.

The analytic low-field mobility model, which is the doping and temperature dependent [23] is given by:

$$\mu_{e} = \left[\mu_{1} \left(\frac{T_{L}}{300K} \right)^{\alpha_{e}} + \frac{\mu_{2} \left(\frac{T_{L}}{300K} \right)^{\beta_{e}} - \mu_{1} \left(\frac{T_{L}}{300K} \right)^{\alpha_{e}}}{1 + \left(\frac{T_{L}}{300K} \right)^{\gamma_{e}} \left(\frac{N}{N_{\text{crit}}} \right)^{\delta_{e}}} \right]$$
(5.1)

where μ_1 and μ_2 are the first and second term mobility parameters, $N_{\rm crit}$ is the electron concentration parameter at which the first term mobility parameter μ_1 changes to the second term mobility parameter μ_2 . N is the total impurity concentration, T_L is the lattice temperature, and α_e , β_e , γ_e , and δ_e are doping and temperature coefficients. The following electron mobility parameters are used: $\mu_1 = 55.24 \ cm^2/V.s$, $\mu_2 = 1429.23 \ cm^2/V.s$, $N_{\rm crit} = 1.072 \times 10^{17} \ cm^{-3}$, $\alpha_e = 0.0$, $\beta_e = -2.3$, $\gamma_e = -3.8$, $\delta_e = 0.73$. All these are default parameters for the analytic low-field mobility model in Atlas [23]. The parallel electric field dependence model [23] can be expressed:

$$\mu_e(E) = \mu_1 \left[\frac{1}{1 + \left(\frac{\mu_1 E}{v_{\text{SAT}n}}\right)^{\beta_{ex}}} \right]^{\frac{1}{\beta_{ex}}}$$
(5.2)

$$v_{\text{SAT}n} = \left[\frac{\alpha_{ex}}{1 + \theta_{ex}^{\left(\frac{T_L}{T_{\text{NOM}n}}\right)}}\right]$$
(5.3)

where $v_{\text{SAT}n}$ is the saturation velocity for electron, μ_1 is the first term low-field electron mobility, E is the parallel electric field, T_L is the lattice temperature, while β_{ex} , α_{ex} , θ_{ex} , and $T_{\text{NOM}n}$ are doping and temperature coefficient parameters specified as $\beta_{ex} = 2.0$, $\alpha_{ex} = 2.4 \times 10^7$, $\theta_{ex} = 0.8$, and $T_{\text{NOM}n} = 600$ [10]. Selberherr impact ionization model [24] used in the simulations examines the effect of charge imbalance of a doping concentration in n- and p- pillars of the SJ unit on BV when the device is in off-state. The model is based on the expression given by:

$$\alpha_n = A_n \exp\left[-\left(\frac{B_n}{E}\right)^{\beta_n}\right] \tag{5.4}$$

where E is the electric field in the direction of the current flow at a particular position in the device. A_n , B_n , and β_n are material parameters defined as $7.03 \times 10^5 \ cm^{-1}$, $1.231 \times 10^6 \ V/cm$ and $1.0 \ [10]$. The transfer $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ and the output $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm DS})$ characteristics of the SJ-MGFETs scaled down to 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m gate length are analysed. Finally, the doping profile and the 3-D geometry of the SJ-MGFET is optimised to improve the frequency response, drive current, breakdown voltage (BV), and specific on-resistance $(R_{on,sp})$.

5.3.1 Device Simulations of the 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET

The transfer $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics of the simulated 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5 \ \mu$ m, and Width $(W) = 200 \ \mu$ m are obtained in the on-state while maintaining the optimum charge balanced conditions of $n_n = 7.4 \times 10^{16} \ cm^{-3}$ and $n_p = 1.55 \times 10^{17} \ cm^{-3}$, respectively.

Figure 5.3 (a) compares transfer characteristics $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ of the experimental [8] with the calibrated drift-diffusion simulations at a drain bias $(V_{\rm DS})$ of 0.1 V. The simulation is in excellent agreement with experimental behaviour having a maximum error of approximately 0.5%. The transfer characteristics exhibit a typical transistor switching characteristics before reaching a saturation point. A threshold voltage of approximately 2.0 V is obtained at a drain bias of 0.1 V by interpolating the linear region of the $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ characteristics with a drain current normalised per width of the non-planar transistor in order to be able to make a fair comparison with the planar SJ-MOSFETs.

Figure 5.3 (b) shows the effect of charge imbalance in the SJ unit on the BV during off-state in the simulated 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET. The charge balance condition tends to shift toward the highly doped acceptor side for each dose variation in the *p*-pillar region [9]. This is a result of the volumetric difference between the *p*-pillar and the *n*-pillar in the SJ region and the substrate-assisted depletion (SAD) effect. A breakdown of 65 V is obtained for $W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{drift} = 3.5 \ \mu$ m which corresponds to an average lateral electric field of 18.6 V/μ m.



Figure 5.3: (a) Transfer $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics of the 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET showing a comparison between the experiment [8] and the simulations at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1~V$ with $L_{\rm gate} = 1.0~\mu$ m, $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5~\mu$ m, $W_{\rm side} = 2.7~\mu$ m, and $W = 200~\mu$ m. (b) The effect of charge imbalance on the BV in the SJ-MGFET with $W_{\rm side} = 2.7~\mu$ m, $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5~\mu$ m and $W_n = W_p = 0.3~\mu$ m during the off-state.

5.4 Scaling Approach and Optimisation of the Scaled down SJ-MGFETs

In order to prevent a weak electrostatic integrity in the 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m gate length (L_{gate}) SJ-MGFETs, optimisation of the doping profile is carried out aiming at achieving a maximum drive current, a lower specific on-resistance and improve the breakdown voltage of the scaled devices. Ideally, in a transistor technology, the threshold voltage decreases with decreasing channel length. However, in order to offset this threshold voltage decrease and control the SCEs, the channel doping is increased from $2.5 \times 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ to $1.0 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ in the 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET. This doping increase will also improve avalanche capability of the depleted SJ drift region during off-state. The thickness of the gate oxide (t_{ox}) is also reduced from 35 nm to 18 nm to increase the input capacitance.

5.4.1 On-State Simulations of the 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET

The transfer ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$) characteristics and output characteristics ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$) of the simulated 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5 \,\mu$ m, and W = 200 μ m are obtained in the on-state while maintaining the optimum charge balanced conditions of $n_n = 5.5 \times 10^{16} \ cm^{-3}$ and $n_p = 1.16 \times 10^{17} \ cm^{-3}$, respectively.

Figure 5.4 (a) shows transfer characteristics $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ of the optimised 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET at $V_{\rm DS}$ of 0.1 V with a threshold voltage of 2.0 V. At a $V_{\rm GS}$ of 15.0 V with a $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1$ V, a saturation drain current of 38 mA/mm is obtained, resulting in 30% increase when compared with the current reported in an experimental device [8].



Figure 5.4: (a) Transfer ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$) characteristics of the optimised 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1~V$ with $L_{\rm drift} = 1.75~\mu$ m and trench depth ($W_{\rm side}$) of 2.7 μ m. (b) Output ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$) characteristics of the 0.5 μ m $L_{\rm gate}$ SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm drift} = 1.75~\mu$ m, $W_{\rm side} = 2.7~\mu$ m, and $W = 2.46~\mu$ m at indicated gate voltages in a step of 2.0 V.

Figure 5.4 (b) shows the output characteristics $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm DS})$ of the 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET. The device exhibits a good current saturation with a flat output response at a large range of operational gate voltages. A saturation drain current over 740 mA/mm is extracted at a $V_{\rm GS}$ of 10 V with a $V_{\rm DS} = 20$ V.

5.4.2 Off-State Simulations of the 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET

Figure 5.5 (a) illustrates the relationship between the BV and the *p*-pillar doping concentration during a charge imbalance condition in the SJ unit of the 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET when the device is in off-state. The asymmetrical geometry of the SJ unit as illustrated in Figure 5.1 causes a charge imbalance to occur in the device irrespective of the scaling factor. It has been stated in Section 4.3.3 that for a fully deleted SJ drift region the total charge (Q) must satisfy the relation [18]:

$$Q < \varepsilon_s \left(\frac{E_C}{q}\right) \tag{5.5}$$

where E_C is the critical electric field of silicon, ε_s is the permittivity of silicon, and q is the elementary charge. The SJ-MGFET scaled down to 0.5 μ m L_{gate} will undergo avalanche breakdown at the junction between the *p*-body and the *n*-pillar with a breakdown of 48 V, which corresponds to an average lateral electric field of 27.5 V/ μ m for $L_{ch} = 0.25 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{drift} = 1.75 \ \mu$ m.

Figure 5.5 (b) shows $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics used to determine a BV when the optimised SJ-MGFET scaled down to $L_{\rm gate} = 0.5 \ \mu m$, and $L_{\rm ch} = 0.25 \ \mu m$ is off during impact ionisation.



Figure 5.5: (a) The effect of charge imbalance on BV in the SJ-MGFET scaled down to 0.5 μ m L_{gate} with $W_{side} = 2.7 \ \mu$ m, $L_{drift} = 1.75 \ \mu$ m and $W_n = W_p = 0.3 \ \mu$ m during the off-state. (b) The BV during off-state under a charge balance condition for the SJ-MGFET scaled down to $L_{gate} = 0.5 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{ch} = 0.25 \ \mu$ m.

5.4.3 On-State Simulations of the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET

The SJ-MGFET scaled by a factor S of 0.25 has a gate length of $L_{\text{gate}} = 0.25 \ \mu\text{m}$, a channel length of $L_{\text{ch}} = 0.125 \ \mu\text{m}$, and a drift region length of $L_{\text{drift}} = 0.875 \ \mu\text{m}$, respectively. An oxide thickness (t_{ox}) of 35 nm reduced by a factor S = 0.25 scales to 9 nm in order to maintain gate electrostatic integrity. This will also compensate for the effect of lowering V_{th} due to the narrowing of channel length and suppress the SCEs. In addition, the channel doping is increased from $2.5 \times 10^{17} \ cm^{-3}$ to $1.0 \times 10^{19} \ cm^{-3}$ to prevent a punch-through in the structure.

Figure 5.6 (a) shows transfer characteristics $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ of the optimised SJ-MGFET scaled down to 0.25 μ m $L_{\rm gate}$ with an extracted threshold voltage of 3.9 V at $V_{\rm DS}$ of 0.1 V. A saturation drain current of 72 mA/mm is achieved at $V_{\rm GS}$ of 15.0 V and



Figure 5.6: (a) Transfer $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics of the optimised SJ-MGFET scaled down to 0.25 μ m $L_{\rm gate}$ at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 V$ with $L_{\rm drift} = 0.875 \mu$ m and a trench depth $(W_{\rm side})$ of 2.7 μ m. (b) Output $(I_{\rm D}-V_{\rm DS})$ characteristics of the SJ-MGFET scaled down to 0.25 μ m $L_{\rm gate}$ with $L_{\rm drift} = 0.875 \mu$ m, $W_{\rm side} = 2.7 \mu$ m, and $W = 2.46 \mu$ m at indicated gate voltages in a step of 2.0 V.

 $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1~V$, which corresponds to 63% increase when compared with the current reported in experimental device [8]. Figure 5.6 (b) shows output characteristics ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$) of the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET at various gate voltages in a step of 2.0 V. The $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics show a current saturation up to an elevated $V_{\rm GS}$ of 6.0 V. Above $V_{\rm GS} = 6.0~V$, the vertical electric field from the gate bias increases with the drain bias increase causing a channel resistance and a drain current to be strongly dependent on the drain voltage. This strong dependence is specific to a SJ structure because current flows only through the *n*-pillar. An elevated drain voltage will cause a voltage drop across a narrow depletion region between the channel end and the *n*-pillar resulting in a shortening of the channel length. This generates a high electric field in the shortened channel leading to the increase in the drain current with a higher drain voltage. It is observed that the drain current increases in the $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics with increasing of $V_{\rm GS}$ compared to the 1 μ m gate length device structure with a thicker oxide. However, despite a strengthening of a gate control by the oxide thickness reduction and aggressive doping in the channel, the SCEs occur in the scaled 0.25 μ m gate length device, especially at higher $V_{\rm GS}$ s. This is partially a result of increasing effect of the drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL) at very large applied drain voltages [25–27].

5.4.4 Off-State Simulations of the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET

The dependence of the BV on the p-pillar doping concentration during charge imbalance is plotted in Figure 5.7 (a) for the SJ-MGFET scaled down to the 0.25 μ m gate length, when the device is in off-state.



Figure 5.7: (a) A relationship between the BV and the *p*-pillar doping concentration during charge imbalance in the SJ unit when the device is scaled down to 0.25 μ m L_{gate} with $W_{\text{side}} = 2.7 \ \mu$ m, $L_{\text{drift}} = 0.875 \ \mu$ m and $W_n = W_p = 0.3 \ \mu$ m during the off-state. (b) The BV during the off-state under a charge balance for the optimised SJ-MGFET scaled down to $L_{\text{gate}} = 0.25 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{\text{ch}} = 0.125 \ \mu$ m.

Figure 5.7 (b) illustrates determination of a BV of 26 V from $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$ characteristics for the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET during the off-state. An average lateral electric field in a drift region (see Figure 5.1) of the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET defined by $L_{drift} = 0.875 \ \mu$ m is approximately 30 V/μ m at a BV of 26 V. It is observed that varying the doping concentration in the SJ unit has a less effect on the BV because there is an optimal doping concentration limit per unit volume upon which the device can be optimised.

5.5 Electric Field Distribution

Figure 5.8 shows the lateral electric field distributions at the surfaces of the devices with L_{gate} of 1.0 μ m, 0.5 μ m, and 0.25 μ m, respectively, during the off-state under charge balance condition along the C - C' cutline. The electric field distribution along the C - C' cutline (the line defined along the junction between n- and p-pillars as defined in Figure 5.1) is the field at 10 nm below the surface, from the source to the drain, during the off-state under the charge balance condition. The figure exhibits two peak electric fields at the gate edge and the $p - pillar/n^+$ drain junction in SJ-MGFETs with (a) $L_{ch} = 0.125 \ \mu$ m, $L_{gate} = 0.25 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{drift} = 0.875 \ \mu$ m, (b) $L_{ch} = 0.25 \ \mu$ m, $L_{gate} = 0.5 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{drift} = 1.75 \ \mu$ m, and (c) $L_{ch} = 0.5 \ \mu$ m, $L_{gate} = 1.0 \ \mu$ m, and $L_{drift} = 3.5 \ \mu$ m.

The device avalanche breakdown occurred at the junction between the *p*-body and the *n*-pillar when electric field in all the three structures reaches a critical value, E_C , of approximately $5.5 \times 10^5 \ V/cm$. It is observed that surface electric field in the drift region (defined by the end of the channel and the beginning of the *n*-type drain doping) in each structure is relatively uniform and increases as the length of the drift region decreases. This implies that for an higher BV, more space is required for the electric field to be deployed.



Figure 5.8: Lateral electric field distribution at the surface of the drift region along the C - C' cutline defined along the junction between the n- and the p-pillars in Figure 5.1 during the off-state under the charge balance condition (a) in the SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm ch} = 0.125 \ \mu {\rm m}$, $L_{\rm gate} = 0.25 \ \mu {\rm m}$, and $L_{\rm drift} = 0.875 \ \mu {\rm m}$ at $V_{\rm GS} = 0 \ V$ and $V_{\rm DS} = 26 \ V$, (b) in the SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm ch} = 0.25 \ \mu {\rm m}$, $L_{\rm gate} = 0.5 \ \mu {\rm m}$ and $L_{\rm drift} = 1.75 \ \mu {\rm m}$ at $V_{\rm GS} = 0 \ V$ and $V_{\rm DS} = 48 \ V$, and (c) in the SJ-MGFET with $L_{\rm ch} = 0.5 \ \mu {\rm m}$, $L_{\rm gate} = 1.0 \ \mu {\rm m}$, and $L_{\rm drift} = 3.5 \ \mu {\rm m}$ at $V_{\rm GS} = 0 \ V$ and $V_{\rm DS} = 65 \ V$.

5.6 Gate Capacitance Extractions Using



AC Analysis

Figure 5.9: Gate capacitance plotted as a function of gate-source voltage $V_{\rm GS}$ at a small signal A.C analysis of 1 MHz for (a) the 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.5 μ m and a drift region length of 3.5 μ m, (b) the 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.25 μ m and a drift region length of 1.75 μ m, and (c) the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.125 μ m and a drift region length of 0.875 μ m.

In the simulations, the C-V analysis is carried out with a small signal A.C response by performing a two carrier solution, thereby extracting the gate overlap capacitances in the SJ-MGFETs devices with L_{gate} of 1.0 μ m, 0.5 μ m, and 0.25 μ m, respectively. A gate capacitance (C_{G}) as a function of the gate bias for the three scaled device structures is shown in Figure 5.9. During the on-state, with the gate reverse biased, the *p*-body situated closer to the gate is switched on to accumulation mode which is the most pronounced in a structure with the thinnest gate oxide while at the same time maintains the *n*-pillar in inversion mode. When the gate is forward biased, the *p*-body area changes to inversion mode and the *n*-pillar switches to accumulation mode. It is observed that the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET has the most elongated penetration of the drain-to-channel depletion layer under the gate because of the shortest L_{ch} and the thinnest t_{ox} . An overall C_{G} of approximately 0.01 pF, 0.02 pF, and 0.04 pF is achieved in conformity with the scaling ratio of 1:0.5:0.25, respectively.

5.7 Bias Dependence of the Capacitance

A 3-D numerical simulation using an A.C signal at 1 MHz is investigated to shows the dependence of the output (C_{oss}) and reverse transfer (C_{rs}) capacitances on the drain voltage (V_{DS}) in the SJ-MGFETs devices with L_{gate} of 1.0 μ m, 0.5 μ m, and 0.25 μ m, respectively. Figure 5.10 depicts the dependence of output (C_{oss}) and reverse transfer (C_{rs}) capacitances on the drain voltage (V_{DS}).



Figure 5.10: The dependence of $C_{\rm oss}$, $C_{\rm rss}$ and $C_{\rm ds}$ on $V_{\rm DS}$ at a small A.C signal analysis of 1 MHz for (a) the 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.5 μ m and a drift region length of 3.5 μ m, (b) the 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.25 μ m and a drift region length of 1.75 μ m, and (c) the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.125 μ m and a drift region length of 0.875 μ m.

A non-linearity of the output and the reverse transfer capacitances (C_{oss} and C_{rs}) can be seen as a result of their strong dependence on the depletion width, in which the drain voltage plays a dominant factor. It is observed that, as the drain voltage increases in the three device structures, the gate-drain capacitance (C_{gd}) plays a major role in a total effect of C_{oss} in the devices.

5.8 Dependence of the Transconductance on the Gate Voltage

The transconductance (g_m) is extracted from the transfer $(I_{\rm D} - V_{\rm GS})$ characteristics during on-state simulations in the SJ-MGFETs devices with $L_{\rm gate}$ of 1.0 μ m, 0.5 μ m, and 0.25 μ m, respectively. Figure 5.11 shows the dependence of transconductance (g_m) on the gate voltage in the three scaled device structures at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 V$.



Figure 5.11: Transconductance of the three device structures for (a) the 1.0 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.5 μ m and a drift region length of 3.5 μ m, (b) the 0.5 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.25 μ m and a drift region length of 1.75 μ m, and (c) the 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET having a channel length of 0.125 μ m and a drift region length of 0.875 μ m.

The transconductance (g_m) per device width increases with shorter L_{ch} and thinner t_{ox} . The following maximum transconductance for three scales SJ-MGFETs has been extracted at $V_{DS} = 0.1 V$: (a) g_m of 5 mS/mm for the device with $L_{ch} = 0.5 \ \mu\text{m}$, $L_{gate} = 1.0 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $t_{ox} = 35 \ nm$, (b) g_m of 20 mS/mm for the device with $L_{ch} = 0.25 \ \mu\text{m}$, $L_{gate} = 0.5 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $t_{ox} = 18 \ nm$; and (c) g_m of 56 mS/mm for the device with $L_{ch} = 0.125 \ \mu\text{m}$, $L_{gate} = 0.25 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $t_{ox} = 9 \ nm$. The SJ-MGFET scaled down to $L_{gate} = 0.25 \ \mu\text{m}$ with the thinnest t_{ox} shows the highest transconductance resulting in a larger RF gain having an intrinsic voltage gain (A_v) of 0.16 extracted at $V_{GS} = 4.5 \ V$ and $V_{DS} = 0.1 \ V$ [28, 29]. The cut-off frequency (f_T) [30, 31] can be obtained as:

$$f_T = \frac{g_m}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot (C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd})} \tag{5.6}$$

The maximum operating frequency achieved at $V_{\rm DS} = 0.1 V$ are 0.2 GHz for the device with $L_{\rm gate} = 1.0 \ \mu m$, 0.6 GHz for the device with $L_{\rm gate} = 0.5 \ \mu m$, and 0.9 GHz for the device with $L_{\rm gate} = 0.25 \ \mu m$, respectively.

5.9 Transient Simulation of the Scaled SJ-MGFETs functioning as a Switch

The transient switching turn-on simulation is investigated by performing a two carrier solution when SJ-MGFETs with L_{gate} of 1.0 μ m, 0.5 μ m, and 0.25 μ m act as a switch in a circuit when biases between cut-off and saturation regions as shown in Figure 4.12. Figure 5.12 shows a comparison of performance of the three scaled transistors during switching turn-on simulations when the devices are operated ramped to $V_{\text{DD}} = 10.0 V$ and $V_{\text{GS}} = 10.0 V$, neglecting a circuit resistance R_c and a stray inductance L_s . Thus, the SJ-MGFETs with L_{gate} of 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m offer a switching turn-off time (t_{off}) of approximately 0.2 ns and 0.05 ns, respectively, compared with the 1 ns (t_{off}) in the SJ-MGFET with 1 μ m gate length.



Figure 5.12: Switching waveforms of the SJ-MGFET turn-on simulations with a device ramped to $V_{\rm DS} = 10 V$ and $V_{\rm DS} = 10 V$ for (a) the device with $L_{\rm ch} = 0.5 \ \mu {\rm m}$, and $L_{\rm gate} = 1.0 \ \mu {\rm m}$; (b) the device with $L_{\rm ch} = 0.25 \ \mu {\rm m}$, and $L_{\rm gate} = 0.5 \ \mu {\rm m}$; and (c) the device with $L_{\rm ch} = 0.125 \ \mu {\rm m}$, and $L_{\rm gate} = 0.25 \ \mu {\rm m}$.

5.10 Trade-Off Between the Specific On-Resistance and the Breakdown Voltage

The trade-off between BV and $R_{on,sp}$ for the simulated SJ-MGFETs scaled down to 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m gate lengths are compared with the ideal silicon limit and with various conventional LD-MOSFETs in Figure 5.13. The simulations show that the SJ-MGFET with 0.25 μ m gate length achieves a low $R_{on,sp}$ ($V_{GS} = 10 V$) of 2.24 $m\Omega.mm^2$ and BV = 26 V with $L_{drift} = 0.875 \mu$ m and the SJ-MGFET with 0.5 μ m gate length offers a $R_{on,sp}$ ($V_{GS} = 10 V$) of 7.68 $m\Omega.mm^2$ and BV = 48 Vwith $L_{drift} = 1.75 \mu$ m, respectively. The SJ-MGFET scaled to the 0.5 μ m gate length leads to 16% reduction in $R_{on,sp}$ compared to super-junction UMOSFET (SJ-UMOSFET) at the same BV rating [32], 73% reduction compared to dual RESURF (FRESURF) at the same BV rating [33], 78% reduction compared to dual RESURF LDMOS at the same BV rating [34], and 85% reduction compared to isolated low nLDMOS at the same BV rating [35]. The SJ-MGFET scaled to the 0.25 μ m gate length has $R_{on,sp}$ lower by 90% compared to isolated low nLDMOS [35] at the same breakdown voltage rating.



Figure 5.13: Specific on-resistance as a function of the breakdown voltage of the scaled down SJ-MGFET compared with reported conventional LDMOSFETs and SJ-LDMOSFETs [32–35].

The SJ-MGFET scaled to 0.5 μ m gate length offers superior performance in term of high drive current, switching speed, breakdown voltage (*BV*) and specific onresistance ($R_{on,sp}$) compared with the 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET. The combination of these fourfold benefits with the reduction in device dimensions suggests a better architecture design in achieving a larger number of transistors per chip and a higher integration. Although, the SJ-MGFET scaled to the 0.25 μ m gate length achieves the largest device dimension reduction with a vastly superior drive current and improved transconductance. However, the extreme scaling of the gate oxide thickness and decrease in the channel length limits the device voltage-sustaining capability. In addition, a fabrication of the aligned deep trenched gate structure with a small channel length within the non-planar SOI power technology is challenging, costly and technologically limited.

5.11 Conclusion

The scaling of non-planar SJ-MGFETs following conventional scaling rules [36, 37] requires a subsequent optimisation of their SJ unit. The lateral scaling and optimisation of the 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET to gate lengths of 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m using Silvaco TCAD simulations has shown that the FoM of this non-planar transistor can be substantially improved including physical density, switching speed, drive current, breakdown voltage and specific on-resistance ($R_{on,sp}$). The scaling and optimisation of the overall device design have achieved a low specific on-resistance of 7.68 $m\Omega.mm^2$ and 2.24 $m\Omega.mm^2$ ($V_{\rm GS} = 10 V$), and breakdown voltages of 48 V and 26 V for the 0.5 μ m and 0.25 μ m gate length SJ-MGFETs, respectively. The investigations have also shown that excessive channel doping in the scaled SJ-MGFETs offers no significant improvement in the device avalanche capability during charge balanced condition. With the twofold benefits of device dimension reduction and optimised fully-depleted SJ multi-gate architecture, the transistor can offer a superior performance in achieving a higher levels of integration, a maximum breakdown voltage, a minimum specific on-resistance, and excellent FoM in sub - 50 V applications.

5.12 References

- G. A. Brown, P. M. Zeitzoff, G. Bersuker, and H. R. Huff. "Scaling CMOS: materials & devices". In: *Materials today* 7.1 (2004), pp. 20–25 (cit. on p. 101).
- [2] F. Udrea. "State-of-the-art technologies and devices for high-voltage integrated circuits". In: *IET Circuits, Devices & Systems* 1.5 (2007), pp. 357– 365 (cit. on p. 101).
- J. P. Colinge. "Multiple-gate soi mosfets". In: Solid-State Electronics 48.6 (2004), pp. 897–905 (cit. on p. 101).
- [4] K. Suzuki, T. Tanaka, Y. Tosaka, H. Horie, and Y. Arimoto. "Scaling theory for double-gate SOI MOSFET's". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 40.12 (1993), pp. 2326–2329 (cit. on p. 101).
- [5] J. P. Colinge, M. H. Gao, A. Romano-Rodriguez, H. Maes, and C. Claeys. "Silicon-on-insulator'gate-all-around device". In: *International Technical Digest on Electron Devices*. IEEE. 1990, pp. 595–598 (cit. on p. 102).
- [6] T. Tanaka, H. Horie, S. Ando, and S. Hijiya. "Analysis of p/sup+/poly Si double-gate thin-film SOI MOSFETs". In: *International Electron Devices Meeting 1991 [Technical Digest]*. IEEE. 1991, pp. 683–686 (cit. on p. 102).
- [7] W. Lu and Y. Taur. "On the scaling limit of ultrathin SOI MOSFETs". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 53.5 (2006), pp. 1137–1141 (cit. on p. 102).
- [8] A. Yoo, J. C. W. Ng, J. K. O. Sin, and W. T. Ng. "High performance CMOScompatible super-junction FinFETs for Sub-100V applications". In: 2010 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE. 2010, pp. 488–491 (cit. on pp. 102, 103, 108–110, 113).
- [9] O. Adenekan, P. Holland, and K. Kalna. "Optimisation of lateral superjunction multi-gate MOSFET for high drive current and low specific onresistance in sub-100 V applications". In: *Microelectronics Journal* 81 (2018), pp. 94–100 (cit. on pp. 102, 108).
- [10] Silvaco Atlas. Atlas user's manual. 2017 (cit. on pp. 102, 106, 107).
- [11] C. Lin, J. Chang, M. Guillorn, A. Bryant, P. Oldiges, and W. Haensch. "Nonplanar device architecture for 15nm node: FinFET or trigate?" In: 2010 IEEE International SOI Conference (SOI). IEEE. 2010, pp. 1–2 (cit. on p. 103).
- [12] Y. S. Huang and B. J. Baliga. "Extension of RESURF principle to dielectrically isolated power devices". In: [1991] Proceedings of the 3rd International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. IEEE. 1991, pp. 27– 30 (cit. on pp. 103, 106).
- [13] W. Zhang, Z. Zhan, Y. Yu, S. Cheng, Y. Gu, S. Zhang, X. Luo, Z. Li, M. Qiao, Z. Li, and B. Zhang. "Novel superjunction LDMOS (> 950 V) with a thin layer SOI". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 38.11 (2017), pp. 1555–1558 (cit. on p. 103).

- [14] S. G. Nassif-Khalil and C. A. T. Salama. "Super-junction LDMOST on a silicon-on-sapphire substrate". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 50.5 (2003), pp. 1385–1391 (cit. on p. 103).
- [15] Y. Onishi, H. Wang, H. P. E. Xu, W. T. Ng, R. Wu, and J. K. O. Sin. "SJ-FinFET: A new low voltage lateral superjunction MOSFET". In: 2008 20th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's. IEEE. 2008, pp. 111–114 (cit. on pp. 103, 104, 106).
- [16] S. Katoh, Y. Kawaguchi, and A. Takano. "High channel mobility double gate trench MOSFET". In: 2014 IEEE 26th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & IC's (ISPSD). IEEE. 2014, pp. 167–170 (cit. on p. 104).
- [17] P. M. Shenoy, A. Bhalla, and G. M. Dolny. "Analysis of the effect of charge imbalance on the static and dynamic characteristics of the super junction MOSFET". In: 11th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. ISPSD'99 Proceedings (Cat. No. 99CH36312). IEEE. 1999, pp. 99–102 (cit. on p. 106).
- [18] T. Fujihira. "Theory of semiconductor super-junction devices". In: Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 36.10R (1997), pp. 6254–6262 (cit. on pp. 106, 111).
- [19] W. Saito. "Process design of superjunction MOSFETs for high drain current capability and low on-resistance". In: 2017 29th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's (ISPSD). IEEE. 2017, pp. 475–478 (cit. on p. 106).
- [20] Y. Taur and T. H. Ning. Fundamentals of modern VLSI devices. Cambridge university press, 2013 (cit. on p. 106).
- [21] B. Yu, C. H. J. Wann, E. D. Nowak, K. Noda, and C. Hu. "Short-channel effect improved by lateral channel-engineering in deep-submicronmeter MOS-FET's". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 44.4 (1997), pp. 627–634 (cit. on p. 106).
- [22] L. Chang, S. Tang, T. King, J. Bokor, and C. Hu. "Gate length scaling and threshold voltage control of double-gate MOSFETs". In: *International Elec*tron Devices Meeting 2000. Technical Digest. IEDM (Cat. No. 00CH37138). IEEE. 2000, pp. 719–722 (cit. on p. 106).
- [23] D. M. Caughey and R. E. Thomas. "Carrier mobilities in silicon empirically related to doping and field". In: *Proceedings of the IEEE* 55.12 (1967), pp. 2192–2193 (cit. on p. 107).
- [24] S. Selberherr. "Process and device modeling for VISI". In: Microelectronics Reliability 24.2 (1984), pp. 225–257 (cit. on p. 107).
- [25] A. Kumar, T. Mizutani, and T. Hiramoto. "Gate length and gate width dependence of drain induced barrier lowering and current-onset voltage variability in bulk and fully depleted silicon-on-insulator metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistors". In: Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 51.2R (2012), p. 024106 (cit. on p. 114).

- [26] M. F. Al-Mistarihi, A. Rjoub, and N. R. Al-Taradeh. "Drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL) accurate model for nanoscale Si-MOSFET transistor". In: 2013 25th International Conference on Microelectronics (ICM). IEEE. 2013, pp. 1–4 (cit. on p. 114).
- [27] S. Das and S. Kundu. "Simulation to Study the Effect of Oxide Thickness and High-K Dielectric on Drain-Induced Barrier Lowering in N-type MOSFET". In: *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology* 12.6 (2013), pp. 945–947 (cit. on p. 114).
- [28] C. K. Sarkar. Technology Computer Aided Design: Simulation for VLSI MOS-FET. CRC Press, 2013 (cit. on p. 120).
- [29] B. El-Kareh and L. N. Hutter. Silicon Analog Components. Springer, 2015 (cit. on p. 120).
- [30] S. Dimitrijev. Principles of semiconductor devices. Oxford University Press, USA, 2006 (cit. on p. 120).
- [31] B. J. Baliga. Power semiconductor devices having improved high frequency switching and breakdown characteristics. US Patent 5,998,833. 1999 (cit. on p. 120).
- [32] Y. Kawashima, H. Inomata, K. Murakawa, and Y. Miura. "Narrow-pitch nchannel superjunction UMOSFET for 40–60 V automotive application". In: 2010 22nd International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & IC's (ISPSD). IEEE. 2010, pp. 329–332 (cit. on p. 122).
- [33] V. Khemka, V. Parthasarathy, R. Zhu, A. Bose, and T. Roggenbauer. "Floating RESURF (FRESURF) LDMOSFET devices with breakthrough BVdss-Rdson (for example: 47V-0.28 mΩ. cm² or 93V-0.82 mΩ. cm²)". In: International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs. 2004, pp. 415–418 (cit. on p. 122).
- [34] J. Kojima, J. Matsuda, M. Kamiyama, N. Tsukiji, and H. Kobayashi. "Optimization and analysis of high reliability 30–50V dual RESURF LDMOS". In: 2016 13th IEEE International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated Circuit Technology (ICSICT). IEEE. 2016, pp. 392–394 (cit. on p. 122).
- [35] C. Ko, C. Cho, M. Kim, H. Jung, H. Lee, Y. Lee, M. Kim, Gu, S. K. Bang, H. G. Kim, S.K. Kang, and L. Hutter. "Implementation of fully isolated low Vgs nLDMOS with low specific on-resistance". In: 2011 IEEE 23rd International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs. IEEE. 2011, pp. 24–27 (cit. on p. 122).
- [36] T Hanajiri, M Niizato, K Aoto, T Toyabe, Y Nakajima, T Morikawa, and T Sugano. "Breakdown of a simple scaling rule of SOI MOSFETs and its prolong by thinning BOX". In: *International Semiconductor Device Research* Symposium, 2003. IEEE. 2003, pp. 260–261 (cit. on p. 123).
- [37] R. Yan, A. Ourmazd, and K. F. Lee. "Scaling the Si MOSFET: From bulk to SOI to bulk". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 39.7 (1992), pp. 1704–1710 (cit. on p. 123).

Chapter 6

Conclusions

The variations in the device architecture of a 1 μ m gate length lateral super-junction (SJ) Multi-Gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) is explored using Silvaco 3-D TCAD simulations. In an effort to optimised the SJ-MGFET, the effect of charge imbalance on the breakdown voltage of the device during off-state using two different SJ drift regions length is examined. The results show that variations along the drift region has no effect on the charge imbalance due to the fixed ratio between the cross-sectional area of the two SJ pillars. The optimised SJ-MGFET delivers a 41% increase in the drive current with an on-off ratio of 5×10^6 at a drain voltage of 10 V and a gate voltage of 20 V, thereby exhibiting a big advantage of the multi-gate device design to reduce leakage current.

In order to mitigate the effect of self-heating in the structure, a variation in the silicon-on-insulator (SOI) based design by replacing the fully deplored buried oxide (BOX) layer with a partial BOX with opening under the drain creating a thermal window is investigtaed. It has been reported that the current decrease in partially buried oxide (thermal window) architecture at a gate bias of 10 V and a drain voltage of 50 V is less than 3%, compared to about 7.5% seen in a fully deplored buried oxide design. The C-V analysis with a small signal AC response is performed with a two carrier solution. The C-V analysis has given a gate capacitance of approximately 0.01 pF with a turn-off time of approximately 1.0ns. In addition, the dependence and the non-linearity of the output and reverse capacitances on the drain bias is highlighted.

It has been reported that the simulated SJ-MGFET has a specific on-resistance of 0.21 $m\Omega$.cm² and a breakdown voltage of 65 V with a pillar height of 3.6 μ m and a drift region length of 3.5 μ m. Additionally, it has been reported that the optimised SJ-MGFET has achieved 68%, 52%, and 15% reduction in the specific onresistance compared to reported fabricated SJ-LDMOSFET, fabricated SJ-FinFET, and simulated SJ-FinFET at the same breakdown voltage rating. In conclusion, the 1 μ m gate length SJ-MGFET is capable of offering a better performance in terms of a high drive current, a maximum breakdown voltage, a minimum specific on-resistance, and excellent FoM for sub - 100 V rating applications.

In the second part of the thesis, the scaling of the device architecture of the optimised 1 μ m gate length super-junction (SJ) multi-gate MOSFET (SJ-MGFET) is investigated. The 3-D effects of transistor scaling by a factor S is carefully examined. The SJ-MGFET structure with 1.0 μ m gate length is scaled down laterally (along the y-axis) by scaling the channel length, the gate length, the gate oxide thickness, and the SJ drift unit length shrinking the gate length of 1.0 μ m to 0.5 μ m, and 0.25 μ m. The effect of charge imbalance on the breakdown voltage in the scaled devices during off-state is investigated, and reported that the avalanche capability of the scaled devices improves with a fully depleted SJ drift region.

The drive current in the scaled SJ-MGFET gate lengths of 0.5 μm and 0.25 μm increases by 30% and 63%, respectively, in comparison with the reported 1.0 μm gate length SJ-FinFET at a drain voltage of 0.1 V and a gate voltage of 15 V. The effect of electric field distribution in the scaled and optimised devices is examined. The 0.5 μm gate length device has a breakdown voltage of 48 V, which corresponds to an average lateral electric field of 27.5 $V/\mu m$ with a drift region length of 1.75 μm and the 0.25 μm gate length device exhibits a breakdown voltage of 26 V, which corresponds to an average lateral electric field of 30 $V/\mu m$ with a drift region length of 0.875 μm . The investigations have also shown that excessive channel doping in the scaled SJ-MGFETs offers no significant improvement in the device avalanche capability during charge balanced condition.

Analysis of the simulated C-V shows that the non-linearity of the output and reverse capacitances on the drain bias in the scaled and optimised devices. Gate capacitances of approximately 0.02 pF and 0.04 pF are extracted in the scaled SJ-MGFETs with a gate length of 0.5 μm , and 0.25 μm , respectively, in conformity with the scaling ratio of 0.5 : 0.25. In addition, the dependence of transconductance on the gate voltage in the three device structure is highlighted, and a maximum transconductance of 5 mS/mm, 20 mS/mm, and 56 mS/mm is extracted at a drain bias of 0.1 V in the SJ-MGFETs with a gate length of 1 μm , 0.5 μm and
0.25 μm , respectively. The performance of the three scaled devices during transient switching turn-on transient is examined at a drain bias of 10 V and a gate voltage of 10 V. The transient switching turn-on time of approximately 1.0ns, 0.2ns, 0.05ns in the SJ-MGFETs is obtained with a gate length of 1 μm , 0.5 μm , and 0.25 μm , respectively.

The simulation shows that the SJ-MGFET with the 0.5 μm gate length achieves a specific on-resistance of 7.68 $m\Omega.mm^2$ and a breakdown voltage of 48 V, and that the 0.25 μm gate length offers a low specific on-resistance of 2.24 $m\Omega.mm^2$ and a breakdown voltage of 26 V. The twofold benefits of device dimension reduction and optimised fully-depleted SJ multi-gate design are highlighted, the scaled and optimised SJ-MGFET can offer a superior performance in achieving higher levels of integration, a maximum breakdown voltage, a minimum specific on-resistance, and excellent FoM in sub - 50 V applications.